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Unlocking the potential 
of organizations and 
leaders by advancing 
the science and practice 
of management

• We support over 300,000 
business professionals in 
companies headquartered 
in more than 60 countries 
and professionals located 
in more than 110 nations.

• More than 7,000 
companies and  
more than 21,000 
senior leaders actively 
participate in our  
member networks.

• 10,000 companies  
of all sizes deploy our 
talent measurement 
solutions.

 Member Locations

  CEB Team Locations

Our Mission



A Letter from  
the Chairman

Dear CEB Shareholder:

One thing is clear as we arrive at the halfway 
point of this decade: the environment for 
business leadership is as volatile and uncertain 
as it could be. Massive data flows, new 
technologies, and evolving markets continue 
to drive operating complexity and broaden 
strategic challenges. Research from the CEB 
Strategy Leadership Council confirms: members 
are not in need of more capital, good ideas, or 
promising technologies; what they lack is the 
ability to execute, by setting great direction 
and focusing their people and organization 
to accomplish important objectives. Captured 
succinctly, one of our senior members told us 
recently, “It’s just plain hard to get stuff done 
these days.”

Our mission is to unlock the potential of 
organizations and leaders by advancing the 
science and practice of management. We are 
uniquely positioned—and make it our job—to 
identify, assess, and eliminate challenges such 
as these for our members. In particular, we 
focus on closing three performance gaps our 
members and clients wrestle with:

Insight gaps—In a world characterized by 
an explosion of information, we deliver the 
right answers about what moves the dial on 
corporate performance. 

Talent gaps—We help companies select, 
develop, and manage critical talent in a world of 
skill shortages and competitive labor markets. 

Execution gaps—We help executives effectively 
prioritize their resources, align their strategy, 
and manage their people—to get stuff done.

In 2014, focusing on these objectives allowed 
us to continue providing outstanding service 
to our existing members and clients, establish 
new customer relationships, and broaden our 
product portfolio both organically and through 

two small acquisitions. As a result, we delivered 
another year of solid financial results to 
shareholders, marked by double-digit growth in 
revenue, income, and cash flows, and we further 
strengthened our balance sheet while enhancing 
our shareholder cash distribution programs. As 
always, in executing the above and planning for 
the future, we put great energy into growing and 
developing our own talent pools.

Of course, while pleased with these outcomes, 
we are not standing still as we enter 2015. 
We are aligning our own insight, talent, and 
execution plans to ensure 2015 is an even more 
impactful year for members, shareholders, and 
CEB. To that end, we have established five key 
strategic priorities for 2015:

• Must-have insights on talent, technology, 
customers, and risk

• Powerful market touch points
• High-impact analytic and content platforms
• Compelling careers for top talent
• Brand that signals unmatched impact

1. Must-have insights on talent, technology, 
customers, and risk

We never lose sight of the revolutionary idea 
at the center of our business: by tapping 
the collective experience and workflows 
of thousands of companies, we can collect 
data and generate insights that transform 
performance. We then build tools and create 
resources that enable managers to take action. 
Ultimately, our model enables executives to do 
all of this at a fraction of the cost of other sources 
of support, which in turn yields a strong return 
on their CEB investment. This unique model for 
developing management insight remains our 
foundation for creating and delivering business 
value. And these insights ultimately power the 
advice, assessments, tools, and technology we 
use with members and clients.

Thomas L. Monahan III
Chairman and Chief 
Executive Officer
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2. Powerful market touch points

We want to be easy to do business with. Even 
as our set of offerings grows, we are working 
to ensure we present a consistent face to 
the market. Our goal is that all members 
and clients benefit not just from the specific 
products they use but also from the entire 
breadth of our expertise and relationships. 
We see huge opportunities to cross-sell more 
effectively in the near term and to integrate 
compelling new solutions in the medium term. 
To be successful, we must drive our product, 
professional services, and commercial teams 
to collaborate across boundaries more than 
ever before. 

3. High-impact analytic and content platforms

We believe that the most effective technology 
interfaces are those that help people get 
answers quickly and make something happen. 
We are working to ensure that all technology 
platforms in our business meet this standard. 
A great example of this effort is CEB 
TalentCentral™, our next generation interface 
for selection and assessment offerings. We 
also deployed Digital Experience Manager, 
our content-centric platform that provides a 
flexible foundation for future growth. In 2015, 
we will continue embedding our insights 
ever deeper into the workflow of leaders and 
professionals in the functions we serve. State-
of-the-art, intuitive interfaces backed up with 
authoritative content and powerful analytics 
are fast becoming a staple of how we influence 
members and clients. 

4. Compelling careers for top talent

We are always working to build a world-class 
CEB team. On the talent front, 2014 was a great 
year, as we enjoyed strong retention of high 
performers and added hundreds of top-tier 
people in key roles. We also further strengthened 
our diverse workforce and inclusive culture 
with special efforts to engage veterans, 
members of the LGBT community, and women 
in leadership positions. As you would expect, 
we rigorously measure talent outcomes at the 
firm, and we performed at the high end of our 
historical ranges on many last year. We are also 
updating our employment value proposition 
and approach to career management to ensure 
that all of our talent management approaches 

We have established five key strategic 
priorities for 2015:

1.  Must-have insights on talent, 
technology, customers, and risk

2. Powerful market touch points

3.  High-impact analytic and content 
platforms

4. Compelling careers for top talent

5.  Brand that signals unmatched 
impact



and systems remain on the leading edge of 
practice. Simply put, working at CEB provides 
an opportunity to do interesting work for 
important people alongside outstanding talent. 

5. Brand that signals unmatched impact

Even with our track record of sustained growth, 
our brand presence does not come near to 
matching the impact we have on our members 
and clients. We continue to work on raising 
global visibility and awareness of our brand 
by building a clear, compelling story about 
CEB and what we want to be known for in all 
of our markets. Doing so creates demand for 
our products and supports our customers as 
they bring our solutions into executive suites 
and boardrooms. We will drive efforts in this 
space by enhancing our corporate, product, 
and platform messaging; consolidating our 
larger functional summits into major events 
that showcase the breadth and reach of our 
insights and offers; and continuing to build a 
reputation for thought leadership through tier-
one publications and social media outlets. 

CEB in the Community

Our global philanthropy and volunteerism arm, 
CEB in the Community, provides structure and 
opportunities for employees to contribute to 
the communities in which we live and work. We 
echo our corporate mission in our philanthropic 
efforts, as we seek to unlock the potential of 
the social sector and its leaders by focusing 
CEB expertise to grow the capacity of nonprofit 
organizations. 

In 2014, we established aspirational global 
impact goals for our community service efforts: 

• Engage 1,000 social sector leaders.
• Deliver $2 million in value through volunteer 

service and grants.
• Provide 30,000 volunteer hours to benefit 

social sector organizations around the world.

We knew these goals were ambitious, and in 
typical CEB style, our staff rose to the occasion 
enthusiastically, exceeding each by more than 
20%. Examples of our firm-wide commitment 
to service in 2014 include closing our offices so 
that staff around the world could participate in 
our Global Impact Day; working with the Special 
Olympics to develop and deliver a weeklong 

Thomas L. Monahan III
Chairman and Chief 
Executive Officer

leadership development program; and serving 
as the title sponsor of LUNGevity’s Breathe 
Deep DC event on the National Mall to support 
lung cancer research. We were also honored to 
be recognized by The Salvation Army, Spark, 
and the Taproot Foundation for our outstanding 
volunteer and pro bono service efforts. To 
learn more about our efforts in the community, 
please access our CEB in the Community 
Impact Report at www.executiveboard.com/
exbd/community/index.page.

In Closing

We are very pleased with our strong 
performance across 2014 and are even more 
excited about the opportunity still in front of 
us. At CEB, we help close the insight, talent, 
and execution gaps that enable organizations 
and leaders to meet today’s complex and fast-
growing challenges. We remain committed to 
ensuring service excellence for our members 
and clients, creating engaging experiences 
for our talent, fostering value creation for 
our shareholders, and delivering insight and 
resource support for our communities. By 
sustaining focus on our strategic priorities, 
we will deliver on those promises in 2015 and 
beyond.

Thank you for your continued support. 
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CEB is the world’s leading member-based 
advisory company. We have a unique view 
into what matters—and what works—when 
capitalizing on drivers of business performance. 
With more than 30 years of experience working 
with top companies to share, analyze, and apply 
proven practices to solve functional and talent 
management challenges, we begin with great 
outcomes and reverse engineer to help unlock 
their full potential.

Every year we equip more than 21,000 senior 
leaders and more than 10,000 organizations 
across over 110 countries with the insights, tools, 
and actionable solutions they need to respond 
quickly to evolving business conditions and 
transform enterprise performance. We do this by 
combining our advanced research and analytics 
with best practices from members across 90%  
of the Fortune 500, nearly 75% of the Dow Jones 
Asian Titans, and more than 85% of the FTSE 100.

As a result, our clients achieve outsized returns 
by more effectively managing talent, information, 
customers, and risk.

About CEB

“I talk about CEB as a leader in strategic 
thinking…a leader that works with 
companies internationally…[and] that 
brings parties from across the US and, 
at times, around the world together and 
facilitates and leads discussions. It’s a 
company that rolls up its sleeves and 
works closely with clients [and] members 
in terms of issues, concerns, or problems 
they may be having and has the research 
to back up what it says. [CEB] really is 
staffed with some of the smartest people 
when we talk about industry specifics.”

Member 
We Energies
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“The main reason I personally use CEB 
is for its thought leadership. If I need to 
research any practice development or 
insights around best practices, CEB is a 
first point of call for me.”

Member 
First National Bank (South Africa)

“The biggest challenge facing any business 
globally is the ability to attract and retain 
talent. Talent is the new capital we’re all 
searching for. It’s important we have a 
unique value proposition, and for the first 
time, we’re trying to articulate it and do 
that well. We owe that to the work we 
have done together with CEB.”

Member 
Brussels Worldwide Services BVBA 
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Today’s economic environment does not reward 
wasted effort. That’s why all of our offerings are 
designed to deliver tangible business returns 
over both the short and long term. We enable 
businesses to harness peer perspectives and 
tap into breakthrough innovation without costly 
consulting or reinvention, equipping them to 
take on today’s critical issues and realize greater 
business performance in distinct ways:

Turning Insight into Action

We provide a set of Leadership Council 
memberships that help innovative leaders 
optimize the performance of their function—
and business. Our Leadership Councils help 
organizations take actionable insights from 
the best companies to save time and make 
better decisions.

Bringing Precision to Talent Management

We enable more precise talent management 
by delivering insights and solutions that drive 
business performance. Our talent management 
solutions address a full range of needs, enabling 
organizations to more effectively and efficiently 
plan, recruit, assess, develop, engage, and, 
ultimately, perform.

Achieving  
Impact
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Thirty years ago, we realized that the most 
pressing challenges facing business leaders 
everywhere had often already been addressed—
or were being solved—by other executives. That 
remains true today and is at the core of our 
business.

CEB offers more than 50 different memberships 
aligned to functional and key industry leadership 
roles. Our membership model is based on 
intelligently sourced insights and tools from a 
world-class member network, selected without 
bias, and proven effective through a research 
methodology grounded in intensive quantitative 
analysis.

Memberships are offered through an annual 
subscription and include: 

• Proven best practices from 10,000 leading 
organizations 

• Rigorous research
• Advisory support
• Peer benchmarks
• Decision and diagnostic tools
• Executive networking with more than 21,000 

leading executives
• Live and online information sessions

Leadership Councils 

At the core of our membership programs are 
Leadership Councils through which we convene 
and provide support for decision makers in:

• Finance
• Financial Services
• Government
• Human Resources
• Information Technology
• Innovation & Strategy
• Legal, Risk & Compliance
• Marketing & Communications
• Procurement & Operations
• Sales & Service

Market Insights

Our specialized market insights services 
address the unique insight and analytics needs 
of leaders in areas such as Sales, Marketing, IT, 
Compliance, and Financial Services. Included 
among these offerings are our industry-leading 
CEB Iconoculture™ Consumer Insights and CEB 
TowerGroup™ offerings.

Transforming 
Performance

Addressing Insight Gaps
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“Several years ago we asked ourselves, ‘How can we provide 
differentiated value to our customers?’ Being the first place people 
turn to for home emergencies and repairs, we knew the most 
important thing to our customers was to get them back to where 
they were before as quickly and easily as possible. 

When we came across CEB and The Effortless Experience book, it 
all fell into place. Their research confirmed many of the suspicions 
we already had about the ineffectiveness of traditional or ‘delight’-
driven customer service strategies when it comes to driving loyalty.

For HomeServe, customer loyalty is strongly and positively linked 
to effort. The data from a recent study showed a double-digit 
improvement on the renewal rate of contracts with a low-effort 
experience versus high-effort experience.”

Thomas Rebel 
Customer Director for CS&S 
HomeServe

An Example Built from Our Insights: Making Customer Service Easy

Our recently published book, The Effortless Experience, uses insights from 
the CEB Customer Contact Leadership Council to prove that customer 
loyalty does not rely on a spectacular service experience but on how well 
a company fulfills its basic promises and how easily its customers can 
resolve day-to-day problems.

We’ve shared our findings with Fortune 1000 businesses around the 
world and presented them at major events, including Dreamforce and 
the ICMI Contact Center Expo & Conference—the largest event for the 
contact center industry. Now we are building an entire suite of products 
and solutions from these findings.

For example, more than 80 companies have already adopted the CEB 
Effortless Experience™ Dashboard, and some have saved as much as $1.7 
million through reduced call volumes. In 2015, we will expand our talent 
management support with solutions designed to boost rep performance 
by improving supervisor coaching and building low-effort service skills.
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The difference between good and great 
companies is having the right people in the 
right roles. In fact, organizations with a strong 
leadership bench grow year-over-year profit 
twice as fast as competitors with a weak bench. 
To help companies achieve top talent outcomes, 
we’ve combined best practices and benchmark 
data from our Leadership Council research with 
our Talent Management solutions grounded in 
rigorous science. The result is a distinctive set 
of talent management products and services 
that enable precise insights and comprehensive 
solutions for driving specific strategic objectives. 
Our offerings help companies at every stage of 
talent management:

Plan 

With our cloud-based talent analytics software 
solutions, companies reduce the business risks 
that can result from talent planning decisions 
and “scrap learning.” CEB TalentNeuron 
provides talent supply-demand and cost data, 
predictive analytics, and decision support to 
improve talent investments and deployment 
decisions. CEB Metrics That Matter™ provides 
external benchmarking and insights to measure 
and improve the business impact of talent 
development programs.

Recruit

Our SHL Talent MeasurementTM offerings include 
assessment solutions used by leading companies 
around the world to help recruiters and hiring 
managers predict hiring success. We’re also 
reinventing recruiting with talent acquisition 
solutions that transform recruiter capabilities, 
leverage talent analytics, and improve new hire 
performance.

Assess

Our SHL Talent Measurement offerings extend 
beyond helping companies achieve hiring success 
to maximizing post-hire leadership impact, 
unlocking talent potential, and harnessing team 
effectiveness.

Develop

Our Leadership Academies offer dynamic learn-
ing experiences that build key competencies 
in management professionals to shift them 
from functional operators to strategic business 
contributors.

Engage

Our Workforce Surveys help drive business 
outcomes by keeping employees committed 
and productive. Our services include strategy-
specific workforce analytics, total rewards 
optimization, and social network analysis. 

Perform

Our Performance Impact Solutions include 
performance management and development 
strategy audit, redesign, and change manage-
ment to improve efficiency, satisfaction, and 
outcomes.

Transforming 
Performance

Addressing Talent Gaps
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“I like that CEB TalentNeuron is a dynamic tool 
that moves with the market. TalentNeuron 
helps us not only make better decisions on 
location and talent but also validate those 
decisions over time.”

Vice President, Talent Planning
Global Software Company

An Example Built from Our Insights:  
Findings Fit for the White House

Imagine knowing exactly where the best talent 
thrives—and where it doesn’t. CEB TalentNeuron, 
our online planning solution, has turned this idea 
into reality by providing big data and analytics 
that inform workforce strategy. 

In 2014, we used the TalentNeuron application 
to comprehensively research the availability of 
IT employment across all industry sectors. Our 
analysis covered 900 cities, 100 countries, and 
1,000 skills, and the results were surprising: 
the United States is the global leader in IT job 
creation, but IT demand is growing in unexpected 
regions outside of Silicon Valley, such as Phoenix, 
Denver, and Oklahoma City. 

In fact, the findings sparked high-profile 
attention and informed a number of corporate 
and government planning initiatives. The White 
House cited the research in its Ready to Work 
initiative, and the analysis was also presented to 
state governing bodies, including the National 
Governor’s Association.
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2010 20102011 20112012 20122013 20132014 2014

Adjusted EBITDA Margin1 Non-GAAP Earnings 
per Diluted Share1

Adjusted Revenue1

In Millions of US Dollars
Adjusted Net Income1

In Millions of US Dollars

2010 20102011 2011

$432

25.5%

$1.70$58.8

2012 2012

$485

24.9%

$1.87$64.3

2013 2013

$640

27.2%

$2.55$86.2

2014 2014

$830
$915 24.8%

26.0%

$3.10

$3.60

$105.4

$122.6

1 Adjusted presentations are not prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 
(GAAP). See p. 16–17 for a reconciliation of GAAP to adjusted presentations.

Financial 
Results
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table sets forth selected financial and operating data. The selected financial data presented below has been de-
rived from our consolidated financial statements which have been audited by our independent registered public accounting 
firm. You should read the selected financial data presented below in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements, 
the notes to our consolidated financial statements, and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and 
Results of Operations.” 

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012 (1) 2011 2010

Consolidated Statements of Operations Data (In thousands, except per-share amounts)

Revenue   

 CEB segment ................................................................................................................... $ 701,573 $ 634,302  $ 564,062  $ 484,663  $ 432,431

 SHL Talent Measurement segment .......................................................................... 207,401 185,751 58,592 — —

  Total revenue ................................................................................................................. 908,974   820,053   622,654   484,663   432,431

Operating profit (loss)

 CEB segment (2) ............................................................................................................ 98,108   103,322   97,013   96,485   82,974

 SHL Talent Measurement segment .......................................................................... (4,463)   (12,609)   (12,345 )   —    — 

  Total operating profit ................................................................................................. 93,645   90,713   84,668   96,485   82,974

Other (expense) income, net  

 Interest income and other ...........................................................................................  10,030   (998)   1,834   372   3,140

 Interest expense ..............................................................................................................  (18,410)   (22,586)   (11,882)   (550 )   — 

 Gain on cost method investment .............................................................................  6,585   —   —    —    — 

 Debt extinguishment costs .........................................................................................  —   (6,691)   —    —    — 

  Total other (expense) income, net ........................................................................  (1,795)   (30,275)   (10,048)   (178)   3,140

Income from continuing operations before provision for income taxes .....  91,850   60,438   74,620   96,307   86,114

Provision for income taxes ............................................................................................  40,678   28,467   37,569   38,860   34,015

Income from continuing operations ..........................................................................  51,172   31,971   37,051   57,447   52,099 

Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax (3) .............................................. —    —   —   (4,792)   (11,736)

Net income .......................................................................................................................... $ 51,172  $ 31,971  $ 37,051  $ 52,655  $ 40,363 

Basic earnings (loss) per share .................................................................................... $ 1.52  $ 0.95  $ 1.11  $ 1.55  $ 1.18 

 Continuing operations .................................................................................................. 1.52   0.95   1.11   1.69   1.52 

 Discontinued operations.............................................................................................. —    —   —   (0.14)   (0.34)

Diluted earnings (loss) per share ................................................................................ $ 1.50  $ 0.94  $ 1.10  $ 1.53  $ 1.17 

 Continuing operations .................................................................................................. 1.50   0.94   1.10   1.67   1.51 

 Discontinued operations.............................................................................................. —    —   —   (0.14)   (0.34)

Weighted average shares outstanding  

 Basic ....................................................................................................................................  33,666   33,543   33,462   34,071   34,256 

 Diluted ................................................................................................................................ 34,039   33,943   33,821   34,419   34,553 

Cash dividends declared and paid per common share ...................................... $ 1.05  $ 0.90  $ 0.70  $ 0.60  $ 0.44 

 December 31,

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data (In thousands)

Cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities ....................................... $ 114,934  $ 119,554  $ 72,699  $ 143,945  $ 123,462

Total assets ..........................................................................................................................  1,357,384   1,383,675   1,322,249   533,692   510,149

Deferred revenue ..............................................................................................................  452,679   416,367   365,747   284,935   251,200

Debt—long term ................................................................................................................  490,287   505,554   528,280    —    — 

Total stockholders’ equity .............................................................................................. $ 86,137  $ 139,742  $ 115,502  $ 79,564  $ 82,816

 December 31,

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Non-GAAP Financial Measures (4) (In thousands)

Adjusted revenue .............................................................................................................. $ 914,980  $ 829,967  $ 639,788  $ 484,663  $ 432,431 

Adjusted EBITDA .............................................................................................................. $ 237,729  $ 206,091  $ 174,189  $ 120,757  $ 110,058 

Adjusted EBITDA margin ............................................................................................... 26.0%   24.8%   27.2%   24.9%   25.5% 

Adjusted net income ........................................................................................................ $ 122,640  $ 105,383  $ 86,153  $ 64,317  $ 58,772 

Non-GAAP diluted earnings per share ..................................................................... $ 3.60  $ 3.10  $ 2.55  $ 1.87  $ 1.70 
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 December 31,

 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Other Operating Statistics (Unaudited)
CEB segment Contract Value (in thousands) (5) ................................................. $ 683,451  $ 610,830  $ 561,823  $ 499,424  $ 447,051 

CEB segment member institutions ............................................................................  7,056   6,418   5,957   5,630   5,162 

CEB segment Contract Value per member institution (6) ................................ $ 96,702  $ 95,078  $ 94,200  $ 88,594  $ 86,442 

CEB segment Wallet retention rate (7) ....................................................................  99%   97%   102%   100%   101% 

SHL Talent Measurement segment Wallet retention rate (8) .......................... 103%   101 %   97 %   —    —  

(1) The Company acquired 100% of the equity interests of SHL Group Holdings 1 on August 2, 2012. 

(2) Includes a $39.7 million and $22.6 million impairment loss for PDRI in 2014 and 2013, respectively. 

(3) Loss from discontinued operations includes the operating results for Toolbox.com which was sold in December 2011. 

(4) See “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” below.

(5) We define “CEB segment Contract Value,” at the end of the quarter, as the aggregate annualized revenue attributed to 
all agreements in effect on such date, without regard to the remaining duration of any such agreement. CEB segment 
Contract Value does not include the impact of PDRI.

(6) We define “CEB segment member institutions,” at the end of the quarter, as member institutions with Contract Value in 
excess of $10,000. The same definition is applied to “CEB segment Contract Value per member institution.”

(7) We define “CEB segment Wallet retention rate,” at the end of the quarter, as the total current year CEB segment Contract 
Value from prior year members as a percentage of the total prior year segment Contract Value. The CEB segment Wallet 
retention rate does not include the impact of PDRI.

(8) We define “SHL Talent Measurement segment Wallet retention rate,” at the end of the quarter on a constant currency 
basis, as the last current 12 months of total SHL Talent Measurement segment Adjusted revenue from prior year custom-
ers as a percentage of the prior 12 months of total SHL Talent Measurement segment Adjusted revenue.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

This Annual Report includes a discussion of Adjusted revenue, Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA margin, Adjusted net 
income, Non-GAAP diluted earnings per share, and constant currency financial information, all of which are non-GAAP 
financial measures provided as a complement to the results provided in accordance with accounting principles generally ac-
cepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). 

The term “Adjusted revenue” refers to revenue before impact of the reduction of SHL and Metrics That Matter revenue rec-
ognized in the post-acquisition period to reflect the adjustment of deferred revenue at the acquisition dates to fair value (the 
“deferred revenue fair value adjustment”). 

The term “Adjusted EBITDA” refers to net income before loss from discontinued operations, net of provision for income 
taxes; provision for income taxes; interest expense (income), net; gain on cost method investment; debt extinguishment costs; 
depreciation and amortization; the impact of the deferred revenue fair value adjustment; acquisition related costs; impair-
ment loss; restructuring costs; share-based compensation; costs associated with exit activities; and gain on acquisition. 

The term “Adjusted EBITDA margin” refers to Adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of Adjusted revenue. 

The term “Adjusted net income” refers to net income before loss from discontinued operations, net of provision for income 
taxes and excludes the after tax effects of the impact of the deferred revenue fair value adjustment; acquisition related costs; 
impairment loss; gain on cost method investment; restructuring costs; debt extinguishment costs; share-based compensation; 
amortization of acquisition related intangibles; costs associated with exit activities; and gain on acquisition. 

“Non-GAAP diluted earnings per Share” refers to diluted earnings per share before the per share effect of loss from discon-
tinued operations, net of provision for income taxes and excludes the after tax per share effects of the impact of the deferred 
revenue fair value adjustment; acquisition related costs; impairment loss; gain on cost method investment; restructuring 
costs; debt extinguishment costs; share-based compensation; amortization of acquisition related intangibles; costs associated 
with exit activities; and gain on acquisition. 

We believe that these non-GAAP financial measures are relevant and useful supplemental information for evaluating our 
results of operations as compared from period to period and as compared to our competitors. We use these non-GAAP finan-
cial measures for internal budgeting and other managerial purposes, including comparison against our competitors, when 
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publicly providing our business outlook, and as a measurement for potential acquisitions. These non-GAAP financial mea-
sures are not defined in the same manner by all companies and therefore may not be comparable to other similar titled mea-
sures used by other companies. 

Our non-GAAP financial measures reflect adjustments based on the following items, as well as the related income tax effects: 
 ■ Certain business combination accounting entries and expenses related to acquisitions: We have adjusted for 

the impact of the deferred revenue fair value adjustment, amortization of acquisition related intangibles, and 
acquisition related costs. We incur transaction and certain other operating expenses in connection with our 
acquisitions which we generally would not have otherwise incurred in the periods presented as a part of our 
continuing operations. We believe that excluding these acquisition related items from our non-GAAP financial 
measures provides useful supplemental information to our investors and is important in illustrating what our 
core operating results would have been had we not incurred these acquisition related items since the nature, 
size, and number of acquisitions can vary from period to period. 

 ■ Share-based compensation: Although share-based compensation is a key incentive offered to our employees, 
we evaluate our operating results excluding such expense. Accordingly, we exclude share-based compensation 
from our non-GAAP financial measures because we believe it provides valuable supplemental information 
that helps investors have a more complete understanding of our operating results. In addition, we believe the 
exclusion of this expense facilitates the ability of our investors to compare our operating results with those of 
other peer companies, many of which also exclude such expense in determining their non-GAAP measures, 
given varying valuation methodologies, subjective assumptions, and the variety and amount of award types 
that may be utilized. 

 ■ Impairment loss, gain on cost method investment, restructuring costs, and debt extinguishment costs: We 
believe that excluding these items from our non-GAAP financial measures provides useful supplemental in-
formation to our investors and is important in illustrating what our core operating results would have been 
had we not incurred these items. We exclude these items because management does not believe they correlate 
to the ongoing operating results of the business. 

CEB is a global company that reports financial information in US dollars. Foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations affect 
the amounts reported from translating its foreign revenues and expenses into US dollars. These rate fluctuations can have a 
significant effect on our reported operating results. As a supplement to our reported operating results, we present constant 
currency financial information, which is a non-GAAP financial measure. We use constant currency financial information to 
provide a framework to assess how our business performed excluding the effects of changes in foreign currency translation 
rates. Management believes this information is useful to investors to facilitate comparison of operating results and better 
identify trends in our businesses. To calculate Adjusted revenue on a constant currency basis, Adjusted revenue in the current 
year for amounts recorded in currencies other than the US dollars is translated into US dollars at the average exchange rates 
in effect during the prior year (rather than the actual exchange rates in effect during the current year). To calculate Adjusted 
EBITDA on a constant currency basis, Adjusted EBITDA in the current year for amounts recorded in currencies other than 
the US dollars is translated into US dollars at the average exchange rates in effect during the prior year (rather than the actual 
exchange rates in effect during the current year). In addition, Adjusted EBITDA on a constant currency basis excludes the 
net-non-operating foreign currency gains (losses) included in Other (expense) income, net. 

These non-GAAP measures may be considered in addition to results prepared in accordance with GAAP, but they should 
not be considered a substitute for, or superior to, GAAP results. We intend to continue to provide these non-GAAP financial 
measures as part of our future earnings discussions and, therefore, the inclusion of these non-GAAP financial measures will 
provide consistency in our financial reporting. 

A reconciliation of these non-GAAP measures to the most directly comparable GAAP measure is provided below (in thou-
sands, except per-share amounts): 

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Adjusted Revenue
Revenue ............................................................................................................................... $ 908,974  $ 820,053  $ 622,654  $ 484,663  $ 432,431 

Impact of the deferred revenue fair value adjustment ......................................  6,006   9,914    17,134    —    —  

Adjusted revenue ............................................................................................................. $ 914,980  $ 829,967  $ 639,788  $ 484,663  $ 432,431 
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Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Adjusted EBITDA
Net income ......................................................................................................................... $ 51,172  $ 31,971  $ 37,051  $ 52,655  $ 40,363 

Loss from discontinued operations, net of provision for income taxes ......  —    —   —   4,792   11,736 

Income from continuing operations .........................................................................  51,172   31,971   37,051   57,447   52,099 

Provision for income taxes ...........................................................................................  40,678   28,467   37,569   38,860   34,015 

Interest expense (income), net ...................................................................................  18,046   22,337   10,834   (596)   (1,526) 

Gain on cost method investment ...............................................................................  (6,585)   —   —   —   — 

Debt extinguishment costs ..........................................................................................  —   6,691   —    —    —  

Depreciation and amortization ...................................................................................  68,286   60,087   37,858   16,928   18,039 

Impact of the deferred revenue fair value adjustment ...................................... 6,006   9,914   17,134   —   —

Acquisition related costs ............................................................................................... 2,964   11,477   24,529   —   — 

Impairment loss ................................................................................................................ 39,700   22,600   —    —   —

Restructuring costs .........................................................................................................  1,830   —    —    —   —  

Share-based compensation ......................................................................................... 15,632 12,547 9,214 8,118 7,431

Adjusted EBITDA ............................................................................................................. $ 237,729  $ 206,091  $ 174,189  $ 120,757  $ 110,058 

Adjusted EBITDA Margin ..............................................................................................  26.0%   24.8%   27.2%   24.9%   25.5%

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Adjusted Net Income     

Net income ......................................................................................................................... $ 51,172  $ 31,971  $ 37,051  $ 52,655  $ 40,363 

Loss from discontinued operations, net of provision for income taxes ......  —    —   —   4,792   11,736 

Income from continuing operations .........................................................................  51,172   31,971    37,051   57,447   52,099 

Impact of the deferred revenue fair value adjustment (1) ................................ 3,964   7,193   12,474   —    — 

Acquisition related costs (1)......................................................................................... 1,856   7,500   18,427   —    — 

Impairment loss (2) ......................................................................................................... 31,386   22,600   —   —   —

Gain on cost method investment (1) ........................................................................ (3,944)   —   —   —   —

Restructuring costs (1) ...................................................................................................  1,167   —    —    —   —  

Debt extinguishment costs (1) ....................................................................................  —    4,001   —    —   — 

Share-based compensation (1) ...................................................................................  9,719   7,765    5,587   4,839   4,496 

Amortization of acquisition related intangibles (1)............................................. 27,320 24,353 12,614 2,031 2,177

Adjusted net income ....................................................................................................... $ 122,640  $ 105,383  $ 86,153  $ 64,317  $ 58,772 

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Non-GAAP Diluted Earnings per Share     

Diluted earnings per share ........................................................................................... $ 1.50  $ 0.94  $ 1.10  $ 1.53  $ 1.17 

Loss from discontinued operations, net of provision for income taxes ......  —    —   —   0.14   0.34 

Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations ...................................  1.50   0.94   1.10   1.67   1.51 

Impact of the deferred revenue fair value adjustment (1) ................................ 0.12   0.21   0.37   —    — 

Acquisition related costs (1)......................................................................................... 0.05   0.22   0.54   —    — 

Impairment loss (2) ......................................................................................................... 0.92   0.66   —   —   —

Gain on cost method investment (1) ........................................................................  (0.12)   —   —   —   — 

Restructuring costs (1) ................................................................................................... 0.04   —    —    —   — 

Debt extinguishment costs (1) ....................................................................................  —    0.12    —    —   — 

Share-based compensation (1) ...................................................................................  0.29   0.23    0.16   0.14   0.13 

Amortization of acquisition related intangibles (1).............................................  0.80   0.72   0.38   0.06   0.06 

Non-GAAP diluted earnings per share (1) .............................................................. $ 3.60  $ 3.10  $ 2.55  $ 1.87  $ 1.70 

(1) Adjustments are net of the annual estimated income tax effect using statutory rates based on the relative amounts al-
located to each jurisdiction in the applicable period. The following income tax rates were used: 34% in 2014 and 27% in 
2013 and 2012 for the deferred revenue fair value adjustment; 37% in 2014, 34% in 2013, and 25% in 2012 for acquisition 
related costs; 40% in 2014 for the gain on cost method investment; 36% in 2014 for restructuring costs; 40% in 2013 for 
debt extinguishment costs; 38% in 2014 and 2013, 39% in 2012, and 40% in 2011 and 2010 for share-based compensation; 
and 30% in 2014 and 2013, 31% in 2012, 40% in 2011, and 41% in 2010 for amortization of acquisition related intangibles. 
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(2) The $39.7 million impairment loss associated with PDRI’s goodwill and intangible assets recognized in the second quar-
ter of 2014 and the $22.6 million goodwill impairment loss associated with PDRI’s goodwill recognized in the third quar-
ter of 2013 were not deductible for income tax purposes. 

Constant Currency
Year Ended  

December 31, 2014

Adjusted revenue .................................................................................................................................................................................................. $ 914,980 

Currency exchange rate fluctuations ............................................................................................................................................................  3,275

Constant currency Adjusted revenue ............................................................................................................................................................ $ 918,255

Year Ended  
December 31, 2014

Adjusted EBITDA .................................................................................................................................................................................................. $ 237,729 

Currency exchange rate fluctuations ............................................................................................................................................................ 5,512

Net non-operating foreign currency gains ..................................................................................................................................................  (8,642)

Constant currency Adjusted EBITDA ............................................................................................................................................................ $ 234,599
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND 
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis of our consolidated financial condition and results of operations should be read in con-
junction with “Selected Financial Data” and our audited annual consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto 
included elsewhere in this Annual Report. The following discussion includes forward-looking statements that involve cer-
tain risks and uncertainties. For additional information regarding forward-looking statements and risk factors, see Forward-
Looking Statements.

In the accompanying analysis of financial information, we sometimes use information derived from consolidated financial 
information but not presented in our financial statements prepared in accordance with US GAAP. Certain of these data are 
considered “Non-GAAP financial measures.” For such measures, we have provided supplemental explanations and reconcili-
ations in “Selected Financial Data” under the heading “Non-GAAP Financial Measures.” 

Business Overview

We are a leading member-based advisory company that equips senior executives and their teams with insight and actionable 
solutions to drive corporate performance. Our mission is to unlock the potential of organizations and leaders by advancing 
the science and practice of management. We do this by combining our advanced research and analytics with best practices 
of thousands of member companies with our proprietary research methodologies, benchmarking assets, and human capital 
analytics. 

We operate through two reporting segments. The CEB segment includes the legacy CEB products and services provided to 
senior executives and their teams; PDRI, a subsidiary acquired as part of the 2012 acquisition of SHL; and our 2014 acqui-
sitions, KnowledgeAdvisors, Inc. (referred to as “Metrics That Matter”) and the Talent Neuron platform. PDRI provides 
customized personnel assessment tools and services to various agencies of the US government and also to commercial enter-
prises. The SHL Talent Measurement segment provides cloud-based solutions for talent assessment, development, strategy 
and analytics; decision support; as well as professional services to support those solutions. 

CEB Segment

The CEB segment helps senior executives and their teams drive corporate performance by identifying and building on the 
proven best practices of the world’s best companies. We primarily deliver our products and services to a global client base 
through annual, fixed-fee membership subscriptions. Billings attributable to memberships for our CEB products and services 
initially are recorded as deferred revenue and then generally are recognized on a pro-rata basis over the membership contract 
term, which typically is 12 months. Generally, a member may request a refund of its membership fee during the membership 
term under our service guarantee. Refunds are provided from the date of the refund request on a pro-rata basis relative to the 
remaining term of the membership. 

Our membership subscriptions include continuous access to comprehensive data analysis, research, and advisory services 
that align to executive leadership roles and key recurring decisions. To fully support our members, our products and services 
are offered across a wide range of industries and focus on several key corporate functions including: Human Resources; 
Finance; Innovation and Strategy; Legal, Risk and Compliance; Marketing and Communications; Sales and Service; and 
Information Technology. In addition to these corporate functions, the CEB segment serves operational business leaders in 
the financial services industry and government agencies through insights, tools, and peer collaboration designed to drive ef-
fective executive decision making. 

The CEB segment also offers professional services to Human Resources and Sales executives. Human Resource based pro-
fessional services address the entire employee life cycle, helping executives improve business performance by realizing the 
value and potential of their people. Sales based professional services assist our member companies with changing the way 
they engage customers to ensure greater success through sales management training, sales staff development and organiza-
tional alignment. The term of professional services engagements varies based on the depth of the service purchased and the 
size of the member organization. 

SHL Talent Measurement Segment 

The SHL Talent Measurement segment represents the acquired SHL business, excluding PDRI, and is a global provider 
of cloud-based solutions for talent assessment, talent development, and talent strategy and analytics, decision support, as 
well as professional services to support these solutions, enabling client access to data, analytics, and insights for assessing 
and managing employees and applicants. SHL Talent Measurement primarily delivers assessments, consulting and training 
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services. Assessment services are available online through metered and subscription arrangements. Consulting services are 
generally provided to customize assessment services and face to face assessments, delivered for a fixed fee. Training services 
consist of either bespoke or public courses related to use of assessments. 

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of our consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the re-
ported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses, fair value measures, and related disclosures of assets and liabili-
ties. Accounting estimates and assumptions discussed in this section do not reflect a comprehensive list of all of our account-
ing policies, but are those that we consider to be the most critical to an understanding of our financial statements because 
they involve significant judgments and uncertainties. As a result, they are subject to an inherent degree of uncertainty. Many 
of these estimates include determining fair value. All of these estimates reflect our best judgment about current, and for some 
estimates future, economic and market conditions and their effects based on information available as of the date of prepara-
tion of such financial statements. If these conditions change from those expected, it is reasonably possible that the judgments 
and estimates that were made in connection with the preparation of our financial statements could change, which may result 
in future impairments of goodwill, intangible and long-lived assets, establishment of valuation allowances on deferred tax 
assets and increased tax liabilities, among other effects. For a more detailed discussion of the application of these and other 
accounting policies, see Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements. Our critical accounting policies include: 

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized when (1) there is persuasive evidence of an arrangement, (2) the fee is fixed and determinable, (3) 
services have been rendered and payment has been contractually earned, and (4) collectability is reasonably assured. Certain 
fees are billed on an installment basis. 

When service offerings include multiple deliverables that qualify as separate units of accounting, we allocate arrangement 
consideration at the inception of the contract period to all deliverables based on the relative selling price method in accor-
dance with the selling price hierarchy, which includes vendor specific objective evidence (“VSOE”) if available; third-party 
evidence (“TPE”) if VSOE is not available; or best estimate of selling price (“BESP”) if neither VSOE nor TPE is available. 

 ■ VSOE. We determine VSOE based on established pricing and discounting practices for the specific service 
when sold separately. In determining VSOE, we require that a substantial majority of the selling prices for 
these services fall within a reasonably narrow pricing range. We limit our assessment of VSOE for each ele-
ment to either the price charged when the same element is sold separately, or the price established by manage-
ment having the relevant authority to do so for an element not yet sold separately. 

 ■ TPE. When VSOE cannot be established for deliverables in multiple element arrangements, we apply judg-
ment with respect to whether a selling price can be established based on TPE, which is determined based on 
competitor prices for similar offerings when sold separately. Generally, our services contain a significant level 
of differentiation such that the comparable pricing of services with similar functionality cannot be obtained. 
Furthermore, we are unable to reliably determine what similar competitors’ selling prices are for similar offer-
ings on a stand-alone basis. As a result, we generally have not been able to establish selling price based on TPE. 

 ■ BESP. When unable to establish a selling price using VSOE or TPE, BESP is used in our allocation of arrange-
ment consideration. The objective of BESP is to determine the price at which we would transact a sale if the 
product or service were sold on a stand-alone basis. BESP is determined for deliverables by considering mul-
tiple factors including, but not limited to, prices charged for similar offerings, market conditions, competitive 
landscape, and pricing practices. BESP is the measure used to allocate arrangement consideration for the 
majority of multiple deliverable arrangements. 

Our CEB segment generates the majority of its revenue from four primary service offerings: executive memberships, pro-
fessional services, executive education, and services provided to the US government and its agencies by PDRI. Revenue is 
recognized as follows: 

 ■ Executive membership revenue is primarily recognized on a ratable basis over the membership period, which 
is typically twelve months. In general, the majority of the deliverables within our memberships are consistent-
ly available throughout the membership period. Membership fees are billable, and revenue recognition begins, 
when a member agrees to the terms of the membership. The fees receivable and the related deferred revenue 
are recorded upon the commencement of the agreement or collection of fees, if earlier. In some instances, a 
membership may include a service that is available only once, or on a limited basis, during the membership 
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period. These services are separated from the remainder of the membership and arrangement consideration 
is allocated based principally on BESP. The consideration allocated to services available only once or on a 
limited basis is recognized as revenue upon the earlier of the delivery of the service or the completion of the 
contract period, provided that all other criteria for recognition have been met. The arrangement consideration 
allocated to the remainder of the membership services continues to be recognized ratably. 

 ■ Professional services revenue in the Human Resources sector is generally recognized ratably from the date 
services begin, which is primarily after the design of the service outputs, through the completion of the servic-
es. Professional services in the Sales sector is generally comprised of multiple element arrangements whereby 
arrangement consideration is allocated based principally on BESP and revenue for each unit of accounting is 
generally recognized as services are completed. 

 ■ Executive education revenue is recognized as services are completed. The service offering generally includes 
one or more classroom-based training or presentation events. If more than one delivery date is evident, ar-
rangement consideration is allocated on a pro-rata basis and revenue is recognized on the delivery date of each 
event. 

 ■ PDRI’s primary customer is the US government and its agencies. Additionally, PDRI is expanding into the com-
mercial market and is a subcontractor to other companies supporting the US government. Agreements with 
customers are: fixed firm price (“FFP”), time and material (“T&M”), license or FFP level of effort. Revenue 
from FFP projects is recognized based on costs incurred compared to estimated costs at completion, result-
ing in percentage complete of the total contract value. Revenue on T&M projects is recognized based on total 
number of hours by labor category and negotiated contract rate plus any additional other direct costs. Revenue 
for licenses or subscriptions of IT products or platforms is recognized proportionately over the license period. 
For FFP level of effort projects, revenue is based on negotiated fixed rates of labor or deliverables, not to 
exceed the total contract FFP value. When customer orders represent multiple element arrangements, consid-
eration is allocated to units of accounting based on BESP. 

Our SHL Talent Measurement segment generates the majority of its revenue from the sale of access to its cloud based as-
sessment platforms. Access to the platforms is either sold as a subscription basis or for a set number of assessments. SHL 
also provides consulting services including fully outsourced assessment services. The SHL segment allocates arrangement 
consideration to the appropriate units of accounting based on BESP when sales to customers qualify as multiple element ar-
rangements. Revenue is recognized as follows: 

 ■ Revenue from subscription contracts is recognized ratably over the life of the contract. Revenue from agree-
ments with a specified number of assessments is recognized upon usage, irrespective of whether the units are 
billed in advance or arrears. 

 ■ Consulting arrangements generally include a measured amount of consulting effort to be performed. Revenue 
is recognized on a proportional performance basis based upon the level of effort completed through the end 
of each accounting period. 

 ■ Training revenue is recognized upon delivery. 
 ■ Outsourced assessment revenue from assessment projects is recognized as services are completed. 

Business Combinations

We record acquisitions using the acquisition method of accounting. All of the assets acquired, liabilities assumed, contractual 
contingencies, and contingent consideration, when applicable, are recorded at their fair value at the acquisition date. The 
application of the acquisition method of accounting requires management to make significant estimates and assumptions in 
the determination of the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in order to properly allocate purchase price con-
sideration. These estimates are inherently uncertain. In addition, unanticipated events and circumstances may occur which 
may affect the accuracy or validity of such estimates. 

Income Taxes

Accounting for income taxes requires significant judgments in the development of estimates used in income tax calculations. 
Such judgments include, but are not limited to, the likelihood we would realize the benefits of net operating loss carryfor-
wards and/or income tax credit carryforwards, the adequacy of valuation allowances, and the rates used to measure transac-
tions with foreign subsidiaries. As part of the process of preparing our consolidated financial statements, we estimate our 
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income taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which we operate. The judgments and estimates used are subject to challenge by 
domestic and foreign taxing authorities. 

As part of our process of determining current tax liability, we exercise judgment in evaluating positions we have taken in 
our tax returns based on their technical merits. We periodically assess our tax exposures and establish, or adjust, estimated 
unrecognized benefits for probable assessments by taxing authorities, including the IRS, and various foreign and state au-
thorities. Such unrecognized tax benefits represent the estimated provision for income taxes expected to ultimately be paid. 
It is possible that either domestic or foreign taxing authorities could challenge those judgments or positions and draw conclu-
sions that would cause us to incur tax liabilities in excess of, or realize benefits less than, those currently recorded. 

To the extent recovery of deferred tax assets is not more likely than not, we record a valuation allowance to reduce our de-
ferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely than not to be realized. Although we have considered future taxable income 
along with prudent and feasible tax planning strategies in assessing the need for a valuation allowance, if we should deter-
mine that we would not be able to realize all or part of our deferred tax assets in the future, an adjustment to deferred tax 
assets would be charged to income tax expense in the period any such determination was made. Likewise, in the event we are 
able to realize our deferred tax assets in the future in excess of the net recorded amount, an adjustment to deferred tax assets 
would decrease our income tax expense in the period any such determination was made. 

We do not record a US deferred tax liability for the excess of the book basis over the tax basis of our investments in foreign 
subsidiaries to the extent that the basis difference results from earnings that meet the indefinite reversal criteria. These 
criteria are met if the foreign subsidiary has invested, or will invest, the undistributed earnings indefinitely. The decision 
as to the amount of undistributed earnings that we intend to maintain in non-US subsidiaries takes into account items such 
as forecasts and budgets of financial needs of cash for working capital, liquidity plans, capital investment programs, merger 
and acquisition plans, and planned loans to other non-US subsidiaries. We also evaluate our expected cash requirements in 
the United States. At December 31, 2014, undistributed earnings of our foreign subsidiaries that met the indefinite reversal 
criteria amounted to $59.7 million. 

Goodwill

Goodwill is recorded when the purchase price for an acquisition exceeds the estimated fair value of the net tangible and 
identified intangible assets acquired. 

We test goodwill for impairment annually on October 1st at the reporting unit level. If the reporting unit has significantly 
exceeded financial expectations and is expected to continue to do so, the annual impairment test is performed qualitatively. 
For all other reporting units, we complete the first step of the goodwill impairment process (“Step 1”) for each reporting unit 
which involves determining whether the estimated fair value of the reporting unit exceeds the respective book value. In per-
forming Step 1 of the goodwill impairment test, we compare the carrying amount of the reporting unit to its estimated fair 
value. If the fair value exceeds the book value, goodwill of that reporting unit is not impaired. The estimated fair value of each 
reporting unit is calculated using one or both of the following generally accepted valuation techniques: the income approach 
(discounted cash flows) and the market approach (using market multiples derived from a set of companies with comparable 
market characteristics). The appropriate methodology is determined by management based on available information at the 
time of the test. In general, when both approaches are used, the estimated fair values are weighted. In general, the market 
approach is not weighted more than 50%. 

On a quarterly basis, we consider whether events or circumstances are present that may lead to the determination that an 
indicator of impairment exists. These circumstances include but are not limited to deterioration in key performance indica-
tors or industry and market conditions. 

Factors we consider important that could trigger an interim impairment review include, but are not limited to, the following: 
 ■ significant underperformance relative to historical or projected future operating results; 
 ■ significant change in the manner of the our use of the acquired asset or the strategy for our overall business; 
 ■ significant change in prevailing interest rates; 
 ■ significant negative industry or economic trend; 
 ■ market capitalization relative to net book value; and/or 
 ■ significant negative change in market multiples of the comparable company set. 

If, based on events or changing circumstances, we determine it is more-likely-than-not that the fair value of a reporting unit 
does not exceed its carrying value, we would be required to test goodwill for impairment. If the Step 1 results conclude that 
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the fair value does not exceed the book value of the reporting unit, goodwill may be impaired and additional analysis is re-
quired (“Step 2”). 

Step 2 of the goodwill impairment test compares the implied fair value of a reporting unit’s goodwill to its carrying value. The 
implied fair value of goodwill is derived by performing a hypothetical purchase price allocation for the reporting unit as of the 
measurement date, allocating the reporting unit’s estimated fair value to its assets and liabilities including any unrecognized 
intangible assets. The residual amount from performing this allocation represents the implied fair value of goodwill. To the 
extent this amount is below the carrying value of goodwill, an impairment loss is recorded. 

The process of evaluating the potential impairment of goodwill is highly subjective and requires significant judgment and 
estimates. Our businesses operate in a number of markets and geographical regions and the products and services, because 
of their specialized nature, may not bear close correlation to those of the market comparable company set. The assumptions 
utilized in the evaluation of the impairment of goodwill under the market approach include the selection of comparable com-
panies, which are subject to change based on the economic characteristics of our reporting units. The assumptions utilized in 
the evaluation of the impairment of goodwill under the income approach include revenue growth rates, cash flows, EBITDA, 
tax rates, capital expenditures, the weighted average cost of capital (“WACC”) and related discount rate, and expected long-
term growth rates (residual growth rate). The assumptions which have the most significant effect on our valuations derived 
using a discounted cash flows methodology are: (1) revenue growth rate, (2) cash flow assumptions and (3) the discount 
rate. The assumptions utilized in the market approach include the selection of comparable companies, which are subject to 
change based on the economic characteristics of our reporting units. Revenue and EBITDA multiples for market comparable 
companies for the current and future fiscal periods are used to estimate the fair value of the reporting unit by applying those 
multiples to the projected financial information prepared by management. 

The cash flows utilized in the income approach are based on our most recent budgets, forecasts, and business plans as well 
as various growth rate assumptions for years beyond the current business plan period. Long-term growth rates represent the 
expected long-term growth rate for the reporting unit, considering the industry in which we operate and the global economy. 
Discount rate assumptions are based on an assessment of the risk inherent in the future revenue streams and cash flows and 
our WACC. The risk adjusted discount rate used represents the estimated WACC for our reporting units. The discount rate is 
comprised of (1) a risk free rate of return, (2) an equity risk premium that is based on the rate of return on equity of publicly 
traded companies with business characteristics comparable to our reporting units, (3) the current after-tax market rate of 
return on debt of companies with business characteristics similar to our reporting units, each weighted by the relative market 
value percentages of our equity and debt, and (4) an appropriate company specific risk premium. 

In the second quarter of 2014, through reviews of sales and operating results and consideration of additional insights into 
the impact of the current government contracting environment, we identified indicators of impairment for the PDRI report-
ing unit. Accordingly, we completed an interim Step 1 impairment analysis which indicated that the estimated fair value of 
the reporting unit did not exceed the carrying value. Consequently, we completed Step 2 of the interim impairment analysis 
which resulted in an $18.9 million goodwill impairment loss. This loss did not impact our liquidity position or cash flows for 
2014. At December 31, 2014 the PDRI reporting unit had $12.4 million of goodwill. 

In the third quarter of 2013, we identified indicators of impairment for the PDRI reporting unit, including lower than an-
ticipated results of operations and constrained forecasts of future operating results and rising interest rates. Accordingly, we 
completed an interim Step 1 impairment analysis which indicated that the estimated fair value of the reporting unit did not 
exceed the carrying value. Consequently, we completed Step 2 of the interim impairment analysis which resulted in a $22.6 
million goodwill impairment loss. This loss did not impact our liquidity position or cash flows for 2013. 

Recovery of Long-Lived Assets (Excluding Goodwill)

Long-lived assets, including intangible assets, are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Such events may include, but not be limited to, unex-
pected customer turnover, technological obsolescence of software or intellectual property, or lower than expected operating 
performance of the products or services supporting these assets. These assets are being amortized on a straight-line basis 
over estimated useful lives of 2 to 20 years. The test for recoverability is made using an estimate of the undiscounted expected 
future cash flows and, if required, the impairment loss is measured as the amount that the carrying value of the asset exceeds 
the asset’s fair value if the asset is not recoverable. 

As part of the interim impairment test for the PDRI reporting unit in the second quarter of 2014, we completed a recover-
ability test related to the intangible assets of PDRI. On an undiscounted basis, the cash flows projected for PDRI’s current 
customer list did not exceed the carrying value of the asset. We then performed a fair value calculation of the customer list 
asset based on estimates of future revenues and cash flows from those customers. The estimated fair value of the asset did not 
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exceed the carrying value. As a result, we recorded an impairment loss of $20.8 million in the second quarter of 2014. This 
non-cash loss did not impact our liquidity position or cash flows for 2014. At December 31, 2014, we had not identified any 
other instances where the carrying values of our long-lived assets were not recoverable. 

Deferred Incentive Compensation

Direct incentive compensation paid to our employees related to the negotiation of new and renewal customer arrangements 
is deferred and amortized over the term of the related arrangements as revenue is recognized. 

Operating Leases

We have non-cancelable operating lease agreements for our offices with lease periods expiring between 2015 and 2032. We 
are committed to pay a portion of the related operating expenses and real estate taxes under these lease agreements. We rec-
ognize rent expense under operating leases on a straight-line basis over the non-cancelable term of the lease, including free-
rent periods and escalations. Lease incentives, relating to allowances provided by landlords, are amortized over the term of 
the lease as a reduction of rent expense. We recognize sublease income on a straight-line basis over the term of the sublease, 
including free-rent periods and escalations, as a reduction of rent expense. Costs associated with acquiring a subtenant, in-
cluding broker commissions and tenant allowances, are amortized over the sublease term as a reduction of sublease income. 

Share-Based Compensation

Share-based compensation expense is measured at the grant date of the share-based awards based on their fair value and is 
recognized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, net of an estimated forfeiture rate. The grant date fair value of 
restricted stock units and performance share awards, which are not entitled to receive dividends until vested, is measured 
by reducing the share price at that date by the present value of the dividends expected to be paid during the requisite vesting 
period. Determining the fair value of share-based awards is judgmental in nature and involves the use of significant estimates 
and assumptions, including the term of the share-based awards, risk-free interest rates over the vesting period, expected divi-
dend rates, and estimated forfeiture rates of the awards. Forfeiture rate estimates are based on assumptions we believe to be 
reasonable. Actual future results may differ from those estimates. 

Property and Equipment, Net 

Property and equipment consists of furniture, fixtures and equipment, leasehold improvements, capitalized computer soft-
ware and website development costs. Property and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation. Furniture, 
fixtures and equipment are depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which 
range from three to seven years. Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter of 
the estimated useful lives of the assets or the lease term. Depreciation and amortization is recorded as a separate line item 
in the consolidated statements of operations and is not allocated to Cost of services; Member relations and Marketing; or 
General and administrative expenses. 

Computer software and website development costs that are incurred in the preliminary project and planning stages are ex-
pensed as incurred. During development, direct consulting costs and payroll and payroll-related costs for employees that 
are directly associated with each project are capitalized. Capitalized software and website development costs are depre-
ciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which range from three to five years. 
Replacements and major improvements are capitalized, while maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred. 
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Consolidated Results of Operations

The following table presents an overview of our results of operations (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012

Revenue .......................................................................................................................................................................... $ 908,974  $ 820,053  $ 622,654 

Costs and expenses:          

 Cost of services ......................................................................................................................................................... 323,633   294,576   223,766 

 Member relations and marketing ....................................................................................................................... 267,831   238,070   178,204

 General and administrative ................................................................................................................................... 111,085   102,530   73,629 

 Acquisition related costs ....................................................................................................................................... 2,964   11,477   24,529 

 Impairment loss ......................................................................................................................................................... 39,700 22,600 —

 Restructuring costs.................................................................................................................................................. 1,830 — —

 Depreciation and amortization ........................................................................................................................... 68,286   60,087   37,858 

  Total costs and expenses ....................................................................................................................................  815,329   729,340   537,986 

Operating profit ...........................................................................................................................................................  93,645   90,713   84,668 

Other (expense) income, net            

 Interest income and other .....................................................................................................................................  10,030   (998)   1,834 

 Interest expense ........................................................................................................................................................ (18,410) (22,586) (11,882)

 Gain on cost method investment ....................................................................................................................... 6,585 — —

 Debt extinguishment costs ...................................................................................................................................  —   (6,691)   —  

  Total Other (expense) income, net..................................................................................................................  (1,795)   (30,275)   (10,048)

Income before provision for income taxes ........................................................................................................  91,850   60,438   74,620 

Provision for income taxes ...................................................................................................................................... 40,678   28,467   37,569 

Net income .................................................................................................................................................................... $ 51,172  $ 31,971  $ 37,051 

In the fourth quarter of 2014, we adjusted our classification of certain costs within the SHL Talent Measurement segment. To 
conform to the current year presentation, we reclassified approximately $3.3 million and $2.0 million from Cost of services and 
Member relations and marketing, respectively, to General and administrative in 2013. Additionally, we reclassified previously 
reported 2014 quarterly amounts. The reclassification did not have an impact on total costs and expenses or operating profit. 

Revenue and Costs and Expenses

See “Segment Results” below for a discussion of revenue and costs and expenses by segment.

Our operating costs and expenses consist of:
 ■ Cost of services, which represents the costs associated with the production of content and delivery of our 

services, consisting of salaries; share-based compensation; internal and external product advisors; the orga-
nization and delivery of membership meetings, seminars, and other events; third-party consulting; ongoing 
product development costs; production of published materials; costs of developing and supporting our mem-
bership Web platform and digital delivery of services and products; and associated support services. 

 ■ Member relations and marketing, which represents the costs of acquiring new customers and the costs of 
account management; consisting of salaries; sales incentives; share-based compensation; travel and related 
expenses; recruiting and training of personnel; sales and marketing materials; and associated support services; 
as well as the costs of maintaining our customer relationship management software. 

 ■ General and administrative, which represents the costs associated with the corporate and administrative 
functions; including human resources and recruiting; finance and accounting; legal; management information 
systems; facilities management; business development; and other. Costs include salaries; share-based com-
pensation; third-party consulting and compliance expenses; and associated support services. 

 ■ Acquisition related costs represent transaction and integration costs incurred in connection with acquired 
companies. Integration costs primarily include branding; consolidation of office locations and associated exit 
costs; and consolidation of technology infrastructure. 

 ■ Restructuring costs consist primarily of severance and related termination benefits associated with our work-
force reduction plan (the “2014 Plan”) for approximately 50 employees. In the fourth quarter of 2014, we 
recognized restructuring costs associated with this plan of $1.8 million. We anticipate incurring an additional 
$1.5 million related to the 2014 Plan in 2015. 
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 ■ Depreciation and amortization, consisting of amortization of intangible assets and depreciation of our proper-
ty and equipment, including leasehold improvements; furniture, fixtures and equipment; capitalized software; 
and website development costs. 

Other (Expense) Income, Net 

The following table presents the components of Other (expense) income, net (in thousands): 

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012

Interest expense .......................................................................................................................................................... $ (18,410)  $ (22,586)  $ (11,882)

Debt extinguishment costs ..................................................................................................................................... —   (6,691)   — 

Gain on cost method investment .......................................................................................................................... 6,585   —   — 

Increase (decrease) in fair value of deferred compensation plan assets .............................................. 680   2,123   1,700 

Net non-operating foreign currency gains (losses) ....................................................................................... 8,642 (3,314) (1,259)

Interest income ............................................................................................................................................................ 364 250 1,083

Other ................................................................................................................................................................................ 344   (57)   310

 Other (expense) income, net ............................................................................................................................... $ (1,795)   $ (30,275)   $ (10,048)

The decrease in interest expense in 2014 was primarily driven by the full year benefit of the August 2013 refinancing of our 
credit facility. The increase in interest expense in 2013 was due to borrowings incurred for the SHL acquisition, which were 
outstanding for all of 2013 but only for five months in 2012 (from the August 2, 2012 acquisition date to December 31, 2012). 
Debt extinguishment costs were a result of the August 2013 refinancing of our credit facility. The gain on cost method invest-
ment in 2014 is the result of the adjustment in our cost-method investment carrying amount to fair value when we exchanged 
our investment in preferred stock of PayScale, Inc. for common stock of PayScale Holdings, Inc. The net non-operating 
foreign currency gains in 2014 and losses in 2013 were primarily due to the re-measurement of US cash balances held by sub-
sidiaries with a functional currency other than the US dollar, certain intercompany notes, and the balance sheets of non-US 
subsidiaries whose functional currency is the US dollar.  

Provision for Income Taxes

We recorded a provision for income taxes of $40.7 million, $28.5 million, and $37.6 million in 2014, 2013, and 2012, respec-
tively. In 2014, 2013, and 2012 our effective income tax rate was 44.3%, 47.1%, and 50.3%, respectively. Our effective tax rate 
for 2014 was higher than the federal statutory rate, primarily due to state income taxes and the PDRI nondeductible goodwill 
impairment loss, partially offset by the benefits of nontaxable foreign translation gains and the effect of financing. Our effec-
tive tax rate for 2013 was higher than the federal statutory rate, primarily due to state income taxes and the PDRI nonde-
ductible goodwill impairment loss partially offset by the benefit derived from effect of financing and legislative change in the 
UK tax rate. Our effective tax rate in 2012 was higher than the federal statutory rate primarily due to state income taxes and 
nondeductible acquisition expenses related to the SHL acquisition. With minor exceptions, income taxes are not provided for 
our foreign subsidiaries’ undistributed earnings, as such earnings are deemed to be permanently reinvested locally. 

Segment Results

CEB Segment Operating Data

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012

CEB segment Contract Value (in thousands) (1) ............................................................................................ $ 683,451  $ 610,830  $ 561,823 

CEB segment Member institutions (2) ...............................................................................................................  7,056   6,418   5,957 

CEB segment Contract Value per member institution ................................................................................. $ 96,702  $ 95,078  $ 94,200 

CEB segment Wallet retention rate (3) ..............................................................................................................  99%   97%   102% 

(1) We define “CEB segment Contract Value,” at the end of the quarter, as the aggregate annualized revenue attributed to 
all agreements in effect on such date, without regard to the remaining duration of any such agreement. CEB segment 
Contract Value does not include the impact of PDRI. 

(2) We define “CEB segment Member institutions,” at the end of the quarter, as member institutions with Contract Value in 
excess of $10,000. The same definition is applied to “CEB segment Contract Value per member institution.” 
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(3) We define “CEB segment Wallet retention rate,” at the end of the quarter, as the total current year segment Contract Value 
from prior year members as a percentage of the total prior year segment Contract Value. The CEB segment Wallet reten-
tion rate does not include the impact of PDRI. 

In 2014, Contract Value increased $72.6 million, or 11.9%, primarily as a result of increased sales to new and existing large 
corporate members, price increases, and middle market corporate subscriptions and the 2014 acquisitions of Metrics That 
Matter and Talent Neuron. 

In 2013, Contract Value increased $49.0 million, or 8.7%, primarily as a result of increased sales to new and existing large 
corporate members, price increases, and the acquisition of Valtera in February 2012. 

CEB Segment Results of Operations

The financial results presented below include the results of operations for the CEB segment (in thousands). In 2012, PDRI’s 
operating results are included for the period from August 2, 2012 to December 31, 2012. 

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012

Revenue .......................................................................................................................................................................... $ 701,573  $ 634,302  $ 564,062 

Costs and expenses:            

 Cost of services ......................................................................................................................................................... 244,958   224,547   196,501

 Member relations and marketing ....................................................................................................................... 202,587   177,853   159,344

 General and administrative ................................................................................................................................... 78,395   69,933   64,403

 Acquisition related costs ....................................................................................................................................... 2,964   7,691   22,430

 Impairment loss ......................................................................................................................................................... 39,700   22,600   —

 Restructuring costs.................................................................................................................................................. 1,154 — —

 Depreciation and amortization ........................................................................................................................... 33,707   28,356   24,371

  Total costs and expenses .................................................................................................................................... 603,465   530,980   467,049

Operating profit ........................................................................................................................................................... $ 98,108   $ 103,322  $ 97,013

A reconciliation of CEB segment revenue to Adjusted revenue (in thousands): 

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012

Revenue .......................................................................................................................................................................... $ 701,573  $ 634,302  $ 564,062 

Impact of the deferred revenue fair value adjustment .................................................................................  3,537   —   — 

Adjusted revenue ........................................................................................................................................................ $ 705,110  $ 634,302  $ 564,062

A reconciliation of CEB segment Adjusted revenue to constant currency Adjusted revenue (in thousands): 

Year Ended  
December 31, 2014

Adjusted revenue .................................................................................................................................................................................................. $ 705,110 

Currency exchange rate fluctuations ............................................................................................................................................................ 1,821

Constant currency Adjusted revenue ............................................................................................................................................................ $ 706,931

A reconciliation of CEB segment Operating profit to Adjusted EBITDA (in thousands):  

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012

Operating profit ........................................................................................................................................................... $ 98,108  $ 103,322  $ 97,013 

Other income, net ....................................................................................................................................................... 6,239   431   1,724

Depreciation and amortization .............................................................................................................................. 33,707   28,356   24,371

Impact of the deferred revenue fair value adjustment ................................................................................. 3,537   —   —

Acquisition related costs .......................................................................................................................................... 2,964   7,691   22,430

Impairment loss ........................................................................................................................................................... 39,700   22,600   —

Restructuring costs .................................................................................................................................................... 1,154 — —

Share-based compensation .................................................................................................................................... 14,055   11,137   9,062

Adjusted EBITDA ........................................................................................................................................................ $ 199,464   $ 173,537  $ 154,600

Adjusted EBITDA margin ......................................................................................................................................... 28.3%   27.4%   27.4%
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A reconciliation of CEB segment Adjusted EBITDA to constant currency Adjusted EBITDA (in thousands): 

Year Ended  
December 31, 2014

Adjusted EBITDA .................................................................................................................................................................................................. $ 199,464 

Currency exchange rate fluctuations ............................................................................................................................................................ 3,031

Net non-operating foreign currency gains ..................................................................................................................................................  (4,892)

Constant currency Adjusted EBITDA ............................................................................................................................................................ $ 197,603

Constant currency adjusted EBITDA increased $24.1 million, or 13.9%, to $197.6 million in 2014 from $173.5 million in 2013.

CEB Segment Revenue

In 2014, revenue increased $67.3 million, or 10.6 %, to $701.6 million from $634.3 million in 2013 and increased $70.2 million, 
or 12.4%, in 2013 from $564.1 million in 2012. The increase in 2014 was primarily due to an increase in sales bookings with 
new and existing customers and, to a lesser extent, the impact of the 2014 Metrics That Matter and Talent Neuron acquisi-
tions. In addition, revenue was impacted by fluctuations in foreign currencies against the US Dollar, primarily the British 
Pound and Australian Dollar. The increase in 2013 was primarily due to an increase in sales bookings with new and existing 
customers as well as the full year impact of PDRI, which was acquired as part of the SHL acquisition in 2012. 

Metrics that Matter deferred revenue at the acquisition date was recorded at fair value based on the estimated cost to pro-
vide the related services plus a reasonable profit margin on such costs. The reduction in deferred revenue from Metrics That 
Matter historical cost to fair value recorded as part of the purchase accounting adjustments at the acquisition date was ap-
proximately $3.6 million that would have primarily been recognized in 2014. 

Adjusted revenue increased $70.8 million, or 11.2%, to $705.1 million in 2014 from $634.3 million in 2013 and increased $70.2 
million, or 12.5% in 2013 from $564.1 million in 2012. Constant currency Adjusted revenue increased $72.6 million, or 11.5%, 
to $706.9 million in 2014 from $634.3 million in 2013. 

CEB Segment Costs and Expenses

In 2014, costs and expenses were $603.5 million, an increase of $72.5 million from $531.0 million in 2013. In 2013, costs and 
expenses increased $63.9 million from $467.0 million in 2012. Impairment losses of $39.7 million and $22.6 million relating to 
the PDRI reporting unit are included in costs and expenses in 2014 and 2013, respectively. Additionally, changes in compen-
sation and related costs, variable compensation, share-based compensation, third-party consulting costs, travel and related 
expenses, facilities costs, additional costs from the businesses we acquired, and the impact of changes in the exchange rates 
of the US dollar to the British pound sterling (“GBP”) and the Australian dollar all contributed to year-over-year variances in 
costs and expenses. These items are allocated to Cost of services, Member relations and marketing, and General and admin-
istrative expenses. We discuss the major components of costs and expenses on an aggregate basis below: 

 ■ Compensation and related costs includes salaries, payroll taxes, and benefits. Total costs increased $30.1 mil-
lion in 2014 to $278.0 million from $247.9 million in 2013 and increased $24.6 million in 2013 from $223.3 mil-
lion in 2012. The increases were primarily due to headcount and salary increases, including the impact of the 
acquisitions discussed above. 

 ■ Variable compensation includes annual bonuses and sales commissions. Total costs increased $8.2 million in 
2014 to $78.6 million from $70.4 million in 2013 and increased $7.9 million in 2013 from $62.5 million in 2012. 
The increase in 2014 was primarily due to a $2.9 million increase in the estimated payout of annual bonuses 
and a $5.3 million increase in sales incentives primarily due to increased sales bookings in 2014. The increase 
in 2013 was primarily due to a $3.8 million increase in the estimated payout of annual bonuses and a $3.8 mil-
lion increase in sales incentive expense resulting from increased sales bookings. 

 ■ Share-based compensation costs increased $3.0 million in 2014 to $14.0 million from $11.0 million in 2013 and 
increased $1.9 million in 2013 from $9.1 million in 2012. The increases in 2014 and 2013 were primarily due to 
an increase in the total fair value of awards granted from 2012 through 2014. 

 ■ Third-party consulting costs include development costs for member facing technology, the use of third parties 
to deliver services to member companies, and external resources supporting the administrative departments. 
Total costs increased $3.2 million in 2014 to $30.5 million from $27.3 million in 2013 and increased $5.7 million 
in 2013 from $21.6 million in 2012. The increases in 2014 and 2013 were primarily due to the use of third-party 
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consultants for member-facing technology development and the implementation of operating systems en-
hancements and external advisors supporting the CEB branding initiative. 

 ■ Travel and related expense increased $0.2 million in 2014 to $28.0 million from $27.8 million in 2013 and in-
creased $3.0 million in 2013 from $24.8 million in 2012. The increases were primarily due to increased head-
count and costs incurred in the delivery of advisory and research services and travel by sales personnel. 

 ■ Allocated facilities costs include rent, operating expenses, and real estate tax obligations. Total costs in-
creased $0.5 million in 2014 to $29.0 million from $28.5 million in 2013 and increased $2.9 million in 2013 
from $25.6 million in 2012. The increase in 2014 was primarily driven by increases in operating expenses. The 
increase in 2013 was primarily due to the addition of new office space related to the expansion of our corporate 
headquarters. 

 ■ The CEB segment operating expenses are impacted by currency fluctuations, primarily in the value of the GBP 
compared to the US dollar. On average, the value of the GBP versus the US dollar was approximately $0.08 
higher across 2014 compared to 2013 and approximately $0.02 lower across 2013 compared to 2012. Costs in-
curred for foreign subsidiaries will fluctuate based on changes in foreign currency exchange rates in addition 
to other operational factors. We enter into cash flow hedges for the CEB segment UK subsidiary to mitigate 
foreign currency risk, which offsets a portion of the impact foreign currency fluctuations have on costs and 
expenses. 

Cost of Services

The following table outlines the primary components of Cost of services (in thousands): 

Year Ended December 31,

 2014 % of Revenue 2013 % of Revenue 2012 % of Revenue

Compensation and related ......................................... $ 134,036   19.1%  $ 121,677   19.2%  $ 108,371   19.2% 

Variable compensation ................................................  24,182   3.4   22,684   3.6   20,542   3.6

Share-based compensation .......................................  5,344   0.8   4,141   0.7   3,302   0.6

Third-party consulting .................................................  22,565   3.2   19,963   3.1   13,826   2.5

Travel and related...........................................................  13,191   1.9   12,677   2.0   11,623   2.1

Allocated facilities .........................................................  12,100   1.7   12,316   1.9   10,690   1.9

Cost of services increased 9.1%, or $20.4 million, to $245.0 million in 2014 from $224.5 million in 2013. The $12.4 million in-
crease in compensation and related costs was primarily due to increases in headcount and salaries. The $1.5 million increase 
in variable compensation was primarily due to an increase in the estimated payout of annual bonuses as a result of headcount 
increases. The $2.6 million increase in third party consulting primarily related to costs associated with the production and 
delivery of services and to a lesser extent, enhancements in member facing technology. The $1.2 million increase in share-
based compensation was primarily due to an increase in the total fair value of awards granted from 2012 through 2014. 

Costs of services increased 14.3%, or $28.0 million, to $224.5 million in 2013 from $196.5 million in 2012. The $13.3 million in-
crease in compensation and related costs was primarily due to increases in headcount and salaries. The $2.1 million increase 
in variable compensation was primarily due to an increase in the estimated payout of annual bonuses as a result of headcount 
increases. The $6.1 million increase in third party consulting primarily related to costs associated with the production and 
delivery of services and to a lesser extent, enhancements in member facing technology. The $1.6 million increase in allocated 
facilities primarily related to additional office space for the expansion of our corporate headquarters. The $1.1 million in-
crease in travel expenses primarily related to increased costs incurred in the delivery of advisory and research services. 

Cost of services as a percentage of revenue was 34.9% in 2014, 35.4% in 2013, and 34.8% in 2012. 
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Member Relations and Marketing

The following table outlines the primary components of Member relations and marketing (in thousands): 

Year Ended December 31,

 2014 % of Revenue 2013 % of Revenue 2012 % of Revenue

Compensation and related ......................................... $ 103,957   14.8%  $ 89,364   14.1%  $ 80,736   14.3% 

Variable compensation ................................................  45,801   6.5   39,854   6.3   35,538   6.3

Share-based compensation .......................................  2,870   0.4   2,349   0.4   1,841   0.3

Third-party consulting .................................................  3,083   0.4   2,538   0.4   3,790   0.7

Travel and related...........................................................  12,087   1.7   12,598   2.0   11,222   2.0

Allocated facilities .........................................................  13,189   1.9   12,831   2.0   11,244   2.0

Member relations and marketing increased 13.9%, or $24.7 million, to $202.6 million in 2014 from $177.9 million in 2013. The 
$14.6 million increase in compensation and related costs was primarily due to an increase in headcount, including the impact 
of the Metrics That Matter acquisition, and salary increases. The $5.9 million increase in variable compensation was primar-
ily due to an increase in sales incentives expense resulting from higher sales bookings and an increase in the sales incentive 
rate based on achievement of certain sales goals. The $0.5 million increase in third-party consulting costs relates primarily to 
technology maintenance and enhancements. 

Member relations and marketing increased 11.6%, or $18.5 million, to $177.9 million in 2013 from $159.3 million in 2012. The 
$8.6 million increase in compensation and related costs was primarily due to increases in headcount and salaries. The $4.3 
million increase in variable compensation was primarily due to an increase in sales incentives expense resulting from higher 
sales bookings and an increase in the sales incentive rate based on achievement of certain sales goals. The $1.6 million in-
crease in allocated facilities primarily related to additional office space for the expansion of our corporate headquarters. 

Member relations and marketing expense as a percentage of revenue was 28.9% in 2014, 28.0% in 2013, and 28.2% in 2012. 

General and Administrative

The following table outlines the primary components of General and administrative (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

 2014 % of Revenue 2013 % of Revenue 2012 % of Revenue

Compensation and related ......................................... $ 40,031   5.7%  $ 36,882   5.8%  $ 34,215   6.1% 

Variable compensation ................................................  8,660   1.2   7,855   1.2   6,456   1.1

Share-based compensation .......................................  5,814   0.8   4,557   0.7   3,908   0.7

Third-party consulting .................................................  4,864   0.7   4,826   0.8   4,027   0.7

Allocated facilities .........................................................  3,664   0.5   3,389   0.5   3,670   0.7

General and administrative increased 12.1%, or $8.5 million, to $78.4 million in 2014 from $69.9 million in 2013. The $3.1 mil-
lion and $0.8 million increases in compensation and related costs and variable compensation, respectively, were primarily 
due to increases in headcount and salary increases. The $1.3 million increase in share-based compensation was primarily due 
to an increase in the total fair value of awards granted in 2011 through 2014. 

General and administrative increased 8.6%, or $5.5 million, to $69.9 million in 2013 from $64.4 million in 2012. The $2.7 mil-
lion increase in compensation and related costs was primarily due to increases in headcount and salaries. The $1.4 million 
increase in variable compensation was primarily due to an increase in estimated payout of annual bonuses. The $0.8 million 
increase in third party consulting was primarily due to the implementation and enhancement of operating systems. 

General and administrative expense as a percentage of revenue was 11.2% in 2014, 11.0% in 2013, and 11.4% in 2012. 

Acquisition Related Costs 

Acquisition related costs were $3.0 million in 2014 and primarily related to the acquisitions and integration of Metrics That 
Matter and Talent Neuron. Acquisition costs were $7.7 million in 2013 and primarily related to the integration of SHL, in-
cluding branding, consolidation of office locations and associated exit costs, and consolidation of technology infrastructure. 
Acquisition related costs were $22.4 million in 2012 and primarily related to the acquisition of SHL and included $14.7 mil-
lion of transaction costs and a $5.1 million settlement of the forward currency contract that we put in place on July 2, 2012 to 
hedge our obligation to pay a portion of the gross SHL purchase price in British pound sterling (“GBP”). 
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Depreciation and Amortization

The following table outlines the primary components of Depreciation and amortization (in thousands): 

Year Ended December 31,

 2014 % of Revenue 2013 % of Revenue 2012 % of Revenue

Depreciation ..................................................................... $ 21,360   3.0%  $ 18,680   2.9%  $ 16,760   3.0% 

Amortization ....................................................................  12,347   1.8   9,676   1.5   7,611   1.3

Depreciation and amortization increased 18.9%, or $5.4 million, to $33.7 million in 2014 from $28.4 million in 2013. The $2.7 
million increase in depreciation is a result of increased investments in hardware and software to support headcount growth 
and investments in member-facing technology, including internally developed software. The $2.7 million increase in amorti-
zation is a result of the Metrics That Matter and Talent Neuron acquisitions partially offset by the reduction in PDRI amorti-
zation resulting from the second quarter 2014 customer list intangible asset impairment and the completion of useful lives of 
other intangible assets from prior acquisitions. 

Depreciation and amortization increased 16.4%, or $4.0 million, to $28.4 million in 2013 from $24.4 million in 2012. The 
$1.9 million increase in depreciation was primarily the result of the full year impact of 2012 capitalizable purchases and the 
timing of 2013 purchases. These purchases primarily related to investments in hardware to support headcount growth and 
investments in member facing technology. The increase in amortization of $2.1 million was primarily the result of the full year 
impact of the 2012 acquisition of PDRI. 

Depreciation and amortization expense as a percentage of revenue was 4.8% in 2014, 4.5% in 2013, and 4.3% in 2012. 

PDRI Impairment Loss 

In the second quarter of 2014, we recognized a non-deductible impairment loss of $39.7 million associated with the PDRI 
reporting unit. Of this amount, $20.8 million related to the customer list intangible asset and $18.9 million related to the 
goodwill. The loss was primarily due to lower revenue and cash flow projections in the near and mid-terms that are a result of 
lower estimated profits from US Federal government contracts. We used the income approach (discounted cash flow model) 
to estimate the fair value of the reporting unit. The assumptions used in the income approach include revenue projections, 
EBITDA projections, estimated income tax rates, estimated capital expenditures, and an assumed discount rate based on 
various inputs. This non-cash loss did not impact our liquidity position or cash flows. The impairment of the customer list in-
tangible asset resulted in a decrease of future period amortization of approximately $2.4 million per year through the remain-
ing useful life of the asset ending 2022. While neither impairment loss will generate a tax benefit, a deferred tax liability of 
$14.2 million established for the customer relationship asset at the time of the acquisition was reversed with the impairment 
and as such, the customer relationship impairment does not directly impact the effective tax rate for the year. Following the 
impairment loss, the PDRI reporting unit had a $7.9 million customer relationship asset and a $12.4 million goodwill asset. 
The ultimate recoverability of these assets is dependent upon realizing the projected cash flows used in fair value analysis. 

In the third quarter of 2013, we recognized a non-deductible goodwill impairment loss of $22.6 million associated with the 
PDRI reporting unit. The loss was primarily based on insights gained from business activities that align with the US Federal 
government’s September 30th fiscal year-end and PDRI’s results of operations for the third quarter of 2013. 

SHL Talent Measurement Segment Results of Operations 

The operating results presented below include the SHL Talent Measurement segment (in thousands). In the fourth quarter of 
2014, we adjusted our classification of certain costs within the SHL Talent Measurement segment. To conform to the current 
year presentation, we reclassified approximately $3.3 million and $2.0 million from Cost of services and Member relations 
and marketing, respectively, to General and administrative in 2013. Additionally, we reclassified the previously reported 2014 
quarterly amounts. The reclassification did not have an impact on total costs and expenses or operating profit. In 2012, SHL’s 
operating results are from the period August 2, 2012 through December 31, 2012. 
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Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012

Revenue .......................................................................................................................................................................... $ 207,401  $ 185,751  $ 58,592 

Costs and expenses:       

 Cost of services ......................................................................................................................................................... 78,675   70,029   27,265

 Member relations and marketing ....................................................................................................................... 65,244   60,217   18,860

 General and administrative ................................................................................................................................... 32,690   32,597   9,226

 Acquisition related costs ....................................................................................................................................... —   3,786   2,099

 Restructuring costs.................................................................................................................................................. 676 — —

 Depreciation and amortization ........................................................................................................................... 34,579   31,731   13,487

  Total costs and expenses .................................................................................................................................... 211,864   198,360   70,937

Operating loss .............................................................................................................................................................. $ (4,463)  $ (12,609)  $ (12,345)

A reconciliation of SHL Talent Measurement segment revenue to Adjusted revenue (in thousands): 

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012

Revenue .......................................................................................................................................................................... $ 207,401  $ 185,751  $ 58,592 

Impact of the deferred revenue fair value adjustment ................................................................................. 2,469   9,914   17,134

Adjusted revenue ........................................................................................................................................................ $ 209,870  $ 195,665  $ 75,726

A reconciliation of SHL Talent Measurement segment Adjusted revenue to constant currency Adjusted revenue (in thousands): 

Year Ended  
December 31, 2014 

Adjusted revenue ................................................................................................................................................................................................ $ 209,870

Currency exchange rate fluctuations .......................................................................................................................................................... 1,454

Constant currency Adjusted revenue .......................................................................................................................................................... $ 211,324

A reconciliation of SHL Talent Measurement segment Operating profit to adjusted EBITDA (in thousands):  

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012

Operating loss .............................................................................................................................................................. $ (4,463)  $ (12,609)  $ (12,345)

Other expense, net ..................................................................................................................................................... 3,427 (1,678) (938)

Depreciation and amortization .............................................................................................................................. 34,579 31,731 13,487

Impact of the deferred revenue fair value adjustment ................................................................................. 2,469 9,914 17,134

Acquisition related costs .......................................................................................................................................... — 3,786 2,099

Restructuring costs .................................................................................................................................................... 676 — —

Share-based compensation .................................................................................................................................... 1,577 1,410 152

Adjusted EBITDA ........................................................................................................................................................ $ 38,265  $ 32,554  $ 19,589

Adjusted EBITDA margin ......................................................................................................................................... 18.2%   16.6%   25.9%

A reconciliation of SHL Talent Measurement segment Adjusted EBITDA to constant currency Adjusted EBITDA 
(in thousands):  

Year Ended  
December 31, 2014 

Adjusted EBITDA ................................................................................................................................................................................................ $ 38,265

Currency exchange rate fluctuations .......................................................................................................................................................... 2,481

Net non-operating foreign currency gains ................................................................................................................................................ (3,750)

Constant currency Adjusted EBITDA .......................................................................................................................................................... $ 36,996

Constant currency adjusted EBITDA increased $4.4 million, or 13.6%, to $37.0 million in 2014 from $32.6 million in 2013.

SHL Talent Measurement Segment Revenue 

Revenue increased $21.7 million, or 11.7%, to $207.4 million in 2014 from $185.8 million in 2013 and increased $127.2 million 
in 2013 from $58.6 million in 2012. The increases in 2014 were primarily due to an increase in sales bookings and deliveries of 
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services partially offset by unfavorable fluctuations in foreign currencies. The increase in 2013 was primarily due to the full 
year impact of the 2012 SHL acquisition. 

Deferred revenue at the acquisition date was recorded at fair value based on the estimated cost to provide the related services 
plus a reasonable profit margin on such costs. The reduction in deferred revenue from SHL’s historical cost to fair value re-
corded as part of the purchase accounting adjustments at the acquisition date was $34.0 million. The impact of the deferred 
revenue fair value adjustment decreased revenue by $2.5 million, $9.9 million, and $17.1 million in 2014, 2013, and 2012, re-
spectively, from what would have been recorded without the required purchase accounting adjustments. It is expected that 
the remaining $4.5 million acquisition date deferred revenue adjustment would be recognized primarily in 2015 and beyond. 

Adjusted revenue increased $14.2 million, or 7.3%, to $209.9 million in 2014 from $195.7 million in 2013 and increased $119.9 
million, or 158.4% from $75.7 million in 2012. The deferred revenue fair value adjustment on a year over year basis decreased 
from $9.9 million in 2013 to $2.5 million in 2014. Constant currency Adjusted revenue increased $15.7 million, or 8.0%, to 
$211.3 million in 2014 from $195.7 million in 2013. 

The SHL reporting unit includes international operations that subject us to risks related to currency exchange fluctuations. 
The functional currency of the SHL reporting unit subsidiaries are the local currencies. The subsidiaries contract and in-
voice in local currencies. In addition to the timing of service deliveries and increases and decreases in sales volume, revenue 
is further impacted by fluctuations in foreign currency rates, especially, the exchange rate of the British Pound against the 
Australian Dollar, US Dollar, and Euro.

SHL Talent Measurement Segment Costs and Expenses  

Costs and expenses were $211.9 million in 2014, an increase of $13.5 million from $198.4 million in 2013. In 2013 Costs and 
expenses increased $127.4 million from $70.9 million in 2012. The primary driver of the 2013 increase was the comparison of 
the full year 2013 to the partial year of 2012 from the August 2, 2012 acquisition date to December 31, 2012. The primary ex-
penses recorded by the SHL Talent Measurement segment are compensation and related costs, variable compensation, travel 
and related costs, facilities costs, and third-party consulting costs. Costs and expenses are also impacted by changes in the ex-
change rates of GBP against the US dollar, Euro and other currencies. SHL Talent Measurement segment costs and expenses 
are denominated primarily in the British Pound; therefore, with revenues being denominated in local currencies as discussed 
above, profits are impacted by the fluctuations in currencies against the British Pound. These items are allocated to Cost of 
services, Member relations and marketing, and General and administrative expenses. We discuss the major components of 
costs and expenses on an aggregate basis below: 

 ■ Compensation and related costs includes salaries, payroll taxes, and benefits. Total costs increased $8.2 mil-
lion in 2014 to $101.9 million from $93.7 million in 2013 and increased $59.0 million in 2013 from $34.7 million 
in 2012. The increase in 2014 was primarily due to increases in headcount and salary increases. 

 ■ Variable compensation includes sales commissions and annual bonuses. Total costs increased $4.3 million in 
2014 to $20.7 million from $16.4 million in 2013 and increased $11.9 million in 2013 from $4.5 million in 2012. 
The increases were primarily due to an increase in annual bonus accrual rates and higher sales incentives re-
sulting from an increase in sales bookings. 

 ■ Third-party consulting costs include maintenance costs for talent assessment platforms and the use of third 
parties to deliver services to customers. Third-party consulting costs increased $1.0 million in 2014 to $10.7 
million from $9.7 million in 2013 and increased $7.4 million in 2013 from $2.3 million in 2012. 

 ■ Travel and related expenses primarily relates to sales staff travel and travel incurred to deliver services to cus-
tomers. Total costs decreased $0.3 million in 2014 to $6.2 million from $6.5 million in 2013 and increased $4.1 
million in 2013 from $2.4 million in 2012. 

 ■ Allocated facilities costs consist primarily of rent, operating expenses, and real estate tax escalations. Total 
costs increased $0.5 million in 2014 to $8.2 million from $7.7 million in 2013 and increased $4.6 million in 2013 
from $3.1 million in 2012. 

 ■ The SHL Talent Measurement segment operating expenses are impacted by currency fluctuations, primarily 
in the value of the GBP compared to the US dollar, Australian dollar, and Euro. Approximately 40% of SHL 
expenses are based in GBP. On average, the value of the GBP versus the US dollar was approximately $0.08 
higher across 2014 compared to 2013 and approximately $0.02 lower across 2013 compared to 2012. Costs 
incurred for foreign subsidiaries will fluctuate based on changes in foreign currency rates in addition to other 
operational factors.
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Cost of Services

The following table outlines the primary components of Cost of services (in thousands): 

Year Ended December 31,

 2014 % of Revenue 2013 % of Revenue 2012 % of Revenue

Compensation and related ......................................... $ 47,082   22.7%  $ 41,945   22.6%  $ 17,397   29.7% 

Variable compensation ................................................  5,788   2.8   4,428   2.4   1,313   2.2

Third-party consulting .................................................  10,348   5.0   8,884   4.8   2,308   3.9

Travel and related...........................................................  2,503   1.2   2,564   1.4   1,015   1.7

Allocated facilities .........................................................  4,208   2.0   4,028   2.2   1,798   3.1

Cost of services increased 12.3%, or $8.6 million, to $78.7 million in 2014 from $70.0 million in 2013. The $5.1 million increase 
in compensation and related costs was primarily due to increases in headcount and salaries. Variable compensation increased 
$1.4 million primarily due to headcount increases and increase in performance. The $1.5 million increase in third-party con-
sulting costs relates primarily to the delivery of services and enhancements to service offerings. 

Cost of services increased 156.8%, or $42.8 million, to $70.0 million in 2013 from $27.3 million in 2012. The primary cause for 
the 2013 variances was that 2013 reflected the full year ownership of SHL, while 2012 only included five months of ownership 
(from the August 2, 2012 acquisition date to December 31, 2012). 

Cost of services as a percentage of revenue was 37.9 % in 2014, 37.7 % in 2013, and 46.5 % in 2012. 

Member Relations and Marketing

The following table outlines the primary components of Member relations and marketing (in thousands): 

Year Ended December 31,

 2014 % of Revenue 2013 % of Revenue 2012 % of Revenue

Compensation and related ......................................... $ 36,857   17.8%  $ 34,186   18.4%  $ 11,572   19.8% 

Variable compensation ................................................  13,306   6.4   10,289   5.5   2,567   4.4

Travel and related...........................................................  2,820   1.4   2,722   1.5   1,095   1.9

Allocated facilities .........................................................  2,622   1.3   2,419   1.3   900   1.5

Member relations and marketing increased 8.3%, or $5.0 million, to $65.2 million in 2014 from $60.2 million in 2013. The $2.7 
million increase in compensation and related costs was primarily due to increases in headcount and salaries. Variable com-
pensation, consisting of sales incentives and annual bonuses, increased $3.0 million, primarily due to headcount increases 
and increase in sales bookings. 

Member relations and marketing increased 219.3%, or $41.4 million, from $60.2 million in 2013 from $18.9 million in 2012. 
The primary cause for the 2013 variances was that 2013 reflected the full year ownership of SHL, while 2012 only included 
five months of ownership (from the August 2, 2012 acquisition date to December 31, 2012). 

Member relations and marketing expense as a percentage of revenue was 31.5% in 2014, 32.4% in 2013, and 32.2% in 2012. 

General and Administrative

The following table outlines the primary components of General and administrative (in thousands): 

Year Ended December 31,

 2014 % of Revenue 2013 % of Revenue 2012 % of Revenue

Compensation and related ......................................... $ 17,980   8.7%  $ 17,522   9.4%  $ 5,711   9.7% 

Variable compensation ................................................  1,596   0.8   1,697   0.9   635   1.1

Travel and related...........................................................  909   0.4   1,219   0.7   334   0.6

Allocated facilities .........................................................  1,351   0.7   1,291   0.7   403   0.7

General and administrative increased 0.3%, or $0.1 million, to $32.7 million in 2014 from $32.6 million in 2013, and 253.3%, 
or $23.4 million, in 2013 from $9.2 million in 2012. The primary cause for the 2013 variances was the full year impact of SHL 
in 2013, while 2012 only included five months of ownership (from the August 2, 2012 acquisition date to December 31, 2012). 

General and administrative expense as a percentage of revenue was 15.8% in 2014, 17.5% in 2013, and 15.7% in 2012. 
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Acquisition Related Costs 

Acquisition related costs were $3.8 million and $2.1 million in 2013 and 2012, respectively. Acquisition related costs related to 
the integration of SHL, primarily re-branding and the integration of technology infrastructure. 

Depreciation and Amortization 

The following table outlines the primary components of Depreciation and amortization (in thousands): 

Year Ended December 31,

 2014 % of Revenue 2013 % of Revenue 2012 % of Revenue

Depreciation ..................................................................... $ 8,063   3.9%  $ 6,549   3.5%  $ 3,046   5.2% 

Amortization ....................................................................  26,516   12.8   25,182   13.6   10,441   17.8

Depreciation and amortization increased 9.0%, or $2.8 million, to $34.6 million in 2014 from $31.7 million in 2013. The 
increase in depreciation primarily relates to capitalizable costs of revenue generating internally developed software and 
computer equipment. Additionally, purchases of network and computer equipment increased in 2013 to support headcount 
growth and integration costs. Amortization is related to intangible assets acquired in conjunction with the SHL acquisition 
and impacted by changes in GBP versus the US Dollar. 

Depreciation and amortization increased 135.3%, or $18.2 million, to $31.7 million in 2013 from $13.5 million in 2012. The 
primary cause for the 2013 variances was that 2013 reflected the full year ownership of SHL, while 2012 only included five 
months of ownership (from the August 2, 2012 acquisition date to December 31, 2012). 

Depreciation and amortization expense as a percentage of revenue was 16.7% in 2014, 17.1% in 2013, and 23.0% in 2012. 

SHL Goodwill 

We completed the annual impairment test at October 1, 2014. The carrying value of the reporting unit was $598 million at 
October 1, 2014 including $363 million of goodwill and $242 million of amortizable intangible assets. The estimated fair value 
of the SHL reporting unit exceeded its carrying value by less than 10%. This reporting unit remains at risk for future impair-
ment if the projected operating results are not met or other inputs into the fair value measurement change. If all assumptions 
were held constant, a one percentage point increase in the discount rate would have resulted in an approximately $29 million 
decrease in the estimated fair value of the reporting unit. A 5% decrease in the selected market multiples would have resulted 
in a $15 million decrease in the estimated fair value of the reporting unit. 

In the third quarter of 2013, we identified interim indicators of potential impairment for the SHL reporting unit, including 
lower revenue and EBITDA than had been anticipated at the time of the acquisition and rising interest rates. Upon identifica-
tion of the interim impairment indicators, we completed Step 1 of the impairment test. The carrying value of the reporting 
unit was $600 million at September 30, 2013, including $375 million of goodwill and $269 million of amortizable intangible 
assets. The estimated fair value of the SHL reporting unit exceeded its carrying value by approximately 1% at September 30, 
2013 and accordingly, a goodwill impairment loss was not recorded for this reporting unit. 

We continue to monitor actual results versus forecasted results and external factors that may impact the enterprise value 
of the reporting unit. The reporting unit’s expenses are denominated primarily in GBP while contracts with customers and 
revenues are in local currencies. An increase in the value of the GBP versus other global currencies may adversely impact 
operating results. Other factors that we are monitoring that may impact the fair value of the reporting unit include, but are 
not limited to: market comparable company multiples, interest rates, and global economic conditions. 

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Generally, cash flows generated from operating activities have been our primary source of liquidity. On July 2, 2012, in con-
nection with the execution of the sale and purchase agreement related to the SHL acquisition, we entered into a senior 
secured credit agreement, which was amended and restated on July 18, 2012, on August 1, 2012, and again on August 2, 2013 
(as amended and restated, the “Credit Agreement”). As originally structured, the Credit Agreement provided for (i) a term 
loan A in an aggregate principal amount of $275 million (the “Term Loan A Facility”), (ii) a term loan B in an aggregate prin-
cipal amount of $250 million (the “Term Loan B Facility” and together with the Term Loan A Facility, the “Term Facilities”) 
and (iii) a $100 million revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility” and together with the Term Facilities, the 
“Original Senior Secured Credit Facilities”). The Term Loan A Facility and the Revolving Credit Facility were scheduled to 
mature on August 2, 2017 and the Term Loan B Facility was scheduled to mature on August 2, 2019. 
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On August 2, 2012, in connection with the closing of the SHL acquisition, the full amounts of the Term Loan A Facility and 
the Term Loan B Facility were drawn and $30 million under the Revolving Credit Facility was drawn. In addition, $6 mil-
lion of availability under the Revolving Credit Facility was used to cover letters of credit that were issued to replace similar 
letters of credit previously issued under our prior senior unsecured credit facility which was terminated concurrently with 
the drawings under the Original Senior Secured Credit Facilities. We repaid $10 million of the principal amount outstanding 
under the Revolving Credit Facility in December 2012 and the remaining outstanding amount of $20 million in January 2013. 

On August 2, 2013, we entered into Amendment No. 3 (the “Amendment”) to the Credit Agreement. The Amendment (i) 
replaced the existing Term Loan A Facility with new refinancing term A-1 loans (the “Refinancing Term A-1 Loans”) in the 
aggregate principal amount of $269.6 million, which was fully drawn on August 2, 2013, (ii) established a new tranche of in-
cremental term A-1 loans (the “Incremental Term A-1 Loans” and together with the Refinancing Term A-1 Loans, the “Term 
A-1 Loans”) in an aggregate principal amount of $253.8 million, which was fully drawn on August 2, 2013, and (iii) increased 
the existing revolving commitments with new tranche A revolving commitments (the “Tranche A Revolving Commitments” 
and the loans thereunder, the “Tranche A Revolving Loans”) in an aggregate principal amount of $100 million for a total ag-
gregate principal amount of $200 million, none of which was drawn in connection with the closing of the Amendment. We 
refer to the Original Senior Secured Credit Facilities, as modified by the Amendment, as the Senior Secured Credit Facilities. 

Amounts drawn under the Refinancing Term A-1 Loan tranche were used to prepay and terminate our existing Term Loan A 
Facility. Amounts drawn under the Incremental Term A-1 Loan tranche were used to prepay and terminate our existing Term 
Loan B Facility and pay transaction related fees and expenses. 

The maturity date of all Term A-1 Loans is August 2, 2018. The principal amount of the Term A-1 Loans amortizes in quarterly 
installments equal to (i) for the first two years after the closing of the Amendment, approximately 2% of the original prin-
cipal amount of the Term A-1 Loans and (ii) for the next three years thereafter, approximately 4% of the original principal 
amount of the Term A-1 Loans, with the balance payable at maturity. The termination date of all revolving commitments 
under the Credit Agreement, including the new Tranche A Revolving Commitments, is August 2, 2018. The Term A-1 Loans 
and Tranche A Revolving Loans will, at our option, bear interest at the Eurodollar Rate plus 2.25% or a base rate plus 1.25%, as 
applicable, with future “step-downs” upon achievement of specified first lien net leverage ratios, which we achieved in 2014. 
As a result, the annual interest rate on the Term A-1 Loans was the Eurodollar Rate plus 2.00%, or 2.17%, at December 31, 2014. 

We entered into interest rate swap arrangements in October 2013 with notional amounts totaling $275 million which amor-
tize to $232 million through the August 2, 2018 maturity date of the Term A-1 Loans. The interest rate swap arrangements 
effectively fix our interest payments on the hedged debt at approximately 1.34% plus the credit spread on the Term A-1 Loans. 
The arrangements protect against adverse fluctuations in interest rates by reducing our exposure to variability in cash flows 
relating to interest payments on a portion of our outstanding debt. 

The Credit Agreement contains customary representations and warranties, affirmative and negative covenants, and events 
of default. We are required to comply with a net leverage ratio covenant on a quarterly basis. Mandatory prepayments at-
tributable to excess cash flows will be based on our net leverage ratio and will be determined at the end of each fiscal year. 
Pursuant to the Amendment on August 2, 2013, a net leverage ratio of 2.0x or higher will trigger mandatory prepayments of 
25% and a net leverage ratio of 2.5x or higher will trigger mandatory prepayments of 50% of excess cash flows. No mandatory 
prepayments were required for 2014. In the event future actual results trigger the mandatory prepayment, such prepayment 
amount will be reclassified from long-term debt to current debt in our accompanying consolidated balance sheets. We were 
in compliance with all of the covenants at December 31, 2014. 

In February 2014, we completed the acquisition of 100% of the equity interests of KnowledgeAdvisors, Inc. for a cash pay-
ment of $52.7 million, less cash acquired of $1.8 million. In January 2014, we acquired the Talent Neuron platform for a cash 
payment of approximately $8 million. In February 2012, we acquired 100% of the equity interests of Valtera for a cash pay-
ment of $22.4 million less cash acquired of $1.9 million. 

We had cash and cash equivalents of $114.9 million and $119.6 million at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. We believe 
that existing cash and cash equivalents and operating cash flows will be sufficient to support operations, including interest 
and required principal payments, anticipated capital expenditures, and the payment of dividends, as well as potential share 
repurchases for at least the next 12 months. Our future cash flows will depend on many factors, including our rate of Contract 
Value growth and selective investments to expand our market presence and enhance technology. At December 31, 2014, avail-
able borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility were $192.2 million after reduction of availability to cover $7.8 million 
of outstanding letters of credit. The anticipated cash needs of our business could change significantly if we pursue and make 
investments in, or acquisitions of, complementary businesses, if economic conditions change materially from those currently 
prevailing or from those currently anticipated, or if other unexpected circumstances arise that have a material effect on the 
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cash flows or profitability of our business. Any of these events or circumstances could involve significant additional funding 
needs in excess of the identified currently available sources, including our Revolving Credit Facility, and could require us to 
seek additional financing as an additional source of liquidity to meet those needs. Our ability to obtain additional financing, if 
necessary, is subject to a variety of factors that we cannot predict with certainty, including our future profitability; our relative 
levels of debt and equity; the volatility and overall condition of the capital markets; and the market prices of our securities. As 
a result, any additional financing may not be available on acceptable terms or at all. 

Approximately $80 million of our cash was held by our foreign subsidiaries at December 31, 2014. We manage our worldwide 
cash requirements by considering available funds among the many subsidiaries through which we conduct our business and 
the cost effectiveness with which those funds can be accessed. The repatriation of cash balances from certain of our subsid-
iaries could have adverse tax consequences; however, those balances are generally available without legal restrictions to fund 
ordinary business operations, capital projects, and future acquisitions. 

Cash Flows

The following table outlines the primary components of our cash flows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012

Net cash flows provided by operating activities ............................................................................................ $ 182,144  $ 148,709  $ 122,155 

Net cash flows used in investing activities ........................................................................................................  (102,670)   (38,239)   (676,330)

Net cash flows (used in) provided by financing activities ..........................................................................  (77,662)   (64,814)   492,784

Our primary uses of cash have been to fund acquisitions, debt service requirements, capital expenditures, share repurchases, 
and dividend payments. 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Our operating assets and liabilities consist primarily of billed and unbilled accounts receivable, accounts payable, accrued 
expenses, accrued incentive compensation and deferred revenue. The timing of billings and collections of receivables as well 
as payments for compensation arrangements affect the changes in these balances. CEB membership subscriptions, which 
principally are annually renewable agreements, generally are payable by members at the beginning of the contract term. 
SHL Talent Measurement services are generally invoiced as services are delivered. Historically, the combination of revenue 
growth, profitable operations, and advance payments of membership subscriptions has resulted in net cash flows provided 
by operating activities. 

Net cash flows provided by operating activities increased $33.4 million in 2014 from 2013 and increased $26.6 million in 2013 
from 2012. The increase in cash flows from operations in 2014 was primarily due to increased sales bookings year over year 
which has resulted in higher cash collections. These increases have been partially offset by the timing of expense payments. 
The increase in net cash flows provided by operating activities in 2013 was primarily due to an increase in sales bookings 
resulting in higher customer payments and a decrease in acquisition related costs of $13.1 million in 2013 from 2012. These 
increases were partially offset by an increase in tax payments of $6.5 million. 

We made income tax payments of $41.6 million, $43.4 million, and $36.9 million in 2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively, and 
expect to continue making income tax payments in future periods. 

We made interest payments of $15.6 million, $20.3 million, and $8.4 million in 2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Our cash management, acquisition, and capital expenditure strategies affect cash flows from investing activities. Net cash 
flows used in investing activities increased $64.4 million in 2014 from 2013 and decreased $638.1 million in 2013 from 2012. 
In 2014 and 2013 we made strategic investments in other companies of $8.6 million and $11.2 million, respectively. In 2014, 
we utilized $58.9 million for acquisitions of businesses, primarily related to Metrics That Matter, which included a payment 
of $52.7 million, less cash acquired of $1.8 million. In 2012, we utilized $669.1 million for acquisitions of businesses, which 
included a payment of $648.3 million for SHL, net of cash acquired of $5.7 million. 

In 2014, we used $35.2 million for capital expenditures, primarily related to the deployment of new data centers, implemen-
tation of a new Content Management System, and a major upgrade to the SHL Talent Measurement segment’s assessment 
platform. In 2013, we used $27.0 million for capital expenditures primarily related to the build out of additional office space 
for our corporate headquarters and computer equipment to support infrastructure and headcount growth reflecting greater 
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overall needs for investment in infrastructure and product development due to the acquisition of SHL. In 2012, we used $17.5 
million for capital expenditures primarily related to equipment purchases to support infrastructure and headcount growth. 

We estimate that capital expenditures to support our infrastructure will range from approximately $32 to $34 million in 2015.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities 

Net cash flows used in financing activities was $77.7 million in 2014 and $64.8 million in 2013 compared to net cash provided 
by financing activities of $492.8 million in 2012. In 2014, the increase was primarily the result of increased share repurchases 
and increased dividend payments. In 2013, the decrease was primarily due to credit facility principal payments and increased 
dividend payments. In 2012, the increase was primarily due to the $555.0 million financing we obtained for the SHL acquisi-
tion, partially offset by credit facility issuance costs of $19.2 million and a $10.0 million repayment of outstanding amounts 
under the revolving credit facility in December 2012. Additionally, we used $29.2 million in 2014, $2.8 million in 2013, and 
$10.0 million in 2012 for share repurchases. Dividend payments increased to $35.3 million in 2014 from $30.2 million in 2013 
and $23.4 million in 2012. Our dividend rate was $0.2625 per share per quarter in 2014, $0.225 per share per quarter in 2013, 
and $0.175 per share per quarter in 2012. 

In February 2015, our Board of Directors declared a quarterly dividend of $0.375 per share for the first quarter of 2015. 

Commitments and Contingencies

We continue to evaluate potential tax exposures relating to sales and use, payroll, income and property tax laws, and regula-
tions for various states in which we sell or support our goods and services. Accruals for potential contingencies are recorded 
when it is probable that a liability has been incurred, and the liability can be reasonably estimated. As additional information 
becomes available, changes in the estimates of the liability are reported in the period that those changes occur. We had liabili-
ties of $4.5 million at December 31, 2014 and $5.8 million at December 31, 2013, respectively, relating to certain sales and use 
tax regulations for states in which we sell or support our goods and services. 

Contractual Obligations

In July 2014, we entered into a lease agreement to become the primary tenant of a new commercial building in Arlington, 
Virginia. The lease is for approximately 349,000 square feet and is estimated to commence in 2018 for a fifteen-year term. We 
currently expect to pay approximately $22 million per year beginning in 2018, subject to rental escalations and pro rata share 
of operating expenses and real estate taxes increase above the base year. In connection with the new lease, the lessor agreed 
to assume our previous obligations for one of our Arlington, Virginia locations. In the event the lessor fails to make required 
payments, as provided in the assignment agreement, we have the right to reduce our rental payments for the new Arlington, 
Virginia lease in the amount of the required payments associated with the assumed lease obligation. Based on the information 
available at December 31, 2014, the lease assignment is included in the sublease receipts amounts in the table below beginning 
in 2018 and thereafter. The Company will remain the primary obligor in case of default by the new lease lessor under this 
assumption. The new lease lessor may negotiate a sublease or settlement of the obligation it has assumed. If and when such 
sublease or settlement is negotiated, the Company would be required to recognize a loss on the sublease or settlement equal 
to the difference between the fair value of the sublease rentals (or in the event of settlement, the settlement payment) and the 
Company’s obligation under the lease. The new lease agreement provides us with various incentives, currently estimated to 
total approximately $56 million. We will accrue these lease incentives and recognize them on a straight-line basis over the 
term of the new Arlington, Virginia lease as a reduction of rent expense.

The following tables summarize our known contractual obligations, including the new Arlington, Virginia lease, at December 
31, 2014 and the effect such obligations are expected to have on our liquidity and cash flows in future periods (in thousands): 

Payments Due by Period at December 31, 2014

Total YE 2015 YE 2016 YE 2017 YE 2018 YE 2019 Thereafter

Senior Secured Credit Facilities (1) ........................ $ 557,650  $ 30,513  $ 35,020  $ 34,395  $ 457,722  $ —  $ —

Operating lease obligations ......................................  952,397   52,613   52,734   50,504   69,912   63,877   662,757

Deferred compensation liability ..............................  19,848   749   493   815   793   844   16,154

Purchase commitments ..............................................  32,414   17,165   9,495   4,774   690   290   — 

 Total ................................................................................. $ 1,562,309  $ 101,040  $ 97,742  $ 90,488  $ 529,117  $ 65,011  $ 678,911

Sublease Receipts by Period at December 31, 2014

Total YE 2015 YE 2016 YE 2017 YE 2018 YE 2019 Thereafter

Subleases receipts (2) ................................................. $ (308,033) $ (21,781) $ (22,308) $ (22,396) $ (28,452) $ (24,267) $ (188,829)
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(1) Includes interest expense calculated using variable interest rates at December 31, 2014 of 2.17% for the Term Loan A-1 
Facility and the Revolving Credit Facility and the impact of interest rate swaps. We may be required to make prepayments 
with the net cash proceeds of certain debt issuances, equity issuances, insurance receipts, dispositions and excess cash 
flows. The amounts presented in the tables above do not reflect any mandatory prepayments that we may be required to 
make. 

(2) Includes sublease receipts associated with the lease assignment agreement of approximately $6 million per year com-
mencing in 2018. 

Operating lease obligations include scheduled rent escalations. Purchase commitments primarily relate to information tech-
nology and infrastructure contracts. 

Not included in the table above are unrecognized tax benefits of $21.8 million. 

Effect of Inflation 

Although inflation has remained low in recent years, we continue to seek ways to mitigate its effect. To the extent permitted, 
we pass increased costs on to our members by increasing sales prices over time to offset increased labor costs. We do not be-
lieve that inflation had a material effect on our results of operations in 2014, 2013, or 2012. 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

At December 31, 2014 and 2013, we had no off-balance sheet financing or other arrangements with unconsolidated entities 
or financial partnerships (such as entities often referred to as structured finance or special purpose entities) established for 
purposes of facilitating off-balance sheet financing or other debt arrangements or for other contractually narrow or limited 
purposes. 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements 

See Note 3 to our consolidated financial statements for a description of recent accounting pronouncements. 
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QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

In the normal course of business, we are exposed to interest rate and foreign currency risks that could impact our financial 
position and operating results. 

Interest Rate Risk

Borrowings under the Senior Secured Credit Facilities bear interest at rates based on the ratio of our consolidated first lien 
indebtedness to the consolidated EBITDA (as defined in the Credit Agreement) for applicable periods specified in the Senior 
Secured Credit Agreement. The annual interest rate on the Term Loan A-1 Facility and the Revolving Credit Facility was 2.17% 
at December 31, 2014. A hypothetical increase or decrease of 10% in the LIBOR rate (which was 0.17% at December 31, 2014) 
would impact annual interest expense by $0.1 million. To mitigate the risk, we entered into interest rate swap arrangements 
in 2013 with notional amounts totaling $275 million which amortizes to $232 million through the August 2, 2018 maturity 
date of the Term A-1 Loan. The interest rate swap effectively fixes our interest payments on the hedged debt at approximately 
1.34% plus the credit spread on the Term A-1 Loan. The arrangements protect against adverse fluctuations in interest rates by 
reducing our exposure to variability in cash flows relating to interest payments on a portion of our outstanding debt. 

Additionally, we are exposed to interest rate risk through our portfolio of cash and cash equivalents, which is designed for 
safety of principal and liquidity. Cash and cash equivalents are primarily comprised of cash held in demand deposit accounts 
at various financial institutions. We perform periodic evaluations of the relative credit ratings related to cash and cash equiva-
lents. We currently do not use derivative financial instruments to adjust our portfolio risk or income profile. A hypothetical 
10% adverse movement in interest rates would not have a material impact on our operating results or cash flows. 

Foreign Currency Risk

Our international operations subject us to risks related to currency exchange fluctuations. The functional currency of our 
wholly-owned subsidiaries generally is the applicable local currency (except for CEB UK and CEB India). For these subsid-
iaries, the translation of their foreign currency into US dollars is performed for assets and liabilities using current foreign cur-
rency exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date and for revenue and expense accounts using average foreign currency 
exchange rates for the appropriate operating period. Capital accounts and other balances designated as long-tem in nature 
are translated at historical exchange rates. Translation gains and losses are included in stockholders’ equity as a component of 
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). Our SHL UK subsidiary currently maintains a significant portion of its cash 
balances in US dollars. As a result, the cash held in US dollars is re-measured into the subsidiary’s UK functional currency 
as an adjustment to income and then translated to our US dollar reporting currency as an adjustment to stockholders’ equity 
for consolidated reporting purposes. 

The functional currency of our CEB UK and CEB India subsidiaries is the US dollar. For these foreign subsidiaries, monetary 
balance sheet and related income statement accounts, representing amounts receivable or payable in a fixed number of foreign 
currency units regardless of changes in exchange rates, are re-measured at the current exchange rate, with exchange gains and 
losses recorded as other (expense) income. Non-monetary balance sheet items and related income statement accounts, which 
do not result in a fixed future cash inflow or outflow of foreign currency units, are re-measured at their historical exchange rates. 

Prior to 2012, prices for our CEB segment services were denominated primarily in US dollars, even when sold to members 
located outside the United States. In 2012, we began denominating prices for CEB segment services in local currencies for the 
Australian dollar, GBP, and Euro. The costs associated with our operations located outside the United States are denominated 
in local currencies. Decreases in local currencies against the US dollar for sales denominated in local currencies would result 
in lower revenues and potentially decrease earnings. Increases in local currencies against the US dollar in countries where we 
have foreign operations would result in higher operating costs and, potentially, reduced earnings. We use forward currency 
contracts, designated as cash flow hedging instruments, to protect against foreign currency exchange rate risks. A forward 
currency contract obligates us to exchange a predetermined amount of US dollars to make an equivalent GBP payment equal 
to the value of such exchange. The maximum length of time over which we hedge our exposure to the variability in future 
cash flows is 12 months. 

Our largest currency exposures are the GBP, Euro, and AUD. On operating basis, in 2014, we estimate that for every 1% in-
crease in US dollars per GBP, annual Adjusted EBITDA would have decreased by approximately $0.5 million. Conversely, for 
every 1% increase in US dollars per Euro or US dollars per AUD, annual Adjusted EBITDA would have increased by approxi-
mately $0.3 million, respectively. In 2014, we recorded net non-operating foreign currency gains of $8.6 million; in 2013 and 
2012 we recorded net non-operating foreign currency losses of $3.3 million and $1.3 million, respectively, which are included 
in Other (expense) income, net in the consolidated statements of operations.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report, including information incorporated into this document by reference, contains “forward-looking state-
ments” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, 
and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. All such forward-looking statements are based on management’s be-
liefs, current expectations and information currently available to management. These statements are contained throughout 
this Annual Report, including under the section entitled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and 
Results of Operations.” Forward-looking statements frequently contain words such as “believes,” “expects,” “anticipates,” 
“intends,” “plans,” “will,” “estimates,” “forecasts,”  “projects,” and other words of similar meaning. One can also identify for-
ward-looking statements by the fact that they do not relate strictly to historical or current facts, financial results or financial 
condition. Forward-looking statements include information concerning our possible or assumed results of operations, busi-
ness strategies, financing plans, competitive position, and potential growth opportunities. 

Forward-looking statements involve risks, uncertainties, and assumptions. Actual results may differ materially from those 
set forth in the forward-looking statements. One must carefully consider any such statement and should understand that 
many factors could cause actual results to differ materially from the forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause 
actual results to differ materially from those indicated by forward-looking statements include, among others, those discussed 
in this Annual Report under “Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates” and elsewhere in “Management’s Discussion and 
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” Additional uncertainties that could affect future results include 
general economic conditions and future financial performance of members and industries. One should understand that it is 
not possible to predict or identify all such factors. Consequently, the reader should not consider any such list to be a complete 
statement of all potential risks or uncertainties. All forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report are qualified 
by these cautionary statements and are made only as of the date this Annual Report is filed. We undertake no obligation, other 
than as required by law, to update or revise publicly any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, 
future events, or otherwise. 
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THE CORPORATE EXECUTIVE BOARD COMPANY  
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

(In Thousands, Except Share Amounts)
December 31,

 2014 2013

Assets
Current assets:

 Cash and cash equivalents .................................................................................................................................................................... $ 114,934  $ 119,554

 Accounts receivable, net ........................................................................................................................................................................ 283,069  271,264

 Deferred income taxes, net ................................................................................................................................................................... 19,834  17,524

 Deferred incentive compensation ...................................................................................................................................................... 25,779  24,472

 Prepaid expenses and other current assets ................................................................................................................................... 21,245  29,355

  Total current assets .............................................................................................................................................................................  464,861    462,169

Deferred income taxes, net ........................................................................................................................................................................ 909  1,230

Property and equipment, net .................................................................................................................................................................... 112,524  106,854

Goodwill ............................................................................................................................................................................................................. 441,207  442,775

Intangible assets, net .................................................................................................................................................................................... 260,383  309,692

Other noncurrent assets .............................................................................................................................................................................. 77,500  60,955

  Total assets ........................................................................................................................................................................................ $ 1,357,384   $ 1,383,675

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:

 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities ........................................................................................................................................ $ 89,696  $ 85,294

 Accrued incentive compensation ....................................................................................................................................................... 65,731  61,498

 Deferred revenue ...................................................................................................................................................................................... 452,679  416,367

 Deferred income taxes, net ................................................................................................................................................................... 190  969

 Debt—current portion ............................................................................................................................................................................. 15,269  10,274

  Total current liabilities........................................................................................................................................................................ 623,565    574,402

Deferred income taxes ................................................................................................................................................................................. 34,563  48,553

Other liabilities ................................................................................................................................................................................................ 122,832  115,424

Debt—long term ............................................................................................................................................................................................. 490,287  505,554

  Total liabilities ....................................................................................................................................................................................... 1,271,247    1,243,933

Stockholders’ equity:

 Common stock, par value $0.01; 100,000,000 shares authorized; 45,040,209 and 44,676,447 shares issued 
  and 33,445,394 and 33,624,002 shares outstanding at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively 450  447

 Additional paid-in-capital ...................................................................................................................................................................... 460,913  444,128

 Retained earnings ..................................................................................................................................................................................... 363,542  347,689

 Accumulated elements of other comprehensive income.......................................................................................................... (5,589)  43,287

 Treasury stock, at cost, 11,594,815 and 11,052,445 shares at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively ............... (733,179)   (695,809)

  Total stockholders’ equity ................................................................................................................................................................ 86,137    139,742

  Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity .................................................................................................................................... $ 1,357,384   $ 1,383,675

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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THE CORPORATE EXECUTIVE BOARD COMPANY  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 

(In Thousands, Except Per-Share Amounts)

Year Ended December 31,

 2014 2013 2012

Revenue ........................................................................................................................................................................ $ 908,974  $ 820,053  $ 622,654

Costs and expenses:          

 Cost of services .................................................................................................................................................... 323,633  294,576   223,766

 Member relations and marketing ................................................................................................................... 267,831  238,070   178,204

 General and administrative .............................................................................................................................. 111,085  102,530   73,629

 Acquisition related costs .................................................................................................................................. 2,964  11,477   24,529

 Impairment loss .................................................................................................................................................... 39,700 22,600 —

 Restructuring costs ............................................................................................................................................. 1,830 — —

 Depreciation and amortization ....................................................................................................................... 68,286  60,087   37,858

  Total costs and expenses ............................................................................................................................. 815,329   729,340   537,986

Operating profit ......................................................................................................................................................... 93,645   90,713   84,668

Other (expense) income, net:

 Interest income and other ................................................................................................................................ 10,030  (998)   1,834

 Interest expense ................................................................................................................................................... (18,410)  (22,586)   (11,882)

 Gain on cost method investment .................................................................................................................. 6,585 — — 

 Debt extinguishment costs .............................................................................................................................. — (6,691) — 

  Other (expense) income, net ..................................................................................................................... (1,795)   (30,275)   (10,048)

Income before provision for income taxes ...................................................................................................... 91,850  60,438   74,620

Provision for income taxes .................................................................................................................................... 40,678  28,467   37,569

Net income .................................................................................................................................................................. $ 51,172  $ 31,971  $ 37,051

Basic earnings per share ........................................................................................................................................ $ 1.52  $ 0.95  $ 1.11 

Diluted earnings per share .................................................................................................................................... $ 1.50  $ 0.94  $ 1.10 

Weighted average shares outstanding:         

 Basic .......................................................................................................................................................................... 33,666  33,543   33,462 

 Diluted ...................................................................................................................................................................... 34,039  33,943   33,821 

THE CORPORATE EXECUTIVE BOARD COMPANY  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

(In Thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

 2014 2013 2012

Net income .................................................................................................................................................................. $ 51,172  $ 31,971  $ 37,051 

Other comprehensive (loss) income:            

 Foreign currency translation adjustments ................................................................................................. (47,538)  14,761   26,871 

 Foreign currency hedge, net of tax benefit (expense) of $0.3 million, $(0.2) million and  
  $(0.1) million in 2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively ........................................................................... (380) 333 191

 Interest rate swaps, net of tax benefit (expense) of $0.6 million and $(0.4) million  
  in 2014 and 2013, respectively ................................................................................................................... (958)  528   —  

 Change in unrealized gains on available-for-sale marketable securities, net of tax .................. —  —   (174) 

Comprehensive income .......................................................................................................................................... $ 2,296  $ 47,593  $ 63,939

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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THE CORPORATE EXECUTIVE BOARD COMPANY  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

(In Thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

 2014 2013 2012

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income ............................................................................................................................................................................. $ 51,172 $ 31,971  $ 37,051 

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash flows provided by operating activities:       

 Impairment loss ............................................................................................................................................................... 39,700 22,600   —  

 Debt extinguishment costs ......................................................................................................................................... — 6,691 — 

 Exit costs ............................................................................................................................................................................ — 1,007 — 

 Restructuring costs ........................................................................................................................................................ 1,830 — — 

 Gain on cost method investment ............................................................................................................................. (6,585) — — 

 Depreciation and amortization .................................................................................................................................. 68,286 60,087   37,858 

 Amortization of credit facility issuance costs...................................................................................................... 2,614 2,775   1,771 

 Deferred income taxes .................................................................................................................................................. (21,394) (12,266)   (8,457) 

 Share-based compensation ........................................................................................................................................ 15,632 12,547   9,214 

 Excess tax benefits from share-based compensation arrangements......................................................... (3,665) (4,331)   (2,101) 

 Net foreign currency remeasurement (gain) loss .............................................................................................. (3,910) 1,474   229 

 Amortization of marketable securities premiums, net ..................................................................................... — —   68 

 Changes in operating assets and liabilities:       

  Accounts receivable, net ........................................................................................................................................ (12,482) (29,690)   (39,714) 

  Deferred incentive compensation ....................................................................................................................... (1,582) (4,343)   (2,644) 

  Prepaid expenses and other current assets .................................................................................................... 9,060 (8,173)   18,481 

  Other non-current assets ....................................................................................................................................... (4,784) (5,017)   (7,444) 

  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities ......................................................................................................... 3,034 10,228   405 

  Accrued incentive compensation ........................................................................................................................ 5,053 7,252   10,742 

  Deferred revenue ....................................................................................................................................................... 33,466 48,488   58,871 

  Other liabilities............................................................................................................................................................ 6,699 7,409   7,825 

   Net cash flows provided by operating activities ...................................................................................... 182,144  148,709   122,155 

Cash flows from investing activities:  

 Purchases of property and equipment ................................................................................................................... (35,201) (27,026)   (17,498)

 Cost method and other investments ....................................................................................................................... (8,567) (11,213)   —  

 Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired ................................................................................................. (58,902) —   (669,086)

 Maturities and sales of marketable securities ...................................................................................................... — —   10,254 

   Net cash flows used in investing activities ................................................................................................. (102,670)  (38,239)   (676,330) 

Cash flows from financing activities:  

 Proceeds from credit facility ...................................................................................................................................... — 5,000   555,000 

 Payments of credit facility .......................................................................................................................................... (10,752) (32,002)   (10,000) 

 Credit facility issuance costs ...................................................................................................................................... — (4,156)   (19,176) 

 Proceeds from the exercise of common stock options ................................................................................... — 1,098   1,423 

 Proceeds from issuance of common stock under the employee stock purchase plan ....................... 1,244 910   613 

 Excess tax benefits from share-based compensation arrangements......................................................... 3,665 4,331   2,101 

 Withholding of shares to satisfy minimum employee tax  
  withholding for restricted stock units ............................................................................................................... (7,332) (7,055)   (3,767) 

 Purchase of treasury shares........................................................................................................................................ (29,168) (2,751)   (10,007)

 Payment of dividends ................................................................................................................................................... (35,319) (30,189)   (23,403)

   Net cash flows (used in) provided by financing activities ................................................................... (77,662) (64,814)   492,784 

Effect of exchange rates on cash................................................................................................................................... (6,432) 1,199   661 

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents .......................................................................................... (4,620) 46,855   (60,730) 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year ......................................................................................................... 119,554 72,699   133,429 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year ...................................................................................................................... $ 114,934 $ 119,554  $ 72,699 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.



45

THE CORPORATE EXECUTIVE BOARD COMPANY  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Years Ended December 31, 2012, 2013, and 2014 
(In Thousands, Except Share Amounts)

Additional 
Paid-in-
Capital

Accumulated 
Elements 
of Other 

Comprehensive 
Income

Common Stock
Retained 
Earnings

Treasury 
Stock TotalShares Amount

Balance at December 31, 2011.................................................. 33,302,495 $ 439 $ 418,318 $ 332,259 $ 777 $ (672,229) $ 79,564

Issuance of common stock upon the exercise of 
stock options and release of restricted stock units ... 344,245   3   1,420   —    —    —    1,423 

Issuance of common stock under the employee 
stock purchase plan ............................................................... 19,420   —    613   —    —    —    613 

Share-based compensation ................................................... —    —    9,214   —    —    —    9,214 

Tax effect of share-based compensation ......................... —    —    (2,074)   —    —    —    (2,074) 

Purchase of treasury shares .................................................. (328,823)   —    —    —    —    (13,774)   (13,774) 

Change in unrealized gains on available-for-sale 
marketable securities, net of tax ...................................... —    — —   —    (174)   —    (174) 

Foreign currency hedge, net of tax .................................... —    —    —    —    191   —    191 

Cumulative translation adjustment ..................................... —    —    —    —    26,871   —    26,871 

Payment of dividends .............................................................. —    —    —    (23,403)   —    —    (23,403) 

Net income ................................................................................... —    —    —    37,051   —    —    37,051 

Balance at December 31, 2012................................................. 33,337,337  $ 442  $ 427,491  $ 345,907  $ 27,665  $(686,003)  $ 115,502 

Issuance of common stock upon the exercise of 
stock options and release of restricted stock units ... 436,146 5 1,093 — — — 1,098

Issuance of common stock under the employee 
stock purchase plan ............................................................... 19,616 — 910 — — — 910

Share-based compensation ................................................... — — 12,547 — — — 12,547

Tax effect of share-based compensation ......................... — — 2,087 — — — 2,087

Purchase of treasury shares .................................................. (169,097) — — — — (9,806) (9,806)

Foreign currency hedge, net of tax .................................... — — — — 333 — 333

Interest rate swap, net of tax ................................................ — — — — 528 — 528

Cumulative translation adjustment ..................................... — — — — 14,761 — 14,761

Payment of dividends .............................................................. — — — (30,189 ) — — (30,189)

Net income ................................................................................... — —  — 31,971 — — 31,971

Balance at December 31, 2013 ................................................ 33,624,002 $ 447 $ 444,128 $ 347,689 $ 43,287 $(695,809) $ 139,742

Issuance of common stock upon the exercise of 
stock options and release of restricted stock units ... 342,157 3 — — — — 3

Issuance of common stock under the employee 
stock purchase plan ............................................................... 21,605 — 1,244 — — — 1,244

Share-based compensation ................................................... — — 15,632 — — — 15,632

Tax effect of share-based compensation ......................... — — (91) — — — (91)

Purchase of treasury shares .................................................. (542,370) — — — — (37,370) (37,370)

Foreign currency hedge, net of tax .................................... — — — — (380) — (380)

Interest rate swap, net of tax ................................................ — — — — (958) — (958)

Cumulative translation adjustment ..................................... — — — — (47,538) — (47,538)

Payment of dividends .............................................................. — — — (35,319) — — (35,319)

Net income ................................................................................... — — — 51,172 — — 51,172

Balance at December 31, 2014 ................................................ 33,445,394 $ 450 $ 460,913 $ 363,542 $ (5,589) $(733,179) $ 86,137

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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THE CORPORATE EXECUTIVE BOARD COMPANY  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. Description of Operations

The Corporate Executive Board Company (“CEB” or the “Company”) is a member-based advisory company that equips 
senior executives and their teams with insight and actionable solutions to drive corporate performance by combining the best 
practices of thousands of member companies with proprietary research methodologies, benchmarking assets, and human 
capital analytics. This distinctive approach, pioneered by CEB, enables executives to harness peer perspectives and tap into 
breakthrough innovation without costly consulting or reinvention. On August 2, 2012, CEB completed the acquisition of SHL 
Group Holdings I and its subsidiaries (“SHL”), a global leader in cloud-based talent measurement and management solutions 
headquartered in the United Kingdom (“UK”). 

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All intercom-
pany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation. 

In the fourth quarter of 2014, the Company adjusted the classification of certain costs in the statement of operations within 
the SHL Talent Measurement segment. To conform to the current year presentation, the Company reclassified approximately 
$3.3 million and $2.0 million from Cost of services and Member relations and marketing, respectively, to General and admin-
istrative in 2013. Additionally, the Company reclassified the previously reported 2014 quarterly amounts. The reclassification 
did not have an impact on total costs and expenses or operating profit. 

Use of Estimates

The Company’s consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with US generally accepted accounting prin-
ciples (“GAAP”). These accounting principles require the Company to make certain estimates, judgments, and assumptions. 
The Company believes that the estimates, judgments, and assumptions upon which it relies are reasonable based on informa-
tion available to the Company at the time that these estimates, judgments, and assumptions are made. These estimates, judg-
ments, and assumptions may affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements as 
well as the reported amounts of revenue and expenses in the periods presented. To the extent there are material differences 
between these estimates, judgments, or assumptions and actual results, the Company’s financial statements will be affected. 

Foreign Currency

The functional currency of the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiaries is generally the applicable local currency (except for 
CEB UK and CEB India). For these subsidiaries, the translation of their foreign currency into US dollars is performed for 
assets and liabilities using current foreign currency exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date and for revenue and 
expense accounts using average foreign currency exchange rates for the appropriate operating period. Capital accounts and 
other balances designated as long-term in nature are translated at historical exchange rates. Translation gains and losses are 
included in stockholders’ equity as a component of Accumulated other comprehensive income. Adjustments that arise from 
foreign currency exchange rate changes on transactions denominated in a currency other than the local currency are includ-
ed in Other (expense) income, net in the consolidated statements of operations. The Company’s SHL UK subsidiary currently 
maintains a significant portion of its cash balances in US dollars. As a result, the cash held in US dollars is re-measured into 
the subsidiary’s UK functional currency through an adjustment to income and then translated to the Company’s US dollar 
reporting currency through an adjustment to stockholders’ equity for consolidated reporting purposes. 

The functional currency of the Company’s CEB UK and CEB India subsidiaries is the US dollar. For these foreign subsidiar-
ies, monetary balance sheet and related income statement accounts, representing amounts receivable or payable in a fixed 
number of foreign currency units regardless of changes in exchange rates, are re-measured at the current exchange rate, with 
exchange gains and losses recorded as Other (expense) income. Non-monetary balance sheet items and related income state-
ment accounts, which do not result in a fixed future cash inflow or outflow of foreign currency units, are re-measured at their 
historical exchange rates. 

The Company recorded $8.6 million of net non-operating foreign currency gains and $3.3 million and $1.3 million of net non-
operating foreign currency losses in 2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively, which are included in Other (expense) income, net in 
the consolidated statements of operations. 
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Cash and Cash Equivalents 

The Company’s cash and cash equivalents balance is primarily comprised of cash held in demand deposit accounts at various 
financial institutions. 

Allowance for Uncollectible Revenue

The Company records an allowance for uncollectible revenue, as a reduction in revenue, based on management’s analy-
sis and estimates as to the collectability of accounts receivable, which generally is the result of customer’s ability to pay. 
Revenue under membership agreements are generally recognized ratably over the membership period, typically 12 months. 
Accordingly, the estimated allowance for uncollectible revenue is recorded against the amount of revenue that has been 
recognized. Accounts receivable that has not been recognized as revenue is recorded in deferred revenue. As part of its 
analysis, the Company examines its collections history, the age of the receivables in question, any specific member collection 
issues that it has identified, general market conditions, member concentrations and current economic and industry trends. 
Membership fees receivable balances are not collateralized. 

Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment, net consists of furniture, fixtures and equipment, leasehold improvements, capitalized computer 
software, and website development costs. Property and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation. Furniture, 
fixtures and equipment are depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which 
range from three to seven years. Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter of 
the estimated useful lives of the assets or the lease term. Depreciation and amortization is recorded as a separate line item 
in the consolidated statements of operations and is not allocated to Cost of services, Member relations and Marketing, or 
General and administrative expenses. 

Computer software and website development costs that are incurred in the preliminary project and planning stages are ex-
pensed as incurred. During development, direct consulting costs and payroll and payroll-related costs for employees that 
are directly associated with each project are capitalized. Capitalized software and website development costs are depre-
ciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which range from three to five years. 
Replacements and major improvements are capitalized, while maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred. 

Business Combinations 

The Company records acquisitions using the acquisition method of accounting. All of the assets acquired, liabilities assumed, 
contractual contingencies, and contingent consideration, when applicable, are recorded at their fair value at the acquisition 
date. The application of the acquisition method of accounting requires management to make significant estimates and as-
sumptions in the determination of the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in order to allocate purchase price 
consideration. These estimates are inherently uncertain. In addition, unanticipated events and circumstances may occur 
which may affect the accuracy or validity of such estimates. 

Goodwill 

Goodwill is recorded when the purchase price for an acquisition exceeds the estimated fair value of the net tangible and 
identified intangible assets acquired. 

The Company tests goodwill for impairment annually on October 1st at the reporting unit level. If the reporting unit has 
significantly exceeded financial expectations and is expected to continue to do so, the Company’s annual impairment test is 
performed qualitatively. For all other reporting units, the first step of the goodwill impairment process (“Step 1”) is completed 
for each reporting unit which involves determining whether the estimated fair value of the reporting unit exceeds the respec-
tive book value. In performing Step 1 of the goodwill impairment test, management compares the carrying amount of the re-
porting unit to its estimated fair value. If the fair value exceeds the book value, goodwill of that reporting unit is not impaired. 
The estimated fair value of each reporting unit is calculated using one or both of the following generally accepted valuation 
techniques: the income approach (discounted cash flows) and the market approach (using market multiples derived from 
a set of companies with comparable market characteristics). The appropriate methodology is determined by management 
based on available information at the time of the test. In general, when both approaches are used, the estimated fair values 
are weighted. In general, the market approach is not weighted more than 50%. 

On a quarterly basis, the Company considers whether events or circumstances are present that may lead to the determination 
that an indicator of impairment exists. These circumstances include but are not limited to deterioration in key performance 
indicators or industry and market conditions. 
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Factors management considers important that could trigger an interim impairment review include, but are not limited to, the 
following: 

 ■ significant underperformance relative to historical or projected future operating results; 
 ■ significant change in the manner of the Company’s use of the acquired asset or the strategy for its overall business; 
 ■ significant change in prevailing interest rates; 
 ■ significant negative industry or economic trend; 
 ■ market capitalization relative to net book value; and/or 
 ■ significant negative change in market multiples of the comparable company set. 

If, based on events or changing circumstances, the Company determines it is more-likely-than-not that the fair value of a 
reporting unit does not exceed its carrying value, the Company would be required to test goodwill for impairment. If the Step 
1 results conclude that the fair value does not exceed the book value of the reporting unit, goodwill may be impaired and ad-
ditional analysis is required (“Step 2”). 

Step 2 of the goodwill impairment test compares the implied fair value of a reporting unit’s goodwill to its carrying value. The 
implied fair value of goodwill is derived by performing a hypothetical purchase price allocation for the reporting unit as of the 
measurement date, allocating the reporting unit’s estimated fair value to its assets and liabilities including any unrecognized 
intangible assets. The residual amount from performing this allocation represents the implied fair value of goodwill. To the 
extent this amount is below the carrying value of goodwill, an impairment loss is recorded. 

The process of evaluating the potential impairment of goodwill is highly subjective and requires significant judgment and 
estimates. CEB’s businesses operate in a number of markets and geographical regions and the products and services, because 
of their specialized nature, may not bear close correlation to those of the market comparable company set. The assumptions 
utilized in the evaluation of the impairment of goodwill under the market approach include the selection of comparable com-
panies, which are subject to change based on the economic characteristics of the reporting units. The assumptions utilized in 
the evaluation of the impairment of goodwill under the income approach include revenue growth rates, cash flows, EBITDA, 
tax rates, capital expenditures, the weighted average cost of capital (“WACC”) and related discount rate, and expected long-
term growth rates (residual growth rate). The assumptions which have the most significant effect on the valuations derived 
using a discounted cash flows methodology are: (1) revenue growth rate, (2) cash flow assumptions and (3) the discount 
rate. The assumptions utilized in the market approach include the selection of comparable companies, which are subject to 
change based on the economic characteristics of the reporting units. Revenue and EBITDA multiples for market comparable 
companies for the current and future fiscal periods are used to estimate the fair value of the reporting unit by applying those 
multiples to the projected financial information prepared by management. 

The cash flows utilized in the income approach are based on the most recent budgets, forecasts, and business plans as well 
as various growth rate assumptions for years beyond the current business plan period. Long-term growth rates represent 
the expected long-term growth rate for the reporting unit, considering the industry in which the Company operates and the 
global economy. Discount rate assumptions are based on an assessment of the risk inherent in the future revenue streams and 
cash flows and the WACC. The risk adjusted discount rate used represents the estimated WACC for the reporting units. The 
discount rate is comprised of (1) a risk free rate of return, (2) an equity risk premium that is based on the rate of return on 
equity of publicly traded companies with business characteristics comparable to the reporting units, (3) the current after-tax 
market rate of return on debt of companies with business characteristics similar to the reporting units, each weighted by the 
relative market value percentages of the Company’s equity and debt, and (4) an appropriate company specific risk premium. 

In the second quarter of 2014, the Company recognized a non-deductible impairment loss of $39.7 million associated with 
the PDRI reporting unit. Of this amount, $20.8 million related to the customer list intangible asset and $18.9 million related 
to goodwill. Refer to Notes 8 and 9 for further discussion. 

Intangible Assets, Net

Intangible assets consist of those assets that arise from business combinations consisting of customer relationships, intel-
lectual property, trade names, and software. These assets are being amortized on a straight-line basis over estimated useful 
lives of 2 to 20 years. 
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Recovery of Long-Lived Assets (Excluding Goodwill) 

Long-lived assets, including intangible assets, are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Such events may include, but not be limited to, unex-
pected customer turnover, technological obsolescence of software or intellectual property, or lower than expected operating 
performance of the products or services supporting these assets. The test for recoverability is made using an estimate of the 
undiscounted expected future cash flows and, if required, the impairment loss is measured as the amount that the carrying 
value of the asset exceeds the asset’s fair value if the asset is not recoverable. 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company’s financial instruments consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, investments held 
through variable insurance products in a Rabbi Trust for the Company’s deferred compensation plan, accounts payable, for-
ward currency contracts, interest rate swaps, and debt. The carrying value of these financial instruments approximates their 
fair value. The Company’s financial instruments also include various other investments in private entities which do not have 
readily determinable fair values because they are not actively traded. 

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized when (1) there is persuasive evidence of an arrangement, (2) the fee is fixed and determinable, (3) 
services have been rendered and payment has been contractually earned, and (4) collectability is reasonably assured. Certain 
fees are billed on an installment basis. 

When service offerings include multiple deliverables that qualify as separate units of accounting, the Company allocates ar-
rangement consideration at the inception of the contract period to all deliverables based on the relative selling price method 
in accordance with the selling price hierarchy, which includes vendor specific objective evidence (“VSOE”) if available; third-
party evidence (“TPE”) if VSOE is not available; or best estimate of selling price (“BESP”) if neither VSOE nor TPE is available. 

 ■ VSOE. The Company determines VSOE based on established pricing and discounting practices for the specific ser-
vice when sold separately. In determining VSOE, the Company requires that a substantial majority of the selling 
prices for these services fall within a reasonably narrow pricing range. The Company limits its assessment of VSOE 
for each element to either the price charged when the same element is sold separately, or the price established by 
management having the relevant authority to do so for an element not yet sold separately. 

 ■ TPE. When VSOE cannot be established for deliverables in multiple element arrangements, the Company applies 
judgment with respect to whether a selling price can be established based on TPE, which is determined based on 
competitor prices for similar offerings when sold separately. Generally, CEB services contain a significant level 
of differentiation such that the comparable pricing of services with similar functionality cannot be obtained. 
Furthermore, the Company is unable to reliably determine what similar competitors’ selling prices are for similar 
offerings on a stand-alone basis. As a result, the Company generally has not been able to establish selling price based 
on TPE. 

 ■ BESP. When unable to establish a selling price using VSOE or TPE, BESP is used in the allocation of arrangement 
consideration. The objective of BESP is to determine the price at which the Company would transact a sale if the 
product or service were sold on a stand-alone basis. BESP is determined for deliverables by considering multiple 
factors including, but not limited to, prices charged for similar offerings, market conditions, competitive landscape, 
and pricing practices. BESP is the measure used to allocate arrangement consideration for the majority of multiple 
deliverable arrangements. 

The CEB segment generates the majority of its revenue from four primary service offerings: executive memberships, pro-
fessional services, executive education, and services provided to the US government and its agencies by PDRI. Revenue is 
recognized as follows: 

 ■ Executive membership revenue is primarily recognized on a ratable basis over the membership period, which is 
typically twelve months. In general, the majority of the deliverables within the Company’s memberships are consis-
tently available throughout the membership period. Membership fees are billable, and revenue recognition begins, 
when a member agrees to the terms of the membership. The fees receivable and the related deferred revenue are re-
corded upon the commencement of the agreement or collection of fees, if earlier. In some instances, a membership 
may include a service that is available only once, or on a limited basis, during the membership period. These services 
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are separated from the remainder of the membership and arrangement consideration is allocated based principally 
on BESP. The consideration allocated to services available only once or on a limited basis is recognized as revenue 
upon the earlier of the delivery of the service or the completion of the contract period, provided that all other cri-
teria for recognition have been met. The arrangement consideration allocated to the remainder of the membership 
services continues to be recognized ratably. 

 ■ Professional services revenue in the Human Resources sector is generally recognized ratably from the date services 
begin, which is primarily after the design of the service outputs, through the completion of the services. Professional 
services in the Sales sector is generally comprised of multiple element arrangements whereby arrangement consid-
eration is allocated based principally on BESP and revenue for each unit of accounting is generally recognized as 
services are completed. 

 ■ Executive education revenue is recognized as services are completed. The service offering generally includes one 
or more classroom-based training or presentation events. If more than one delivery date is evident, arrangement 
consideration is allocated on a pro-rata basis and revenue is recognized on the delivery date of each event. 

 ■ PDRI’s primary customer is the US government and its agencies. Additionally, PDRI is expanding into the commer-
cial market and is a subcontractor to other companies supporting the US government. Agreements with customers 
are: fixed firm price (“FFP”), time and material (“T&M”), license or FFP level of effort. Revenue from FFP projects 
is recognized based on costs incurred compared to estimated costs at completion, resulting in percentage complete 
of the total contract value. Revenue on T&M projects is recognized based on total number of hours by labor category 
and negotiated contract rate plus any additional other direct costs. Revenue for licenses or subscriptions of IT prod-
ucts or platforms is recognized proportionately over the license period. For FFP level of effort projects, revenue is 
based on negotiated fixed rates of labor or deliverables, not to exceed the total contract FFP value. When customer 
orders represent multiple element arrangements, consideration is allocated to units of accounting based on BESP. 

The SHL Talent Measurement segment generates the majority of its revenue from the sale of access to its cloud based as-
sessment platforms. Access to the platforms is either sold as a subscription basis or for a set number of assessments. SHL 
also provides consulting services including fully outsourced assessment services. The SHL segment allocates arrangement 
consideration to the appropriate units of accounting based on BESP when sales to customers qualify as multiple element ar-
rangements. Revenue is recognized as follows: 

 ■ Revenue from subscription contracts is recognized ratably over the life of the contract. Revenue from agreements 
with a specified number of assessments is recognized upon usage, irrespective of whether the units are billed in 
advance or arrears. 

 ■ Consulting arrangements generally include a measured amount of consulting effort to be performed. Revenue is 
recognized on a proportional performance basis based upon the level of effort completed through the end of each 
accounting period. 

 ■ Training revenue is recognized upon delivery. 
 ■ Outsourced assessment revenue from assessment projects is recognized as services are completed. 

Deferred Incentive Compensation

Direct incentive compensation paid to the Company’s employees related to the negotiation of new and renewal customer ar-
rangements is deferred and amortized over the term of the related arrangements as revenue is recognized. 

Operating Leases

The Company has non-cancelable operating lease agreements for its offices with lease periods expiring between 2015 and 
2032. The Company is committed to pay a portion of the related operating expenses and real estate taxes under these lease 
agreements. The Company recognizes rent expense under operating leases on a straight-line basis over the non-cancelable 
term of the lease, including free-rent periods and lease escalations. Lease incentives, relating to allowances provided by land-
lords, are amortized over the term of the lease as a reduction of rent expense. The Company recognizes sublease income on 
a straight-line basis over the term of the sublease, including free rent periods and escalations, as a reduction of rent expense. 
Costs associated with acquiring a subtenant, including broker commissions and tenant allowances, are amortized over the 
sublease term as a reduction of sublease income. 
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Share-Based Compensation

The Company has several share-based compensation plans. These plans provide for the granting of restricted stock, restrict-
ed stock units (“RSUs”), performance share awards (“PSAs”), stock appreciation rights (“SARs”), stock options, deferred 
stock units, and incentive bonuses to employees, directors, and consultants. Share-based compensation expense is measured 
at the grant date of the share-based awards based on their fair value and is recognized on a straight-line basis over the vesting 
periods, net of an estimated forfeiture rate. 

The grant date fair value of RSUs and PSAs, which are not entitled to receive dividends until vested, is measured by reduc-
ing the share price at that date by the present value of the dividends expected to be paid during the requisite vesting period. 
Determining the fair value of share-based awards is judgmental in nature and involves the use of significant estimates and 
assumptions, including the term of the share-based awards, risk-free interest rates over the vesting period, expected dividend 
rates, the price volatility of the Company’s stock and estimated forfeiture rates of the awards. Forfeiture rate estimates are 
based on assumptions the Company believes to be reasonable. Actual future results may differ from those estimates.

Advertising Expense

The costs of designing and preparing advertising material are recognized throughout the production process. Communication 
costs, including magazine and newspaper space, radio time, and distribution, are recognized when the communication takes 
place. Advertising expense was $1.3 million, $0.8 million, and $0.3 million in 2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively. 

Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on temporary differences between the financial reporting basis and 
the tax basis of assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets are also recognized for tax net operating loss carryforwards. These 
deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when such amounts 
are expected to reverse or be utilized. A valuation allowance is provided to reduce such deferred tax assets to amounts more 
likely than not to be ultimately realized. 

Income tax benefits are recognized when, based on the technical merits of a tax position, the Company believes that if a 
dispute arose with the taxing authority and were taken to a court of last resort, it is more likely than not (i.e. a probability of 
greater than 50%) that the tax position would be sustained as filed. If a position is determined to be more likely than not of 
being sustained, the Company recognizes the largest amount of tax benefit that is greater than 50% likely of being realized 
upon ultimate settlement with the taxing authority. The Company classifies interest and penalties related to the unrecog-
nized tax benefits in its income tax provision. 

Acquisition Related Costs 

Acquisition related costs represent transaction and integration costs incurred in connection with acquired companies. 
Integration costs primarily include branding, consolidation of office locations and associated exit costs, and consolidation of 
technology infrastructure. 

Concentration of Credit Risk and Sources of Revenue

Financial instruments, which potentially expose the Company to concentration of credit risk, consist primarily of accounts 
receivable and cash and cash equivalents. Concentration of credit risk with respect to accounts receivable is limited due to 
the large number of members and customers and their dispersion across many different industries and countries worldwide. 
However, the Company may be exposed to a declining customer base in periods of unforeseen market downturns, severe 
competition, or international developments. The Company performs periodic evaluations of the customer base and related 
receivables and establishes allowances for potential credit losses. 

The Company’s international operations subject it to risks related to currency exchange fluctuations. Prices for the CEB seg-
ment products and services are primarily denominated in US dollars; however, the Company began offering foreign currency 
billing in 2012 to certain members outside the United States. Many of the costs associated with the CEB segment’s operations 
located outside the United States are denominated in local currencies. Prices for the SHL Talent Measurement segment are 
denominated in the currency of the country of sale and are principally denominated in British Pound Sterling, Euro, the US 
dollar and the Australian dollar. Most of the costs associated with the SHL Talent Measurement segment’s operations are 
based in the United Kingdom and are denominated in British Pound Sterling. 

The Company uses forward contracts, designated as cash flow hedging instruments, to protect against foreign currency 
exchange rate risks. A forward contract locks in a current foreign currency exchange rate at which the foreign currency 
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transaction will occur at the future date. The maximum length of time over which the Company hedges its exposure to the 
variability in future cash flows is 12 months. 

The Company maintains a portfolio of cash and cash equivalents which is designed for safety of principal and liquidity. 
The Company performs periodic evaluations of the relative credit ratings related to the financial institutions holding the 
Company’s cash and cash equivalents.

Earnings per Share

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income by the number of weighted average common shares outstand-
ing during the period. Diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing net income by the number of weighted average 
common shares outstanding during the period increased by the dilutive effect of potential common shares outstanding during 
the period. The number of potential common shares outstanding has been determined in accordance with the treasury stock 
method to the extent they are dilutive. Common share equivalents consist of common shares issuable upon the exercise of 
outstanding share-based compensation awards. A reconciliation of basic to diluted weighted average common shares out-
standing is as follows (in thousands): 

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012

Basic weighted average shares outstanding .................................................................................................... 33,666   33,543   33,462 

Effect of dilutive shares outstanding ..................................................................................................................  373   400   359 

Diluted weighted average shares outstanding ................................................................................................ 34,039   33,943   33,821 

In 2013 and 2012, 0.4 million and 0.8 million shares, respectively, related to share-based compensation awards were excluded 
from the calculation of the effect of dilutive shares outstanding shown above because their impact would be anti-dilutive. 

Note 3. Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Not yet adopted 

In August 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2014-15, 
Presentation of Financial Statements – Going Concern (Subtopic 205-40). This ASU requires management to assess an en-
tity’s ability to continue as a going concern by incorporating and expanding upon certain principles that are currently in US 
auditing standards. It requires an assessment for a period of one year after the date that the financial statements are issued. 
Further, based on certain conditions and circumstances, additional disclosures may be required. This ASU is effective begin-
ning with the first annual period ending after December 15, 2016, and for all annual and interim periods thereafter. Early ap-
plication is permitted. The Company does not expect this ASU will have an impact on the Company’s consolidated financial 
statements or related disclosures. 

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606). The ASU is the result of 
joint efforts by the FASB and International Accounting Standards Board to develop a common revenue standard for GAAP 
and International Financial Reporting Standards. This ASU provides a more robust framework for addressing revenue issues, 
improves comparability of revenue recognition practices across entities, industries, jurisdictions, and capital markets, and 
changes disclosure requirements. Under this ASU, an entity will recognize revenue when it transfers promised goods or 
services to customers in an amount that reflects what it expects in exchange for the goods or services. It also requires more 
detailed disclosures to enable users of financial statements to understand the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of reve-
nue and cash flows arising from contracts with customers. This ASU is effective for annual periods beginning after December 
15, 2016, including interim periods within that reporting period, and may be adopted either retrospectively or on a modified 
retrospective basis whereby the new standard would be applied to new contracts and existing contracts with remaining 
performance obligations as of the effective date, with a cumulative catch-up adjustment recorded to beginning retained earn-
ings at the effective date for existing contracts with remaining performance obligations. Early adoption is not permitted. 
The Company is in the process of evaluating the methods of adoption allowed by the ASU and assessing its impact on the 
Company’s consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

Note 4. Acquisitions

KnowledgeAdvisors

On February 28, 2014, the Company completed the acquisition of 100% of the equity interests of KnowledgeAdvisors, Inc. 
(“Metrics That Matter”). The purchase price, net of cash acquired, was $50.9 million. Metrics That Matter is a provider 
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of analytics solutions for talent development professionals. Metrics That Matter analytics platform provides benchmarks 
that gauge the effectiveness of learning and development programs and allows Chief Human Resources Officers and Chief 
Learning Officers to improve employee competencies and generate stronger returns on talent investments. 

Based on the fair value of the acquired assets and assumed liabilities as of the acquisition date, the Company allocated $24.0 
million to amortizable intangible assets, consisting of customer relationships, acquired intellectual property, trade names, 
and software, with a weighted average amortization period of 4 years and $37.3 million to goodwill related primarily to work-
force and expected revenue and cost synergies. Goodwill and intangible assets are not deductible for tax purposes. As a result, 
the Company recorded a deferred tax liability of $9.6 million related to the difference in the book and tax basis of identifiable 
intangible assets and a $3.1 million deferred tax asset related to net operating loss carryforwards. Deferred revenue at the 
acquisition date was recorded at fair value, which resulted in a $3.6 million reduction of the pre-acquisition basis of deferred 
revenue. When the services to which the deferred revenue relates were rendered in 2014, revenue recognized for these ser-
vices was $3.6 million lower as a result of this purchase accounting adjustment. The Company is in the process of finalizing its 
evaluation of the fair value of acquired assets and liabilities; therefore, the final allocation of the purchase price has not been 
completed. The allocation of the purchase price will be finalized by February 28, 2015. 

The operating results of Metrics That Matter have been included in the CEB segment since the date of the acquisition and 
are not considered material to the Company’s consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, pro forma financial information 
has not been presented. 

Talent Neuron 

On January 14, 2014, the Company acquired the Talent Neuron platform from Zinnov LLC for a cash payment of approxi-
mately $8.0 million. The Talent Neuron platform is a web-based solution started in 2011 that provides global talent market in-
telligence data, software, and decision support to assist executives with key talent planning activities. The Company allocated 
$1.7 million to intangible assets, consisting of acquired intellectual property and software, with a weighted average amortiza-
tion period of 3 years and $6.3 million to goodwill which is deductible for tax purposes. The allocation of the purchase price 
is now final. The operating results of Talent Neuron have been included in the CEB segment since the date of the acquisition 
and are not considered material to the Company’s consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, pro forma financial infor-
mation has not been presented. 

SHL 

On August 2, 2012, the Company completed the acquisition of 100% of the equity interests of SHL pursuant to a sale and 
purchase agreement entered into on July 2, 2012. The acquisition significantly expanded the addressable market of both 
companies through an increased global presence across major developed and emerging markets, enhancing the Company’s 
ability to scale and extend its existing platform with technology-driven solutions. 

The purchase price was approximately $654 million in cash. The Company used borrowings under a senior secured credit 
facility and approximately $121 million of its available cash on hand to fund the purchase price. Transaction costs incurred by 
CEB and SHL were $19.3 million, including a $5.1 million settlement of the currency forward contract that the Company put 
in place on July 2, 2012 to hedge its obligation to pay a portion of the purchase price in GBP. 
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Under the acquisition method of accounting, the total purchase price was allocated to SHL’s tangible assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values on the acquisition date. The following table is a reconciliation of the 
preliminary purchase price allocation at December 31, 2012 to the final purchase price allocation based on the final fair value 
of the acquired assets and assumed liabilities at the acquisition date (in thousands): 

Preliminary Adjustments Final

Cash and cash equivalents ...................................................................................................................................... $ 5,748 $  — $  5,748 

Accounts receivable ................................................................................................................................................... 42,026 — 42,026

Other current assets .................................................................................................................................................. 12,590 1,665 14,255

Property and equipment .......................................................................................................................................... 12,741 — 12,741

Other non-current assets ......................................................................................................................................... 1,624 (1,581) 43

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities .......................................................................................................... (37,224) 9,663 (27,561)

Deferred income taxes, net ..................................................................................................................................... (93,898) 5,054 (88,844)

Deferred revenue ........................................................................................................................................................ (21,070) — (21,070)

Other liabilities ............................................................................................................................................................. (5,545) (2,557) (8,102)

 Net tangible liabilities assumed .......................................................................................................................... (83,008) (70,764)

Intangible assets acquired

 Customer relationships .......................................................................................................................................... 166,100 — 166,100

 Acquired intellectual property ............................................................................................................................ 96,600 — 96,600

 Trade names ............................................................................................................................................................... 60,500 — 60,500

Goodwill ..........................................................................................................................................................................  413,808   (12,244)   401,564 

Total purchase price allocation .............................................................................................................................. $ 654,000     $ 654,000 

In 2013, the Company adjusted its preliminary valuation of the acquired assets and liabilities assumed based upon new in-
formation pertaining to acquisition date fair value and for the correction of errors in income taxes payable and goodwill. 
The total adjustment to goodwill included in the table above was $12.2 million. Of this amount, approximately $10.9 million 
related to the correction of errors (see Note 8). The adjustments primarily relate to the remeasurement and correction of 
certain domestic and statutory tax liabilities and valuation of deferred tax assets attributable to SHL at the time of acquisi-
tion. Based on qualitative and quantitative factors considered, the Company deemed the adjustments to be immaterial to the 
overall consolidated financial statements. Thus, the consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2012 was not retrospectively 
adjusted to include the effect of the measurement period adjustments. The allocation of the purchase price was finalized at 
December 31, 2013. 

Goodwill and intangible assets are not deductible for tax purposes. As a result, the Company recorded a deferred tax liabil-
ity of $90.1 million related to the difference in the book and tax basis of identifiable intangible assets. The final allocation of 
goodwill by reportable segment was $348.0 million to SHL Talent Measurement and $53.6 million to PDRI (included in the 
CEB segment) before the 2014 and 2013 PDRI goodwill impairments (see Note 8). 

Customer relationships will be amortized over ten to fifteen years, acquired intellectual property will be amortized over 
seven to fifteen years, and trade names will be amortized over three to fifteen years. The estimated aggregate amortization 
expense relating to SHL Talent Measurement and PDRI intangible assets for each of the succeeding five years ended 2015 
through 2019 is $25.1 million, $23.1 million, $23.1 million, $23.1 million, and $20.3 million, respectively, and $118.6 million 
thereafter after giving effect for the 2014 PDRI impairment (see Note 9). 

Deferred revenue at the acquisition date was recorded at fair value based on the estimated cost to provide the related services 
plus a reasonable profit margin on such costs. The reduction in deferred revenue from SHL’s historical cost to fair value re-
corded as part of the purchase accounting adjustments at the acquisition date was $34 million. Of this amount, $17.1 million, 
$9.9 million, and $2.5 million would have been recognized as revenue in 2012, 2013, and 2014, respectively, if not written down 
in purchase accounting. The remaining $4.5 million would have been recognized as revenue primarily in 2015 if not written 
down in purchase accounting. 

The Company utilized a third-party valuation in determining the fair value of the definite-lived intangible assets. The income 
approach, which includes the application of the relief from royalty valuation method, was the primary technique utilized in 
valuing the identifiable intangible assets. The relief from royalty valuation method estimates the benefit of ownership of the 
intangible asset as the “relief” from the royalty expense that would need to be incurred in absence of ownership. The multi-
period excess earnings method estimates the present value of the intangible asset’s future economic benefit, utilizing the 
estimated available cash flows that the intangible asset is expected to generate in the future. The Company’s assumptions and 
estimates utilized in its valuations were based on historical experience and information obtained from SHL management.
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Pro Forma Financial Information 

The following unaudited pro forma financial information summarizes the Company’s operating results as if the SHL acqui-
sition had been completed on January 1, 2011. The pro forma financial information includes the impact of fair value adjust-
ments, including a $35 million deferred revenue fair value adjustment (at the acquisition date exchange rate) on revenue rec-
ognized, amortization expense from acquired intangible assets, interest expense, and the related tax effects. In preparing the 
pro forma financial information, the Company assumed that $27 million of the deferred revenue fair value adjustment would 
be recognized in 2011 and $8 million would be recognized in 2012. In addition, Acquisition and related costs are presented in 
2011 assuming the acquisition took place on January 1, 2011. Accordingly, the following unaudited pro forma amounts do not 
purport to be indicative of the results that would have actually been obtained if the acquisition occurred on January 1, 2011 
and should not be construed as representative of the future consolidated results of operations or financial condition of the 
combined entity (Unaudited and in thousands): 

 Year Ended December 31,

 2012 2011

Pro forma revenue .......................................................................................................................................................................... $ 753,442 $ 661,358

Pro forma net income .................................................................................................................................................................... $ 53,274 $ 41,756

Valtera 

In February 2012, the Company completed the acquisition of Valtera Corporation (“Valtera”), a talent management company 
that provides tools and services to assist organizations in hiring, engaging, and developing talent. The Company acquired 
100% of the equity interests for a cash payment of $22.4 million less cash acquired of $1.9 million. The Company allocated $8.8 
million to intangible assets with a weighted average amortization period of 6 years and $11.4 million to goodwill. The operat-
ing results of Valtera have been included in the CEB segment since the date of the acquisition and are not considered material 
to the Company’s consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, pro forma financial information has not been presented. 

Other Investments 

The Company made an additional investment totaling $4.8 million in one of its existing private entity investments (Target 
Account Selling Group Limited, or “TAS”) in 2014. As a result, at December 31, 2014, the Company had approximately a 20% 
equity ownership in TAS. The Company concluded that based on the increased size of the investment, it is able to exercise 
influence. As such, the Company has accounted for its investment using the equity method of accounting. At December 31, 
2014 and 2013, the aggregate carrying amount of $7.5 million and $2.7 million, respectively, was included in Other non-current 
assets in the consolidated balance sheets. 

Additionally, in 2014, the Company exchanged its investment in preferred stock of PayScale, Inc. for common shares of 
PayScale Holdings, Inc. as part of the acquisition of PayScale, Inc. by a third party. As such, the Company adjusted its cost-
method investment carrying amount to fair value at the exchange date, which resulted in a $6.6 million non-cash gain in 2014. 
The fair value of the common shares received was measured at the price paid for shares of the same class by new investors in 
PayScale Holdings, Inc. 

At December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the Company held a total of five investments in private entities with an ag-
gregate carrying amount of $26.0 million and $14.6 million, respectively, included in Other non-current assets in the consoli-
dated balance sheets. The cost method is used for four of these investments, as the Company either holds instruments that are 
other than common stock or in-substance common stock and do not have readily determinable fair values or where common 
stock or in-substance common stock is held, the Company believes that due to the size and nature of the investments, it is not 
able to exercise significant influence on the investee entities. These investments are carried at their original cost and evalu-
ated each reporting period as to whether an event or change in circumstances has occurred in that period that may have an 
adverse effect on the net realizable value of the assets. Because the investee entities are private companies without exchange 
traded securities, the fair value of the underlying investment is not practicable to estimate. The equity method is used for the 
TAS investment. 

In 2014, the Company purchased a $2.6 million senior subordinated convertible promissory note (the “Convertible Note”) 
from one of its existing private entity investments. The Convertible Note matures on August 12, 2018 and bears annual interest 
of 8%. The Company has the right to elect to convert the outstanding principal and unpaid accrued interest to common shares 
of the investee at any time on or prior to the maturity date. Further, the Convertible Note provides an automatic conversion 
to preferred shares upon the investee’s equity financing event. The Company has bifurcated the automatic conversion feature 
since it represents an embedded derivative. The Company has accounted for the Convertible Note as an available-for-sale 
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security. The fair value of the Convertible Note and the bifurcated automatic conversion feature of approximately $2.6 mil-
lion are included in Other non-current assets in the consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2014. 

Note 5. Fair Value Measurements 

Measurements 

Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in 
the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at 
the measurement date. There is a three-level fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value. This 
hierarchy requires entities to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The three 
levels of inputs used to measure fair value are as follows: 

 ■ Level 1—Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
 ■ Level 2—Observable inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1, such as quoted prices for similar 

assets and liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets and liabilities in markets 
that are not active, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data. 

 ■ Level 3—Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the 
fair value of the assets or liabilities. This includes certain pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies, 
and similar techniques that use significant unobservable inputs. 

The Company has segregated all assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis into the most ap-
propriate level within the fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used to determine the fair value at the measurement date 
in the tables below (in thousands): 

December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents .............................................. $ 114,934   $ —   $ — $ 119,554 $ — $ —  

Investments held through variable insurance 
products in a Rabbi Trust .............................................. —    19,357    — — 16,975 —  

Forward currency exchange contracts ....................... —    —    — — 761 —

Interest rate swaps ............................................................. — — — — 880 —

Available-for-sale securities ............................................ — — 2,643 — — —

Financial liabilities          

Forward currency exchange contracts ....................... —   23   — — — —

Interest rate swaps ............................................................. — 717 — — — —

Investments held through variable insurance products in a Rabbi Trust consist of mutual funds available only to institutional 
investors. The fair value of these investments are based on the fair value of the underlying investments held by the mutual 
funds allocated to each share of the mutual fund using a net asset value approach. The fair value of the underlying invest-
ments held by the mutual funds are observable inputs. The fair value of foreign currency exchange contracts and interest rate 
swaps are based on bank quotations for similar instruments using models with market-based inputs. 

Available-for-sale securities represent the Convertible Note and related embedded derivative acquired by the Company in 
2014 (see Note 4). The Company utilized various unobservable inputs, including the underlying stock price of the underlying 
company, interest rate trends, and probability of future conversions, to determine the fair value. 

The changes to the fair values classified within Level 3 were, as follows (in thousands): 

Beginning of year ................................................................................................................................................................................................ $ —

Available-for-sale securities acquired ......................................................................................................................................................... 2,643

Total gains recognized ...................................................................................................................................................................................... —

End of year ............................................................................................................................................................................................................ $ 2,643

Certain assets, such as goodwill and intangible assets, and liabilities are measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis; that 
is, the assets and liabilities are not measured at fair value on an ongoing basis but are subject to fair value adjustments in 
certain circumstances (e.g., when there is impairment). The Company recorded fair value adjustments relating to the PDRI 
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reporting unit goodwill impairment in 2014 (see Note 8). Any such fair value measurements would be included in the Level 
3 fair value hierarchy.

Note 6. Accounts Receivable, Net 

Accounts receivable, net consisted of the following (in thousands): 
December 31,

2014 2013

Billed .............................................................................................................................................................................. $ 203,575  $ 199,327

Unbilled ......................................................................................................................................................................... 81,707   74,033

285,282   273,360 

Allowance for uncollectible revenue ................................................................................................................. (2,213)   (2,096) 

 Total accounts receivable, net ........................................................................................................................... $ 283,069  $ 271,264

Note 7. Property and Equipment, Net 

Property and equipment, net consisted of the following (in thousands): 
December 31,

2014 2013

Furniture, fixtures, and equipment ..................................................................................................................... $ 66,684  $ 76,438

Leasehold improvements ....................................................................................................................................... 96,254   93,391

Computer software and website development costs ................................................................................. 74,059   58,149

236,997   227,978 

Accumulated depreciation .................................................................................................................................... (124,473)   (121,124) 

 Total property and equipment, net ................................................................................................................. $ 112,524  $ 106,854

Computer software and website development costs include the development of member facing websites that the Company 
uses to deliver research and advisory tools to customers. The net book value of these assets was $29.5 million and $23.8 mil-
lion at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. Depreciation expense for internally developed capitalized website develop-
ment and internal use software was $10.2 million, $7.4 million, and $5.4 million in 2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively. Total 
depreciation expense was $29.4 million, $25.2 million, and $19.6 million in 2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively. 

Note 8. Goodwill 

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill were as follows (in thousands): 

December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013

CEB 
segment 

SHL Talent 
Measurement 

segment Total 
CEB 

segment 

SHL Talent 
Measurement 

segment Total 

Gross goodwill, beginning of year ................................ $ 93,719   $ 371,656   $ 465,375 $ 94,286 $ 377,013 $ 471,299  

Goodwill acquired ............................................................... 43,584    —    43,584 — — —  

Purchase accounting adjustments ............................... (2,479)   —    (2,479) (422) (11,822) (12,244)

Impact of foreign currency.............................................. (101) (23,672) (23,773) (145) 6,465 6,320

Gross goodwill, end of year ............................................ 134,723 347,984 482,707 93,719 371,656 465,375

Accumulated impairment loss, beginning of year .. (22,600) — (22,600) — — —

Impairment loss ................................................................... (18,900) — (18,900) (22,600) — (22,600)

Accumulated impairment loss, end of year .............. (41,500) — (41,500) (22,600) — (22,600)

Net goodwill, end of year ................................................ $ 93,223 $ 347,984 $ 441,207 $ 71,119 $ 371,656 $ 442,775

The 2013 purchase accounting adjustments in the table above include $10.9 million related to the correction of errors in the 
SHL (including PDRI) acquisition date balance sheets. The adjustments primarily relate to the remeasurement and correc-
tion of certain domestic and statutory tax liabilities and valuation of deferred tax assets attributable to SHL at the time of the 
acquisition. The resulting $10.9 million goodwill decrease was recorded in the fourth quarter of 2013. The purchase account-
ing adjustments in the above table were calculated using the acquisition date foreign currency exchange rate. These errors 
were deemed immaterial based on the consideration of quantitative and qualitative factors. 
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Goodwill for certain of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries is recorded in their functional currency, which is their local cur-
rency, and therefore is subject to foreign currency translation adjustments.

PDRI Goodwill 

During the quarter ended June 30, 2014, the Company recorded an impairment loss of $39.7 million. Of this amount, $20.8 
million related to the customer list intangible asset and $18.9 million related to the goodwill of the PDRI reporting unit. This 
loss did not impact the Company’s liquidity position or cash flows. 

Management identified indicators of potential impairment at June 30, 2014 through reviews of sales and operating results for 
the year-to-date period and consideration of additional insights into the impact of the current government contracting envi-
ronment. Management had gained insights from sales proposals submitted to the US Federal government that would impact 
the future operating results of the reporting unit. Management determined that the reporting unit was unlikely to meet pre-
viously forecasted projections for cash flows in 2014 and beyond. Increased competitive pressures resulting principally from 
reduced government spending and uncertainty around future spending had caused overall margins in the PDRI business to 
decrease. Management also lowered its previously forecasted sales to the private sector based on the current outlook and 
opportunity pipeline. 

Based on these indicators of impairment, management concluded it was likely that the carrying value of the PDRI reporting 
unit exceeded its fair value at June 30, 2014. As required, management performed a test of recoverability for the intangible 
assets of the reporting unit. On an undiscounted basis, the cash flows projected for PDRI’s current customer list did not 
exceed the carrying value of the asset at June 30, 2014. Management then performed a fair value calculation of the customer 
list asset based on estimates of future revenues and cash flows from those customers. The estimated fair value of the asset was 
$7.9 million which resulted in an impairment loss of $20.8 million. 

Management then completed an interim Step 1 impairment analysis which indicated that the estimated fair value of the 
reporting unit did not exceed the carrying value after recording the impairment for the customer list asset. Consequently, 
management then completed Step 2 of the impairment analysis which resulted in an $18.9 million goodwill impairment loss. 
Following the impairment, the remaining balance of goodwill for the PDRI reporting unit was $12.4 million. 

The impairment loss for goodwill and customer relationships does not result in a tax deduction for income tax purposes. At 
the time of the PDRI acquisition, a deferred tax liability in the amount of $14.2 million was established for the non-deductible 
amortization associated with this asset. In connection with the customer relationship impairment loss, $8.0 million of this 
deferred tax liability was reduced. The goodwill impairment is considered a permanent tax difference and as such, increased 
the Company’s effective tax rate in 2014. 

Management used the income approach (discounted cash flow model) to estimate the fair value of the reporting unit. The 
assumptions used in the income approach include revenue projections, EBITDA projections, estimated income tax rates, 
estimated capital expenditures, and an assumed discount rate based on various inputs. The assumptions which had the most 
significant effect on the determination of fair value were: 1) the projected revenues which include estimates for growth in 
future periods from expansion into other markets, 2) the projected cash flows which are driven by the revenue estimates and 
estimates of EBITDA margins in the future forecast period, and 3) the discount rate. Management, in conjunction with its 
valuation advisors, determined that due to the small size and specialized nature of the PDRI reporting unit, there was not 
sufficient comparable market data upon which to rely for purposes of establishing fair value of the reporting unit; however, 
management did consider comparable companies as a test of reasonableness for the estimate of fair value. 

Under the income approach, management used internally generated projected financial information which included rev-
enue growth rates that consider the Company’s plan for the expansion of PDRI into the private sector. The near to mid-term 
EBITDA margins were also estimated to increase nominally year-over-year from those experienced over the past six months 
during the forecast period. The assumed discount rate utilized was 14.5%. The assumed discount rate includes consideration 
for the risks associated with the revenue growth and EBITDA margin improvement assumptions in the forecast period. 

If all assumptions were held constant, a one percentage point increase in the discount rate would have resulted in an approxi-
mately $1 million decrease in the estimated fair value of the reporting unit, primarily impacting goodwill. Assessing fair value 
includes, among other things, making key assumptions for estimating future cash flows and revenues. These assumptions are 
subject to a high degree of judgment and complexity. Management seeks to estimate operating results as accurately as pos-
sible with the information available at the time the forecast is developed. However, changes in assumptions and estimates 
may affect the estimated fair value of the reporting unit and could result in an impairment in future periods. If PDRI is not 
successful in selling its services commercially, or if the US Federal government spending cuts are deeper than currently an-
ticipated, updated estimates of operating results could result in future impairment. 
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In the third quarter of 2013, the Company identified indicators of impairment for the PDRI reporting unit, including 
lower than anticipated results of operations and constrained forecasts of future operating results and rising interest rates. 
Accordingly, the Company completed an interim Step 1 impairment analysis which indicated that the estimated fair value of 
the reporting unit did not exceed the carrying value. Consequently, the Company completed Step 2 of the impairment analysis 
which resulted in a $22.6 million goodwill impairment loss.

SHL Goodwill 

The Company concluded that goodwill for the SHL reporting unit was not impaired at October 1, 2014, the date of the 
Company’s annual impairment test. The carrying value of the reporting unit was $598 million at October 1, 2014 including 
$363 million of goodwill and $242 million of amortizable intangible assets. The estimated fair value of the SHL reporting unit 
exceeded its carrying value by less than 10%. This reporting unit remains at risk for future impairment if the projected operat-
ing results are not met or other inputs into the fair value measurement change. If all assumptions were held constant, a one 
percentage point increase in the discount rate would have resulted in an approximately $29 million decrease in the estimated 
fair value of the reporting unit. A 5% decrease in the selected market multiples would have resulted in a $15 million decrease 
in the estimated fair value of the reporting unit. 

In the third quarter of 2013, the Company identified interim indicators of potential impairment for the SHL reporting unit, 
including lower revenue and EBITDA than had been anticipated at the time of the acquisition and rising interest rates. Upon 
identification of the interim impairment indicators, the Company completed Step 1 of the impairment test. The carrying value 
of the reporting unit was $600 million at September 30, 2013, including $375 million of goodwill and $269 million of amortiz-
able intangible assets. The estimated fair value of the SHL reporting unit exceeded its carrying value by approximately 1% at 
September 30, 2013 and accordingly, a goodwill impairment loss was not recorded for this reporting unit. 

The Company continues to monitor actual results versus forecasted results and external factors that may impact the en-
terprise value of the reporting unit. The reporting unit’s expenses are denominated primarily in the British Pound Sterling 
(“GBP”) while contracts with customers and revenues are in local currencies. An increase in the value of the GBP versus other 
global currencies may adversely impact operating results. Other factors that the Company is monitoring that may impact 
the fair value of the reporting unit include, but are not limited to: market comparable company multiples, interest rates, and 
global economic conditions. Through December 31, 2014, the SHL reporting unit’s operating results are in line with manage-
ment estimates. 

Note 9. Intangible Assets, Net 

Intangible assets, net at December 31, 2014 consisted of the following (in thousands): 

Gross Carrying 
Amount Impairment Loss 

Accumulated 
Amortization

Net Carrying 
Amount 

Weighted-
Average 

Amortization 
Period (in years)

Customer relationships .......... $ 202,981 $ 20,800 $ 45,116 $ 137,065 11.0

Acquired intellectual 
property ....................................  97,685 — 29,200 68,485 12.0

Trade names ...............................  62,499 —   12,547 49,952 12.3

Software ......................................  15,116 —   10,235 4,881 1.5

Total ............................................... $ 378,281 $ 20,800   $ 97,098 $ 260,383 11.3

Intangible assets, net at December 31, 2013 consisted of the following (in thousands): 

Gross Carrying 
Amount Impairment Loss 

Accumulated 
Amortization

Net Carrying 
Amount 

Weighted-
Average 

Amortization 
Period (in years)

Customer relationships .......... $ 196,296 $ — $ 29,219 $ 167,077 12.0

Acquired intellectual 
property ....................................  98,855 — 19,176 79,679 13.5

Trade names ...............................  66,048 —   7,954 58,094 13.2

Software ......................................  11,223 —   6,381 4,842 1.5

Total ............................................... $ 372,422 $ —   $ 62,730 $ 309,692 12.5
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The Company’s intangible assets for foreign subsidiaries are recorded in their functional currency, which is their local cur-
rency, and therefore are subject to foreign currency translation adjustments. 

In 2014, as part of the interim impairment test for PDRI (see Note 8), the Company completed a recoverability test related 
to the intangible assets of PDRI, which is included in the CEB segment. On an undiscounted basis, the cash flows projected 
for PDRI’s current customer list did not exceed the carrying value of the asset at the time of the interim impairment test. 
Management then performed a fair value calculation of the customer list asset based on estimates of future revenues and cash 
flows from those customers. The estimated fair value of the asset was $7.9 million, which was less than the carrying value of 
$28.7 million. As a result, the Company recorded a pre-tax impairment loss of $20.8 million in the second quarter of 2014. 
This non-cash loss did not impact the Company’s liquidity position or cash flows. 

Amortization expense was $38.9 million, $34.9 million, and $18.3 million in 2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively. Future ex-
pected amortization of intangible assets at December 31, 2014, calculated using foreign currency exchange rates in effect at 
the balance sheet date, is as follows (in thousands): 

2015 ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................... $ 34,164

2016 ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 31,017

2017 ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 27,842

2018 ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 27,374

2019 ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 20,938

Thereafter.................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 119,048

Total ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................... $ 260,383

Note 10. Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities consisted of the following (in thousands): 
December 31,

2014 2013

Accounts payable ..................................................................................................................................................... $ 6,653  $ 11,911 

Advanced membership payments received ...................................................................................................  14,785   16,039 

Other accrued liabilities..........................................................................................................................................  68,258   57,344 

 Total accounts payable and accrued liabilities ........................................................................................... $ 89,696  $ 85,294

Note 11. Other Liabilities 

Other liabilities consist of the following (in thousands):
December 31,

2014 2013

Deferred compensation .......................................................................................................................................... $ 19,145  $ 15,875 

Lease incentives ........................................................................................................................................................  39,628   33,209 

Deferred rent benefit ...............................................................................................................................................  37,104   34,596 

Deferred revenue—long term ............................................................................................................................... 13,867   13,739

Other ..............................................................................................................................................................................  13,088   18,005 

 Total other liabilities .............................................................................................................................................. $ 122,832  $ 115,424

Note 12. Senior Secured Credit Facilities

On July 2, 2012, the Company, together with certain of its subsidiaries acting as guarantors, entered into a senior secured 
credit agreement which was subsequently amended and restated on July 18, 2012, on August 1, 2012, and again on August 2, 
2013 (as amended and restated, the “Credit Agreement”). The Credit Agreement originally provided for (i) a term loan A in an 
aggregate principal amount of $275 million (the “Term Loan A Facility”), (ii) a term loan B in an aggregate principal amount 
of $250 million (the “Term Loan B Facility” and together with the Term Loan A Facility, the “Term Facilities”) and (iii) a $100 
million revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility”, and together with the Term Facilities, the “Original Senior 
Secured Credit Facilities”). The Term Loan A Facility and the Revolving Credit Facility were scheduled to mature on August 
2, 2017 and the Term Loan B Facility was scheduled to mature on August 2, 2019. 

On August 2, 2012, in connection with the closing of the SHL acquisition, the full amounts of the Term Loan A Facility and the 
Term Loan B Facility were drawn and $30 million under the Revolving Credit Facility was drawn. In addition, approximately 
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$6 million of availability under the Revolving Credit Facility was used to cover letters of credit that were issued to replace 
similar letters of credit previously issued under the Company’s prior senior unsecured credit facility which was terminated 
concurrently with the drawings under the Original Senior Secured Credit Facilities. The Company repaid $10 million of the 
principal amount outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility in December 2012 and the remaining outstanding amount 
of $20 million in January 2013. 

On August 2, 2013, the Company entered into Amendment No. 3 (the “Amendment”) to the Credit Agreement. The Amendment 
(i) replaced the existing Term Loan A Facility with new refinancing term A-1 loans (the “Refinancing Term A-1 Loans”) in 
an aggregate principal amount of $269.9 million, which was fully drawn on August 2, 2013, (ii) established a new tranche of 
incremental term A-1 loans (the “Incremental Term A-1 Loans” and together with the Refinancing Term A-1 Loans, the “Term 
A-1 Loans”) in an aggregate principal amount of $253.8 million, which was fully drawn on August 2, 2013, and (iii) increased 
the existing revolving commitments with new tranche A revolving commitments (the “Tranche A Revolving Commitments” 
and the loans thereunder, the “Tranche A Revolving Loans”) in an aggregate principal amount of $100 million for a total ag-
gregate principal amount of $200 million, none of which was drawn in connection with the closing of the Amendment. The 
Company refers to the Original Senior Secured Credit Facilities, as modified by the Amendment, as the Senior Secured Credit 
Facilities. 

Amounts drawn under the Refinancing Term A-1 Loan tranche were used to prepay and terminate the Company’s existing 
Term Loan A Facility. Amounts drawn under the Incremental Term A-1 Loan tranche were used to prepay and terminate the 
Company’s existing Term Loan B Facility and pay transaction related fees and expenses. 

The maturity date of all Term A-1 Loans is August 2, 2018. The principal amount of the Term A-1 Loans amortizes in quarterly 
installments equal to (i) for the first two years after the closing of the Amendment, approximately 2% of the original prin-
cipal amount of the Term A-1 Loans and (ii) for the next three years thereafter, approximately 4% of the original principal 
amount of the Term A-1 Loans, with the balance payable at maturity. The termination date of all revolving commitments 
under the Credit Agreement, including the new Tranche A Revolving Commitments, is August 2, 2018. The Term A-1 Loans 
and Tranche A Revolving Loans will, at the option of the Company, bear interest at the Eurodollar Rate plus 2.25% or a base 
rate plus 1.25%, as applicable, with future “step-downs” upon achievement of specified first lien net leverage ratios, which 
the Company achieved during 2014. As a result, the annual interest rate on the Term A-1 Loans was the Eurodollar Rate plus 
2.00%, or 2.17%, at December 31, 2014. 

The Credit Agreement contains customary representations and warranties, affirmative and negative covenants, and events of 
default. The Company is required to comply with a net leverage ratio covenant on a quarterly basis. Mandatory prepayments 
attributable to excess cash flows will be based on the Company’s net leverage ratio and will be determined at the end of each 
fiscal year. Pursuant to the Amendment on August 2, 2013, a net leverage ratio of 2.0x or higher will trigger mandatory pre-
payments of 25% and a net leverage ratio of 2.5x or higher will trigger mandatory prepayments of 50% of excess cash flows 
No mandatory prepayments were required for 2014. Thus, no amounts have been reclassified to current debt at December 
31, 2014. In the event actual results trigger the mandatory prepayment, such prepayment amount will be reclassified from 
long-term debt to current debt in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. The Company was in compliance with all of the 
covenants of the Credit Agreement at December 31, 2014. 

In applying debt modification accounting in 2013, the Company recorded $12.9 million in loan origination fees and deferred 
financing costs, of which $10.6 million related to investors of the Term Facilities that reinvested in the Term A-1 Loans and 
the Revolving Credit Facility and $2.3 million related to costs associated with the refinancing. These loan origination fees and 
deferred financing costs are being amortized into interest expense over the term of the Term A-1 Loans using the effective 
interest method. 

Total amortization expense of loan origination fees and deferred financing costs was $2.6 million, $2.8 million and $1.8 mil-
lion in 2014, 2013, and 2012 respectively. The Company paid interest of $15.6 million, $20.3 million and $8.4 million in 2014, 
2013, and 2012, respectively. 
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The future minimum payments for the Term A-1 Loans are as follows for the years ended December 31st (in thousands): 

2015  ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................. $ 15,750 

2016  ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 20,750 

2017  ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 20,750 

2018  ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 450,000 

2019  ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................. — 

Thereafter................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... — 

Total principal payments ...................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 507,250

Less: unamortized original issue discount..................................................................................................................................................................................... 1,694

Present value of principal payments ............................................................................................................................................................................................... 505,556

Less: current portion .............................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 15,269 

Debt—long term ...................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... $ 490,287

The Company believes the carrying value of its long term debt approximates its fair value as the terms and interest rates ap-
proximate market rates. 

Note 13. Derivative Instruments and Hedging

The Company’s international operations are subject to risks related to currency exchange fluctuations. Prices for the CEB 
segment’s products and services are denominated primarily in US dollars (“USD”); however, the Company began offering 
foreign currency billing in 2012 to certain members outside the United States. Many of the costs associated with the CEB seg-
ment operations located outside the US are denominated in local currencies. As a consequence, increases in local currencies 
against the USD in countries where the CEB segment has foreign operations would result in higher effective operating costs 
and reduced earnings. The Company uses forward currency contracts, designated as cash flow hedging instruments, to pro-
tect against foreign currency exchange rate risks. A forward currency contract locks in a current foreign currency exchange 
rate at which the foreign currency transaction will occur at the future date. 

In October 2013, the Company entered into interest rate swap arrangements with notional amounts totaling $275 million 
which amortize to $232 million through the August 2, 2018 maturity date of the Term A-1 Loans. The interest rate swap ar-
rangements effectively fix the Company’s interest payments on the hedged debt at approximately 1.34% plus the credit spread 
on the Term A-1 Loans. The arrangements, designated as cash flow hedging instruments, protect against adverse fluctuations 
in interest rates by reducing the Company’s exposure to variability in cash flows relating to interest payments on a portion of 
its outstanding debt. 

The Company formally documents all relationships between hedging instruments and hedged items as well as its risk man-
agement objective and strategy for undertaking hedge transactions. The maximum length of time over which the Company is 
hedging its exposure to the variability in future cash flows from foreign currency exchange contracts is 12 months and from 
interest rate swaps is 44 months. The forward currency contracts and interest rate swaps are recognized in the consolidated 
balance sheets at fair value. The Company’s asset and liability derivative positions are offset on a counterparty by counter-
party basis if the contractual agreement provides for the net settlement of contracts with the counterparty in the event of de-
fault or termination of any one contract. Changes in the fair value measurements of the derivative instruments are reflected as 
adjustments to other comprehensive income (“OCI”) until such time as the actual foreign currency expenditures or interest 
payments are made and the unrealized gain/loss is reclassified from accumulated OCI to current earnings. There is generally 
no or an immaterial amount of ineffectiveness. The notional amount of outstanding forward currency contracts was £0.3 mil-
lion and £11.9 million at December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively. 

In January 2015, the Company entered into forward currency contracts with notional amounts totaling AU$17.0 million, 
£16.4 million, and €14.3 million which will settle at various times through December 31, 2015, to reduce the Company’s ex-
posure to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations. These contracts have been designated as cash flow hedges of antici-
pated revenues and expenses to be recognized in the local currency and are expected to have no or an immaterial amount of 
ineffectiveness. 
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The fair value of derivative instruments in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets was as follows (in thousands):

December 31,

Balance Sheet Location 2014 2013

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments:

 Asset Derivatives

  Prepaid expenses and other current assets ...................................................................................................................................... $ — $ 761

  Other non-current assets .......................................................................................................................................................................... — 880

 Liability Derivatives   

  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities ........................................................................................................................................... 23 —

  Other liabilities .............................................................................................................................................................................................. 717 —

The pre-tax derivative instrument gains and losses recognized in OCI were as follows (in thousands):

Amount of Gain (Loss) 
Recognized in OCI  

on Derivative  
(Effective Portion)

December 31,

Derivatives in Cash Flow Hedging Relationships 2014 2013

Forward currency contracts ......................................................................................................................................................................... $ 34 $ 384

Interest rate swap arrangements ................................................................................................................................................................ (4,863) 880

The pre-tax effect of derivative instruments in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations was as follows (in 
thousands):

Amount of Gain (Loss) 
Reclassified from 

Accumulated OCI into Income 
(Effective Portion)

December 31,

Location of Gain (Loss) Reclassified from Accumulated OCI into Income (Effective Portion) 2014 2013

Cost of services ................................................................................................................................................................................................. $ 300 $ (77)

Member relations and marketing ................................................................................................................................................................ 247 (63)

General and administrative ........................................................................................................................................................................... 120 (31)

Interest expense ................................................................................................................................................................................................ (3,266) —

$ (2,599) $ (171)

Note 14. Stockholders’ Equity and Share-Based Compensation

Share-Based Compensation

Under share-based compensation plans, the Company currently has outstanding RSUs, SARs, and PSAs granted to employees 
and directors. Share-based compensation expense is recognized on a straight-line basis, net of an estimated forfeiture rate, for 
those shares expected to vest over the requisite service period of the award, which is generally the vesting term of four years. 
Forfeitures are estimated at the time of grant and adjusted, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from 
those estimates. The forfeiture rate is based on historical experience. 

The Company recognized total share-based compensation costs of $15.6 million, $12.5 million, and $9.2 million in 2014, 2013, 
and 2012, respectively. These amounts are allocated to cost of services, member relations and marketing, and general and 
administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations. The total income tax benefit for share-based com-
pensation arrangements was $6.2 million, $5.0 million, and $3.7 million in 2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively. At December 
31, 2014, $24.9 million of total estimated unrecognized share-based compensation cost is expected to be recognized over a 
weighted-average period of 3 years. 

Equity Incentive Plans

In June 2012, the Company’s stockholders approved and the Company adopted the 2012 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2012 
Plan”), which provides for the granting of stock options, SARs, restricted stock, RSUs, deferred stock units, and incentive 
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bonuses. The 2012 Plan provides for the issuance of up to 5,600,000 shares of common stock plus any shares subject to out-
standing awards under the 2004 Incentive Plan (the “2004 Plan”) that, on or after June 7, 2012, cease for any reason to be 
subject to such awards (other than by reason of exercise or settlement of the awards to the extent they are exercised for or 
settled in vested and non-forfeitable shares), up to an aggregate maximum of 11,198,113 shares. Prior to the approval of the 
2012 Plan, share based awards were issued under the 2004 plan. Upon stockholder approval of the 2012 Plan, the 2004 Plan 
was suspended and no new grants will be made under the 2004 Plan. The Company had 6.2 million shares available for is-
suance under the 2012 Plan at December 31, 2014. Each RSU and PSA grant counts 2.5 to 1 and each SAR grant counts 1 to 1 
against the shares available for issuance under the 2012 Plan. 

Restricted Stock Units

The following table summarizes the changes in RSUs: 

2014 2013 2012

Number of 
Restricted 
Stock Units

Weighted 
Average Grant 
Date Fair Value

Number of 
Restricted 
Stock Units

Weighted 
Average Grant 
Date Fair Value

Number of 
Restricted 
Stock Units

Weighted 
Average Grant 
Date Fair Value

Nonvested, beginning of year ...................... 749,955  $ 46.03 782,517 $ 33.83 826,482  $ 26.58

Granted ................................................................. 340,298   69.70 320,204 56.65 324,384 42.38

Forfeited ............................................................... (77,652)   54.57 (27,489) 45.35 (75,729) 30.39

Vested .................................................................... (295,464)   40.76 (325,277) 27.18 (292,620) 23.74

Nonvested, end of year ................................... 717,137  58.51 749,955 46.03 782,517 33.83

Performance Based Stock Awards 

The following table summarizes the changes in PSAs:  

2014 2013 2012

Number of 
Performance 

Awards

Weighted 
Average Grant 
Date Fair Value

Number of 
Performance 

Awards

Weighted 
Average Grant 
Date Fair Value

Number of 
Performance 

Awards

Weighted 
Average Grant 
Date Fair Value

Nonvested, beginning of year ...................... 60,639  $ 48.42 32,834 $ 41.87 —  $ —

Granted ................................................................. 29,873   69.44 27,805 56.15 32,834 41.87

Forfeited ............................................................... (11,909)   52.60 — — — —

Performance adjustment ................................ (915) 50.57 — — — —

Vested .................................................................... (29,700)   41.87 — — — —

Nonvested, end of year ................................... 47,988  64.48 60,639 48.42 32,834 41.87

PSAs are granted to the Company’s corporate leadership team. The ultimate number of PSAs that vest is based upon the 
achievement of specified levels of revenue and Adjusted EBITDA in the three-year periods ended December 31, 2014, 2015, 
and 2016, respectively. 

In February 2015, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the Company’s final performance measures for the three-year 
period ended December 31, 2014. As a result, on February 20, 2015, the Company released 29,700 PSAs, which vested on 
December 31, 2014. 
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Stock Appreciation Rights

The following table summarizes the changes in SARs:

2014 2013 2012

Number 
of Stock 

Appreciation 
Rights

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price

Number 
of Stock 

Appreciation 
Rights

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price

Number 
of Stock 

Appreciation 
Rights

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price

Outstanding, beginning of year ................ 587,998   $ 58.87 981,133 $ 64.53 1,118,258 $ 62.81

Granted .............................................................. —    — — — — —

Forfeited ............................................................ (850)   74.98 (221,010)   97.56 (58,375) 63.58

Exercised ........................................................... (416,394)   67.74 (172,125)   41.47 (78,750) 40.80

Outstanding, end of year ............................ 170,754   37.14 587,998   58.87 981,133 64.53

Vested or expected to vest,  
end of year ..................................................... 170,754   37.14 585,898   58.97 976,933 64.68

Exercisable, end of year............................... 170,754   37.14 572,998   59.62 951,133 65.62

The aggregate intrinsic value is calculated as the difference between the exercise price of the underlying awards and the 
quoted price of the Company’s common stock for those awards that have an exercise price currently below the closing price. 
At December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company had 170,754 and 572,998 vested SARs with an aggregate intrinsic value of $6.0 
million and $10.2 million, respectively. The total intrinsic value of SARs exercised in 2014 and 2013 was $3.5 million and $3.1 
million, respectively. 

The following table summarizes the characteristics of SARs at December 31, 2014: 

Stock Appreciation Rights Outstanding Stock Appreciation Rights Exercisable

Range of  
Exercise Prices Shares

Weighted 
Average 

Exercise Price

Weighted Average 
Remaining 
Contractual  
Life-Years Shares

Weighted 
Average 

Exercise Price

Weighted Average 
Remaining 
Contractual  
Life-Years

$30.01–$40.00 60,000   $ 30.01    2.69    60,000   $ 30.01    2.69

  40.01–50.00 110,754    41.00    0.18    110,754    41.00    0.18

$30.01–$50.00 170,754   37.14    1.07    170,754   37.14    1.07

Stock Options

The following table summarizes the changes in stock options:

2013 2012

Number of 
Options

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price
Number of 

Options

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price

Outstanding, beginning of year ...................................................................................... 153,145  $ 40.91    672,865  $ 58.79   

Granted .................................................................................................................................... —    —    —    —   

Forfeited .................................................................................................................................. —   —    (475,875)   66.97   

Exercised ................................................................................................................................. (153,145)   40.91    (43,845)   32.46   

Outstanding, end of year .................................................................................................. —  —    153,145  40.91   

Vested or expected to vest, end of year ..................................................................... —  —    153,145  40.91   

Exercisable, end of year..................................................................................................... —  —    153,145  40.91   

There were no outstanding stock options at December 31, 2014 and 2013. The total intrinsic value of stock options exercised 
in 2013 and 2012 was $2.1 million, and $0.4 million, respectively. 

Share Repurchases

In August 2011, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized a $50 million stock repurchase program for the Company’s 
common stock, which expired on December 31, 2012. In February 2013, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a $50 
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million stock repurchase program, which expired on December 31, 2014. In 2014, 2013, and 2012, the Company repurchased 
0.4 million, 0.2 million, and 0.2 million shares of its common stock, respectively, at a total cost of $30.0 million, $2.7 million, 
and $10.0 million, respectively, pursuant to publicly announced plans. The remaining repurchase activity in 2014, 2013, and 
2012 was related to common stock surrendered by employees to satisfy federal and state tax withholding obligations. 

In February 2015, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a new $100 million stock repurchase program, which is autho-
rized through December 31, 2016. Repurchases may be made through open market purchases or privately negotiated transac-
tions. The timing of repurchases and the exact number of shares of common stock to be repurchased will be determined by 
the Company’s management, in its discretion, and will depend upon market conditions and other factors. The program will 
be funded using cash on hand and cash generated from operations. 

Dividends

The Company funds its dividend payments with cash on hand and cash generated from operations. In February 2015, the 
Board of Directors declared a first quarter 2015 cash dividend of $0.375 per share. The dividend is payable on March 31, 2015 
to stockholders of record at the close of business on March 16, 2015. In 2014, the Company declared and paid quarterly cash 
dividends of $0.2625 per share for each quarter of 2014. 

Preferred Stock

The Company had 5.0 million shares of preferred stock authorized with a par value of $0.01 per share at December 31, 2014 
and 2013. No shares were issued and outstanding at December 31, 2014 and 2013.

Note 15. Restructuring Costs 

In the fourth quarter of 2014, the Company committed to a workforce reduction plan (the “2014 Plan”) as it identified areas 
where changes to structure as a result of technology investments or process improvement created redundancies. Total pretax 
restructuring charges related to the 2014 Plan are estimated to be approximately $3.3 million, consisting primarily of sever-
ance and related termination benefits, of which the Company recorded $1.8 million in the fourth quarter of 2014. The remain-
ing costs are expected to be recognized and all of the cash is expected to be paid in 2015. 

Changes to the 2014 Plan restructuring liability are, as follows (in thousands):  

December 31, 2014

Balance at beginning of the year ........................................................................................................................................................................................... $ —

 Costs incurred ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 1,830

 Cash payments ........................................................................................................................................................................................................................... —

Balance at end of the year ....................................................................................................................................................................................................... $ 1,830

Note 16. Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes consisted of the following (in thousands): 

Year Ended December 31,

 2014 2013 2012

Current tax expense
 Federal .................................................................................................................................................................. $ 48,926  $ 30,421  $ 35,279

 State and local ................................................................................................................................................... 12,300   6,901   8,062

 Foreign ................................................................................................................................................................. 846   3,411   2,685

Total current tax expense ................................................................................................................................ 62,072   40,733   46,026

Deferred tax (benefit) expense
 Federal .................................................................................................................................................................. (13,193)   425   (2,662) 

 State and local ................................................................................................................................................... (1,995)   (397)   (544) 

 Foreign ................................................................................................................................................................. (6,206)   (12,294)   (5,251) 

Total deferred tax (benefit) expense ........................................................................................................... (21,394)   (12,266)   (8,457) 

Provision for income taxes .............................................................................................................................. $ 40,678  $ 28,467  $ 37,569

In 2014, 2013, and 2012, the Company made cash payments for income taxes of $41.6 million, $43.4 million, and $36.9 million, 
respectively.  



67

The components of Income before provision for income taxes were as follows (in thousands): 

Year Ended December 31,

 2014 2013 2012

US sources ............................................................................................................................................................. $ 85,462  $ 67,248  $ 87,994

Non-US sources ................................................................................................................................................... 6,388   (6,810)   (13,374)

 Total .......................................................................................................................................................................
 $ 91,850  $ 60,438  $ 74,620

The provision for income taxes differs from the amount of income taxes determined by applying the US federal income tax 
statutory rate to income before provision for income taxes as follows: 

Year Ended December 31,

 2014 2013 2012

Statutory US federal income tax rate .......................................................................................................... 35.0%   35.0%   35.0% 

Effect of foreign tax rates ................................................................................................................................ 2.3   8.1   2.1 

State income taxes, net of US federal benefit ......................................................................................... 6.6   7.5   6.2

Goodwill impairment ......................................................................................................................................... 7.2   13.1   —  

Effect of financing .............................................................................................................................................. (6.5)   (10.4)   (2.2)

Foreign exchange differences ........................................................................................................................ (1.5)   (5.5)   (0.1) 

Change in valuation allowance ...................................................................................................................... (1.7) 4.1 —

Tax rate changes ................................................................................................................................................. — (8.3) 0.2

Disallowed expenses, including transaction costs ................................................................................. 2.2 1.9 7.1

Other ........................................................................................................................................................................ 0.7   1.6   2.0 

 Effective tax rate .............................................................................................................................................. 44.3%   47.1%   50.3% 

The Company’s effective tax rate reflects the tax benefits of certain financing activities from year to year. In addition, the 
Company released a portion of the valuation allowance in various jurisdictions and incurred a lower impairment loss from 
the prior year further reducing the Company’s overall effective tax rate. 

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities consist of the follow-
ing (in thousands): 

December 31,

 2014 2013

Deferred tax assets
 Share-based compensation .......................................................................................................................... $ 4,808  $ 7,949

 Accrued incentive compensation ............................................................................................................... 17,091   17,537

 Accruals and reserves ..................................................................................................................................... 1,759   885

 Net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards ................................................................................. 16,132   16,142

 Deferred compensation plan ....................................................................................................................... 6,550   4,748

 Deferred revenue .............................................................................................................................................. 13,954   6,649

 Operating leases and lease incentives ..................................................................................................... 25,270   22,588

 Other ..................................................................................................................................................................... —   2,491

  Total deferred tax assets ............................................................................................................................. 85,564   78,989 

 Valuation allowance ......................................................................................................................................... (10,136)   (11,463) 

  Total deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance ..................................................................... 75,428    67,526

Deferred tax liabilities
 Deferred incentive compensation .............................................................................................................. 9,165    9,635

 Depreciation ....................................................................................................................................................... 12,402    11,439

 Goodwill and intangibles ............................................................................................................................... 65,789    76,663

 Other ..................................................................................................................................................................... 2,082    557

  Total deferred tax liabilities ....................................................................................................................... 89,438   98,294

  Net deferred tax liabilities .......................................................................................................................... $ 14,010  $ 30,768

The Company’s deferred tax asset valuation allowances are primarily the result of uncertainties regarding the future realiza-
tion of recorded tax benefits on tax loss carryforwards and tax credits in various jurisdictions. Current evidence does not 
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suggest the Company will realize sufficient taxable income of the appropriate character within the carryforward period to 
allow the Company to realize these deferred tax benefits. If the Company were to identify and implement tax planning strate-
gies to recover these deferred tax assets or generate sufficient income of the appropriate character in these jurisdictions in 
the future, it could lead to the reversal of these valuation allowances and a reduction of income tax expense. 

At December 31, 2014, the Company had US net operating loss carryforwards for federal tax purposes of approximately $8.9 
million which expire, if unused, in various years from 2020 to 2031. At December 31, 2014, the Company had $11.3 million 
of non-trading losses and $2.0 million of net operating losses available for carryforward indefinitely under UK tax law. At 
December 31, 2014, the Company had other foreign net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $4.0 million, of which 
$2.1 million can be carried forward indefinitely under current local tax laws and $1.9 million will expire, if unused, years be-
ginning 2030. The Company has recorded a $1.9 million valuation allowance against the deferred tax asset related to the UK 
tax losses carryforwards at December 31, 2014. 

The Company has Washington DC tax credit carryforwards resulting in a deferred tax asset of $7.2 million at December 31, 
2014 and 2013, respectively. These credits expire in years 2015 through 2018. The Company recorded a $7.2 million valuation 
allowance related to these credit carryforwards at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. 

Undistributed earnings of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries were $59.8 million, $37.6 million, and $34.0 million at December 
31, 2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively. Those earnings are considered to be indefinitely reinvested; accordingly, no provision 
for applicable taxes has been provided thereon. Upon repatriation of those earnings, in the form of dividends or otherwise, 
the Company would be subject to both US income taxes (subject to an adjustment for foreign tax credits) and withholding 
taxes payable to the various foreign countries. Determination of the amount of unrecognized deferred US income tax liability 
is not practicable due to the complexities associated with its hypothetical calculation; however, unrecognized foreign tax 
credit carryforwards would be available to reduce some portion of the US liability. 

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending unrecognized tax benefit was as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

 2014 2013 2012

Balance at beginning of the year ................................................................................................................. $ 16,044  $ 5,074   $ 1,132  

 Additions based on tax positions related to the current year ........................................................ 805   1,686   23 

 Additions for tax positions of prior years ............................................................................................... 6,654   10,856   — 

 Positions assumed in SHL acquisition ...................................................................................................... —    —    3,999 

 Reductions for tax positions of prior years ............................................................................................ (318)   (467)   —  

 Reductions for lapse of statute of limitations ....................................................................................... (1,364)   (1,105)   (80) 

 Settlements ......................................................................................................................................................... —    —    —  

Balance at end of the year ............................................................................................................................. $ 21,821  $ 16,044  $ 5,074

The Company files income tax returns in US Federal, state, and foreign jurisdictions. With few exceptions, the Company is no 
longer subject to tax examinations in major tax jurisdictions for periods prior to 2011. If the Company was able to recognize 
the uncertain tax benefits of $21.8 million, only $18.1 million would affect the Company’s effective tax rate. Interest and penal-
ties recognized related to uncertain tax positions amounted to $0.2 million, $(0.2) million, and $0.2 million in 2014, 2013, and 
2012, respectively. Accrued interest and penalties were $1.8 million and $1.6 million at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respec-
tively, and was included in Accounts payable and accrued liabilities. The Company revised its acquisition related uncertain 
tax benefits in 2014 resulting in an increase to unrecognized tax benefits with an offsetting decrease in interest. 

At December 31, 2014, the Company had outstanding claims related to income apportionment with certain state taxing juris-
dictions that, if successful, would result in a refund of $15.5 million. Due to the uncertainty of the ability to recover the claims, 
the Company established an uncertain tax benefit of $15.5 million. The Company has prepaid certain foreign tax assessments 
which are being challenged and has established an uncertain tax benefit on those taxes. The Company believes that it is rea-
sonably possible that a decrease of up to $15.5 million in unrecognized tax benefits related to state exposures may be neces-
sary within the coming year. In addition, the Company believes that it is reasonably possible that $0.9 million of its current 
other remaining unrecognized tax benefits, each of which are individually insignificant, may be recognized by the end of 2015 
as a result of a lapse in the statute of limitations. 

The Internal Revenue Service commenced an examination of the Company’s US income tax returns for 2008 through 2010 in 
the second quarter of 2012. The examination was completed in 2013 with no material adjustments. 
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Note 17. Employee Benefit Plans

Defined Contribution 401(k) Plan

The Company sponsors a defined contribution 401(k) plan (the “Plan”). Pursuant to the Plan, all employees who have reached 
the age of 21 are eligible to participate. The Company provides a discretionary contribution equal to 50% of an employee’s 
contribution up to a maximum of 6% of base salary. The Company’s matching contribution is subject to a four-year vesting 
schedule of 25% per year beginning one year from the employee’s date of hire and an employee must be employed by the 
Company on the last day of the Plan year in order to vest in the Company’s contribution for that year. The Company’s contri-
butions to the Plan were $6.6 million, $6.4 million, and $4.5 million in 2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively. 

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Company sponsors an employee stock purchase plan (the “ESPP”) for all eligible employees. Under the ESPP, employees 
authorize payroll deductions from 1% to 10% of their eligible compensation to purchase shares of the Company’s common 
stock. The total shares of the Company’s common stock authorized for issuance under the ESPP is 1,050,000. Under the plan, 
shares of the Company’s common stock may be purchased over an offering period, typically three months, at 85% of the lower 
of the fair market value on the first or last day of the applicable offering period. In 2014, 2013, and 2012, the Company issued 
21,605 shares, 19,616 shares, and 19,420 shares of common stock, respectively, under the ESPP. At December 31, 2014, approxi-
mately 0.7 million shares were available for issuance. 

Deferred Compensation Plan

The Company has a Deferred Compensation Plan (the “Deferred Compensation Plan”) for certain employees and members 
of the Board of Directors to provide an opportunity to defer compensation on a pre-tax basis. The Deferred Compensation 
Plan provides for deferred amounts to be credited with investment returns based on investment options selected by partici-
pants from alternatives designated from time to time by the plan administrative committee. The Company invests funds suf-
ficient to pay the deferred compensation liabilities in mutual fund investments through insurance contracts in a Rabbi Trust 
to match the investment options made by participants. These investments are considered trading securities, carried at fair 
value, and included in Other assets in the consolidated balance sheets. Earnings associated with the Deferred Compensation 
Plan’s assets were $0.7 million, $2.1 million, and $1.7 million in 2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively, and are included in Interest 
income and other while offsetting changes in individual participant account balances are recorded as compensation expense 
in the consolidated statements of operations. 

The Deferred Compensation Plan also allows the Company to make discretionary contributions at any time based on indi-
vidual or overall Company performance, which may be subject to a different vesting schedule than elective deferrals, and 
provides that the Company will make up any 401(k) plan match that is not credited to the participant’s 401(k) account due to 
his or her participation in the Deferred Compensation Plan. The Company did not make any discretionary contributions to 
the Deferred Compensation Plan in 2014, 2013, or 2012. 

Note 18. Commitments and Contingencies

Operating Leases

The Company leases office facilities that expire on various dates through 2032. Generally, the leases carry renewal provisions 
and rental escalations and require the Company to pay executory costs such as taxes and insurance. 

In July 2014, the Company entered into a lease agreement (subsequently amended and restated in December 2014) to become 
the primary tenant of a new commercial building in Arlington, Virginia. The lease is for approximately 349,000 square feet and 
is estimated to commence in 2018 for a fifteen-year term. The Company currently expects to pay approximately $22 million 
per year beginning in 2018, subject to rental escalations and a pro rata share of increased operating expenses and real estate 
taxes above the base year. The new lease agreement provides the Company with various incentives, currently estimated to 
total approximately $56 million. The Company will accrue these lease incentives and recognize them on a straight-line basis 
over the term of the new Arlington, Virginia lease as a reduction of rent expense. The Company expects to account for the 
new lease as an operating lease. In January 2015 and February 2015, the Company provided $5 million in an escrow account 
and $3.6 million in the form of a letter of credit, respectively, to satisfy the security deposit requirements under this lease. 

In connection with the new lease, the lessor agreed to assume the Company’s previous obligations for one of its Arlington, 
Virginia locations. In the event the lessor fails to make required payments, as provided in the assignment agreement, the 
Company has the right to reduce its rental payments for the new lease. Based on the information available at December 31, 
2014, the lease assignment is included in the sublease receipts amounts in the table below beginning in 2018 and thereafter. 
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The Company will remain the primary obligor in case of default by the new lease lessor under this assumption. The new lease 
lessor may negotiate a sublease or settlement of the obligation it has assumed. If and when such sublease or settlement is 
negotiated, the Company would be required to recognize a loss on the sublease or settlement equal to the difference between 
the fair value of the sublease rentals (or in the event of settlement, the settlement payment) and the Company’s obligation 
under the lease. 

In September 2013, one of the subtenants of the Company’s headquarters exercised its right under the sublease to acquire ad-
ditional office space of approximately 29,000 square feet. This expansion period began in October 2014 and will co-terminate 
with the subtenants other sub-leases in January 2028. The Company will receive an additional $21.5 million over the duration 
of the sublease. 

In October 2012, the Company entered into a lease agreement for 108,800 square feet in Arlington, Virginia. This increased 
the Company’s aggregate rent expense by $2.7 million in 2013 and by $4.6 million each year thereafter through the end of the 
lease period. Total lease payments over the non-cancelable term ending on December 31, 2023, including escalations, will be 
approximately $56 million. 

In November 2012, the Company entered into an agreement to extend a current sublease for one floor of its corporate head-
quarters and sublet an additional floor beginning on January 1, 2014 for a five year period. 

Future minimum rental payments under non-cancelable operating leases (including the new Arlington, Virginia lease) and 
future minimum receipts under subleases (including the lease assignment discussed above), excluding executory costs, are as 
follows at December 31, 2014 (in thousands):

Payments Due by Period at December 31, 2014

Total YE 2015 YE 2016 YE 2017 YE 2018 YE 2019 Thereafter

Operating lease obligations ............................... $ 952,397  $ 52,613  $ 52,734   $ 50,504  $ 69,912  $ 63,877  $ 662,757 

Subleases receipts ................................................. (308,033)   (21,781)   (22,308)   (22,396)   (28,452)   (24,267)   (188,829) 

 Total net lease obligations ............................... $ 644,364  $ 30,832  $ 30,426   $ 28,108  $ 41,460  $ 39,610  $ 473,928

Rent expense, net of sublease income, was $30.5 million, $29.8 million, and $24.2 million in 2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively. 

Contingencies 

From time to time, the Company is subject to litigation related to normal business operations. The Company vigorously de-
fends itself in litigation and is not currently a party to, and the Company’s property is not subject to, any legal proceedings 
likely to materially affect the Company’s financial results. 

The Company continues to evaluate potential tax exposures relating to sales and use, payroll, income and property tax laws, 
and regulations for various states in which the Company sells or supports its goods and services. Accruals for potential con-
tingencies are recorded by the Company when it is probable that a liability has been incurred, and the liability can be rea-
sonably estimated. As additional information becomes available, changes in the estimates of the liability are reported in the 
period that those changes occur. The Company had a $4.5 million and $5.8 million liability at December 31, 2014 and 2013, 
respectively, relating to certain sales and use tax regulations for states in which the Company sells or supports its goods and 
services. 

Other

At December 31, 2014, the Company had outstanding letters of credit totaling $7.8 million to provide security deposits for cer-
tain office space leases. The letters of credit expire annually but will automatically extend for another annual term from their 
expiration dates unless the Company terminates them. To date, no amounts have been drawn on these agreements. 
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Note 19. Changes in Accumulated Elements of Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Accumulated elements of other comprehensive income (loss) (“AOCI”) is a balance sheet item in the stockholders’ equity 
section of the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. It is comprised of items that have not been recognized in earnings but 
may be recognized in earnings in the future when certain events occur. Changes in each component of AOCI in 2014 were, as 
follows (in thousands):

Cash Flow 
Hedges,

Net of Tax  

Foreign Currency
Translation

Adjustments Total

Balance, December 31, 2013 .......................................................................................... $ 909 $ 42,378 $ 43,287

 Net unrealized (losses) gains .....................................................................................  (2,897) — (1,914)

 Reclassification of losses (gains) into earnings ..................................................  1,559   — 576

 Net translation of investments in foreign operations ....................................... — (32,926) (32,926)

 Net translation of intra-entity loans ........................................................................ — (14,612) (14,612)

 Net change in Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) ..............  (1,338)   (47,538) (48,876)

Balance, December 31, 2014.......................................................................................... $ (429)  $ (5,160) $ (5,589)

The translation impact of the intra-entity loans included in AOCI relates to those intercompany loans which the Company 
deems to be of a long-term investment nature.

Note 20. Segments and Geographic Areas

Operating segments are components of an enterprise about which separate financial information is available and regularly 
evaluated by the chief operating decision maker of an enterprise. Since the acquisition of SHL, the Company has had two re-
portable segments, CEB and SHL Talent Measurement. The CEB segment, which includes the Company’s historical business 
operations prior to the acquisition of SHL, provides comprehensive data analysis, research, and advisory services that align to 
executive leadership roles and key recurring decisions. CEB’s products and services focus on several key corporate functions 
across a wide range of industries. The CEB segment also includes the operations of PDRI, a service provider of customized 
personnel assessment tools and services to various agencies of the US government and also to commercial enterprises, and 
recently-acquired Metrics That Matter and Talent Neuron. 

The SHL Talent Measurement segment, which includes the operations of SHL (other than PDRI) that the Company acquired 
on August 2, 2012, provides cloud-based solutions for talent assessment, talent development, talent strategy and analytics, 
and decision support as well as professional services that support those solutions, enabling client access to data, analytics 
and insights for assessing and managing employees and applicants. SHL Talent Measurement segment provides assessments 
that assist customers in determining potential candidates for employment and career planning, consulting services that are 
customizations to the assessments, and training services related to use of assessments. 

The Company evaluates the performance of its operating segments based on segment Adjusted revenue, segment Adjusted 
EBITDA, and segment Adjusted EBITDA margin. The Company defines segment Adjusted revenue as segment revenue 
before the impact of the reduction of SHL and Metrics That Matter revenue recognized in the post-acquisition period to 
reflect the adjustment of deferred revenue at the acquisition date to fair value (the “deferred revenue fair value adjustment”). 
The Company defines segment Adjusted EBITDA as segment net income (loss) before loss from discontinued operations, 
net of provision for income taxes; provision for income taxes; interest expense, net; gain on cost method investment; debt 
extinguishment costs; depreciation and amortization; the impact of the deferred revenue fair value adjustment; acquisition 
related costs; impairment loss; restructuring costs; share-based compensation; costs associated with exit activities; and gain 
on acquisition. Segment Adjusted EBITDA margin refers to segment Adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of segment Adjusted 
revenue. 

Management uses these non-GAAP financial measures to evaluate and compare segment operating performance. These seg-
ment non-GAAP measures may be considered in addition to results prepared in accordance with GAAP, but they should not 
be considered a substitute for, or superior to, GAAP results. 
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Information for the Company’s reportable segments was as follows (in thousands): 

Year Ended December 31,

 2014 2013 2012

Revenue           

 CEB segment ..................................................................................................................................................... $ 701,573  $ 634,302  $ 564,062 

 SHL Talent Measurement segment ............................................................................................................  207,401   185,751   58,592 

  Total revenue ................................................................................................................................................... $ 908,974  $ 820,053  $ 622,654 

Adjusted revenue            

 CEB segment ..................................................................................................................................................... $ 705,110  $ 634,302  $ 564,062

 SHL Talent Measurement segment ............................................................................................................  209,870   195,665   75,726 

  Total Adjusted revenue ................................................................................................................................ $ 914,980  $ 829,967  $ 639,788

Operating profit (loss)            

 CEB segment ..................................................................................................................................................... $ 98,108  $ 103,322  $ 97,013

 SHL Talent Measurement segment ............................................................................................................  (4,463)   (12,609)   (12,345)

  Total operating profit ................................................................................................................................... $ 93,645  $ 90,713  $ 84,668

Adjusted EBITDA           

 CEB segment ..................................................................................................................................................... $ 199,464  $ 173,537  $ 154,600

 SHL Talent Measurement segment ............................................................................................................  38,265   32,554   19,589

  Total Adjusted EBITDA ................................................................................................................................ $ 237,729  $ 206,091  $ 174,189

Adjusted EBITDA margin           

 CEB segment .....................................................................................................................................................  28.3%   27.4%   27.4%

 SHL Talent Measurement segment ............................................................................................................  18.2%   16.6%   25.9%

  Total Adjusted EBITDA margin .................................................................................................................  26.0%  24.8%  27.2%

Depreciation and amortization           

 CEB segment ..................................................................................................................................................... $ 33,707  $ 28,356  $ 24,371

 SHL Talent Measurement segment ............................................................................................................  34,579   31,731   13,487

  Total depreciation and amortization ...................................................................................................... $ 68,286  $ 60,087  $ 37,858

The table below reconciles revenue to Adjusted revenue (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

 2014 2013 2012

Revenue .................................................................................................................................................................. $ 908,974  $ 820,053  $ 622,654 

Impact of the deferred revenue fair value adjustment .........................................................................  6,006   9,914   17,134 

 Adjusted revenue .............................................................................................................................................. $ 914,980  $ 829,967  $ 639,788 

The table below reconciles Net income to Adjusted EBITDA (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

 2014 2013 2012

Net income ............................................................................................................................................................  $ 51,172   $ 31,971  $ 37,051

Provision for income taxes .............................................................................................................................. 40,678  28,467  37,569 

Interest expense, net..........................................................................................................................................  18,046   22,337   10,834 

Gain on cost method investment .................................................................................................................. (6,585)  —  —

Debt extinguishment costs .............................................................................................................................  —   6,691   — 

Depreciation and amortization ...................................................................................................................... 68,286  60,087  37,858 

Impact of the deferred revenue fair value adjustment ......................................................................... 6,006 9,914 17,134 

Acquisition related costs .................................................................................................................................. 2,964 11,477 24,529 

Impairment loss ................................................................................................................................................... 39,700 22,600 —

Restructuring costs ............................................................................................................................................ 1,830 — —

Share-based compensation ............................................................................................................................  15,632   12,547   9,214 

Adjusted EBITDA ................................................................................................................................................ $ 237,729  $ 206,091  $ 174,189 

Adjusted EBITDA Margin .................................................................................................................................  26.0%   24.8%   27.2%
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The following is a reconciliation of segment assets to total assets (in thousands):

December 31,

 2014 2013

Cash and cash equivalents        

 CEB segment ............................................................................................................................................................................................ $ 51,128  $ 69,280 

 SHL Talent Measurement segment ...................................................................................................................................................  63,806   50,274 

  Total cash and cash equivalents ..................................................................................................................................................... $ 114,934  $ 119,554 

Accounts receivable, net        

 CEB segment ............................................................................................................................................................................................ $ 221,365  $ 212,008 

 SHL Talent Measurement segment ...................................................................................................................................................  61,704   59,256 

  Total accounts receivable, net ......................................................................................................................................................... $ 283,069  $ 271,264 

Goodwill        

 CEB segment ............................................................................................................................................................................................ $ 93,223  $ 71,119 

 SHL Talent Measurement segment ...................................................................................................................................................  347,984   371,656 

  Total goodwill ......................................................................................................................................................................................... $ 441,207  $ 442,775 

Intangible assets, net        

 CEB segment ............................................................................................................................................................................................ $ 34,747  $ 42,479 

 SHL Talent Measurement segment ...................................................................................................................................................  225,636   267,213 

  Total intangible assets ........................................................................................................................................................................ $ 260,383  $ 309,692

Property and equipment, net

 CEB segment ............................................................................................................................................................................................ $ 95,552  $ 88,316

 SHL Talent Measurement segment ...................................................................................................................................................  16,972   18,538

  Total property and equipment, net ................................................................................................................................................ $ 112,524  $ 106,854 

Total assets        

 CEB segment ............................................................................................................................................................................................ $ 626,999  $ 602,471 

 SHL Talent Measurement segment ...................................................................................................................................................  730,385   781,204 

  Total assets .............................................................................................................................................................................................. $ 1,357,384  $ 1,383,675 

The Company has revenue and long-lived assets, consisting of property, plant and equipment, goodwill and intangible assets, 
net of accumulated depreciation and amortization, in the following geographic areas (in thousands): 

United States Europe Other Countries Total

2014
Revenue ............................................................................................................ $ 559,030   $ 187,274   $ 162,670   $ 908,974

Long-lived assets .......................................................................................... 210,367    594,316    9,431    814,114

2013
Revenue ............................................................................................................ $ 498,682   $ 173,060   $ 148,311   $ 820,053

Long-lived assets .......................................................................................... 190,253   661,517   7,550   859,320

2012     

Revenue ............................................................................................................ $ 408,022   $ 104,825   $ 109,807   $ 622,654

Long-lived assets .......................................................................................... 201,455    693,445    8,552    903,452

Note 21. Related Party Transaction

In 2012, the Company paid $3.0 million to the Boston Consulting Group (“BCG”), included in Acquisition related costs in 
the consolidated statements of operations associated with SHL integration support. The spouse of the Company’s CEO and 
Chairman is a senior partner and managing director of BCG. Consistent with the Company’s corporate governance policies, 
the Audit Committee reviewed and approved the retention of BCG.
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Note 22. Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)

Unaudited summarized quarterly financial data was as follows (in thousands, except per-share amounts): 

2014 Quarter Ended

March 31 June 30  September 30 December 31

Revenue ....................................................................................................... $ 209,437  $ 230,427  $ 229,008  $ 240,102

Total costs and expenses ......................................................................  190,959   239,657   190,959   193,754

Operating profit (loss) ........................................................................... 18,478   (9,230)   38,049   46,348

Income (loss) before provision for income taxes ........................ 13,042   (8,608)   39,422   47,994

Net income (loss) .....................................................................................  7,656   (6,421)   21,382   28,555

Basic earnings (loss) per share ........................................................... 0.23   (0.19)   0.63   0.85

Diluted earnings (loss) per share ....................................................... 0.22  (0.19)  0.63  0.84

2013 Quarter Ended

March 31 June 30  September 30 December 31

Revenue ....................................................................................................... $ 190,272 $ 204,610 $ 201,735 $ 223,436

Total costs and expenses ......................................................................  167,570 176,095 195,990   189,685

Operating profit ........................................................................................ 22,702 28,515 5,745   33,751

Income (loss) before provision for income taxes ........................ 17,854 22,019  (7,995) 28,560

Net income (loss) .....................................................................................  11,208 13,568 (5,383) 12,578

Basic earnings (loss) per share ........................................................... 0.34 0.41 (0.16) 0.37

Diluted earnings (loss) per share ....................................................... 0.33 0.40 (0.16) 0.37
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REPORT OF MANAGEMENT’S ASSESSMENT OF INTERNAL CONTROL  
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management is responsible for the preparation and integrity of the consolidated financial statements appearing in our Annual 
Report. The consolidated financial statements were prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States and include amounts based on management’s estimates and judgments. 

Management also is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. 
Management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 
31, 2014 based on the framework in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013 framework) issued by the Committee of 
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”). Based upon the evaluation under this framework, man-
agement concluded with reasonable assurance that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 
31, 2014. 

Our control environment is the foundation for our system of internal control over financial reporting and is reflected in our 
Code of Conduct for Officers, Directors and Employees. It sets the tone of our organization and includes factors such as in-
tegrity and ethical values. Our internal control over financial reporting is supported by formal policies and procedures that 
are reviewed, modified and improved as changes occur in business conditions and operations. 

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, which is comprised solely of outside directors, meets periodically with mem-
bers of management and the independent registered public accounting firm to review and discuss internal control over finan-
cial reporting and accounting and financial reporting matters. The independent registered public accounting firm reports to 
the Audit Committee and accordingly has full and free access to the Audit Committee at any time. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate 
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

Ernst & Young LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm that audited our financial statements included in this 
Annual Report, has issued an attestation report on the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2014. 

Thomas L. Monahan III 
Chief Executive Officer
February 27, 2015

Richard S. Lindahl
Chief Financial Officer
February 27, 2015
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REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP 
INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM  
REGARDING INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of  
The Corporate Executive Board Company 

We have audited The Corporate Executive Board Company and subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting as 
of December 31, 2014, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of 
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). The Corporate Executive 
Board Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for 
its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Report of 
Management’s Assessment of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective 
internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understand-
ing of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the 
design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we 
considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with gener-
ally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and pro-
cedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions 
and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary 
to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts 
and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the 
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or 
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate 
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

In our opinion, The Corporate Executive Board Company and subsidiaries maintained, in all material respects, effective in-
ternal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014, based on the COSO criteria. 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), 
the consolidated balance sheets of The Corporate Executive Board Company and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2014 and 
2013 and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, and cash flows and changes in stockhold-
ers’ equity for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2014 of The Corporate Executive Board Company and 
subsidiaries, and our report dated February 27, 2015 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon. 

Baltimore, Maryland 
February 27, 2015 
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REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC 
ACCOUNTING FIRM, ON THE AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of  
The Corporate Executive Board Company 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of The Corporate Executive Board Company and subsidiar-
ies as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, cash 
flows and changes in stockholders’ equity for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2014. These financial 
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 
statements based on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the fi-
nancial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and 
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that 
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial 
position of The Corporate Executive Board Company and subsidiaries at December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the consolidated 
results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2014, in confor-
mity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), 
The Corporate Executive Board Company and subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014, 
based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations 
of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) and our report dated February 27, 2015 expressed an unqualified opinion 
thereon. 

Baltimore, Maryland 
February 27, 2015 
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2014 High Low

Dividends 
Declared 
and Paid 

First Quarter $ 81.00 $ 65.14 $ 0.2625

Second Quarter 76.14 61.75 0.2625

Third Quarter 70.40 59.85 0.2625

Fourth Quarter 75.85 57.58 0.2625

2013

First Quarter $ 59.18 $ 47.77 $ 0.225

Second Quarter 63.84 54.00 0.225

Third Quarter 73.74 63.12 0.225

Fourth Quarter 78.59  69.15 0.225

Stock Performance Graph

The graph below compares the cumulative total stock holder return on the Company’s common stock for the past five years 
through December 31, 2014, with the cumulative return on the S&P North American Technology Services Index, the NASDAQ 
Global Select Market Composite Index, and the NYSE Composite Index for the same period. The Company transferred the 
listing of its common stock from NASDAQ Stock Market LLC to the New York Stock Exchange in August 2010. The graph 
assumes that $100 was invested in the Company’s common stock and in each of the other indexes on December 31, 2008, and 
that any dividends were reinvested. The comparisons in the graph below are based on historical data and are not intended to 
forecast the possible future performance of the Company’s common stock.

The Corporate Executive Board Company

S&P North American Technology Services Index

NASDAQ Global Select Market Composite Index

NYSE Composite Index
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The following table sets forth, for the 
periods indicated, the high and low sales 
prices per share of our common stock.

Stock Sales Prices 
per Share
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